
Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 1 min

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the December 5, 2023,
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Drema Smith

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470968

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     4



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the September 19, 2023,
meeting.

• Recommended motion: Approve or amend as necessary.

• Prepared by: Jim Hindle

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470969

• Staff Summary: See attached.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: none

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    5



STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTYCOMMISSIONERS MEETING        

9/19/2023 10:00 AM   
26 SOUTH B STREET, VIRGINIA CITY, NV 

_________________________________________________________ 

MEETING MINUTES 

JAY CARMONA CLAY MITCHELL LANCE GILMAN 
CHAIRMAN       VICE-CHAIRMAN     COMMISSIONER

ANNE LANGER  JIM HINDLE 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY    CLERK & TREASURER 

_________________________________________________________ 
Roll Call: √ Commission Chairman Jay Carmona, √ Commission Vice-Chair Clay Mitchell, 

× Commissioner Lance Gilman, √ District Attorney Anne Langer, √ County Manager 
Austin Osborne, √ Deputy District Attorney Keith Loomis 

□Assessor Jana Seddon
□ Justice of the Peace Eileen Herrington
√ Recorder Dru McPherson
√ Sheriff Mike Cullen
□ Comptroller Jennifer McCain
□ Business Development Manager Lara Mather
√ Community Development Director Pete Renaud
□ Community Relations Director Honey Coughlin
√ Emergency Management Director Adam Wilson
□ Fire Chief Jeremy Loncar

√ Human Resources Director Brandie Lopez
√ IT Director James Deane
√ Planning Manager Kathy Canfield
□ Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki
□ Operations and Project Manager Mike Northan
√ Senior Center Director Stacy York
√ Tourism Director Todd Tuttle
□ Other:

Total Attendance: 42 In-Person: 26 Zoom: 16 

1. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING AT 10:00 A.M.
Commission Chairman Jay Carmona called the meeting to order at 10:02 am. Commissioner
Lance Gilman was absent.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE



- 2 -

3. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

4. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
agenda for the September 19, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today's Agenda as presented. Seconded
by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.

5. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
minutes from the June 20, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the minutes from our June 20, 2023,
meeting as presented. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.

6. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval of the
minutes from the July 18, 2023, meeting.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve the minutes from our July 18, 2023,
meeting as presented. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.

7. CONSENT AGENDA FOR POSSIBLE ACTION:
I. For possible action, approval of business license first readings:

A. A&P Painting – Contractor / 10120 W. Flamingo Rd. Ste 4-264 ~ Las Vegas, NV
B. Big Iron Inc. – Contractor / 425 Western Rd. Ste # 108 ~ Reno, NV
C. Floor Tech Inc. – Contractor / 8850 Terabyte Ct. # D ~ Reno, NV
D. FW Carson Co. – Contractor / 1064 Tahoe Blvd ~ Incline Village, NV
E. Ironclad Builders LLC – Contractor / 425 Western Rd. Ste. # 108 ~  Reno, NV
F. Nicholson Roofing LLC – Contractor / 2100 Poole Way ~  Carson City, NV
G. River City Plumbing – Contractor / 1070 Marietta Way ~ Sparks, NV
H. TEDco Construction LLC – Contractor / 5514 Hurricane Ct.~ Sun Valley, NV
I. Walker Cellular Inc. – Contractor / 150 Flocchini Cir. ~ Lincoln, CA

II. Approval of claims in the amount of $5,541,501.03.

Public Comment: None 



- 3 -

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve today's Consent Agenda as presented. 
Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0. 

8. DISCUSSION ONLY (No Action - No Public Comment): Committee/Staff Reports

Sheriff Mike Cullen
• Sheriff Mike Cullen praised Joining Forces, a regional law enforcement program, and

explained its purpose and effectiveness. His office, as well as individual deputies were
honored For Outstanding Service, Deputies Jacob Smiley and Dave Ranson, and Sgt.
Chris Hamblin were noted for Increasing Pedestrian Safety: Deputy Eli Kerr was
recognized for Reducing Impaired Drivers, Speed Enforcement, Deputies Mike Simons
and Kody Halloway. For Increasing Pedestrian Safety, Sgt. Chris Hamblin and Deputies
Ranson and Smiley were named Outstanding Officers. Deputy Ranson was honored for
Outstanding Leadership and Coordination, Officer of the Year and Coordinator of the
Year and the Traffic Safety Leadership Award. Comptroller Jennifer McCain was honored
for Outstanding Grant Management.

• The Sheriff’s Office received a $10,000 equipment grant.

Community Development Director Pete Renaud 
• The department has been working with business owners about Operation Boardwalk, an

effort to improve the boardwalk on C Street, and said 70 percent of it was in poor shape.

Emergency Manager Adam Wilson 
• The Fire District and Sheriff's Office will work with Emergency Management in the

spring to hold an evacuation scenario for wildfire evacuations in the Virginia City
Highlands.

• Oct. 11 there will be an Emergency Management Planning meeting that will be available
over Zoom.

Tourism Director Todd Tuttle 
• The Camel Races sold out for shows on Saturday and Sunday, and nearly sold out on

Friday. He said the shuttle was very successful.
• Street Vibrations is Sept. 21-24, with parking on C Street limited to motorcycles only

from Sutton Street to the Firehouse Barbecue.
• The Outhouse Races are Oct. 7-8. C Street will be closed intermittently during the races,

then opened again.
• Oct. 1 is a mix and mingle at Piper's Opera house, featuring Sherry Davis speaking about

grant opportunities.

Recorder Dru McPherson 
• DOWL Engineering has taken existing mining data for the Recorder's Office, and created

a map showing patented mining claims.



- 4 -

Senior Center Director Stacy York 
• The Senior Center will host a Resource Fair at Pipers Opera House on October 4, from

noon to 6 p.m., The event will include flu and covid boosters from noon to 4 p.m.
• Flu and Covid shots will be held in Mark Twain from 9 to 11 a.m. Oct. 11, 9-11 a.m.  and

from 4 to 6 p.m. Oct. 17.
• Flu and Covid shots will be held Oct. 19 from 9 to 11 a.m. in Lockwood.
• Flu and Covid shots will be held Oct. 18 from 4:30 to 6:30 p.m. at Fire Station #72 in the

Highlands.
• Flu and Covid shots will be held at the senior center in Virginia City from 9 to 11 a.m.

Sept. 29 and 9 to 11 a.m. Oct. 25.

County Manager Austin Osborne for Public Works Director Jason Wierzbicki 
• 160 feet of culverts and a lot of shoulder work were done on Six Mile Canyon Road.
• The area along the canal in Painted Rock was mowed.
• At the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center, a storm washed out 2 feet of mud over Electric

Avenue and USA Parkway.
• Sierra Nevada Construction will be rehabilitating Electric Avenue, which will take 90

days. Tesla is paying $2.7 million for the work.
• Fire Station #72 work has commenced again and is moving forward.
• A ballfield concession stand will be repaired from storm damage.
• The new Sheriff's Station in Lockwood is being installed.
• The Lockwood Senior Center project is proceeding, as is the Virginia City Senior

Center's breezeway project.
• The B Street barn is a new project that will clean-up and stabilize the building for display

of historic vehicles. A glass garage door will be fitted so that tourists can see the historic
vehicles. It will be managed by Liberty Engine Co. #1.

County Manager Austin Osborne 
• The County Manager's office is working with the IT Department to improve the website.

Chairman Carmona for St. Mary’s Art Center Director Arika Perry 
• The Director was at an International Art Show and sold several pieces of art.
• The Godmonster movie, made in the 1970s, will be shown continuously on Oct. 14 at the

art center. Admission is free.

9. BOARD COMMENT (No Action - No Public Comment)
Commissioner Mitchell praised the Godmonster movie, and asked that residents be prepared
for a tough winter.

Commission Chairman Carmona noted the passing of former Storey County Recorder Maggie
Lowther. He also said the Highlands Volunteer Fire Department’s Spaghetti Feed was a big
success.



- 5 -

10. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and consideration of approval of
Resolution No. 23-706 recognizing and commending Storey County employees who have
served 10 to 15 years of service to the county.

Human Resources Director Brandie Lopez said that John Miller and Mike Simons had
reached the 10-year mark of service and were being honored for it. Photos were taken.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Resolution No. 23-706 recognizing and
commending Storey County employees who have 10-15 years of service to the county.
Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.

11. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Reconveyance (File no. 2023-036) of
ownership of approximately 879 linear feet of undeveloped Electric Avenue right-of-way
located north of Milan Drive on the west side of the Electric Avenue, adjacent to APN 005-
111-71, and encompasses approximately 39,027 square feet in area. The property is located
within the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center, McCarran, Storey County, Nevada. The request
includes adopting Resolution No. 23-703, a Written Offer of Reconveyance and a Deed of
Reconveyance.

Planning Manager Kathy Canfield said this is a section of the right-of-way that is 200 feet 
wide and is the widest spot. This area is comprised of the roadway shoulder, four traffic lanes 
separated by a center lane, and a significant roadside drainage ditch with a slope. Ms. 
Canfield said the applicant that owns the adjacent property requested county abandonment of 
the 200 feet, though Ms. Canfield said it would not be an abandonment, it would be a 
reconveyance. Everything has been surveyed. Staff decided that this was excess land that 
could not to be used for any public purpose. She added that the Resolution was needed before 
the land could be reconveyed. 

Ms. Canfield said this would not happen often as a 200-foot right-of-way was unusual. 

Applicant Katelyn Moore thanked the Board for their consideration. 

Public Comment: None 

Motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I, Commissioner Mitchell, hereby 
move to approve the reconveyance of ownership of approximately 879 linear feet of 
undeveloped Electric Avenue right-of-way, located north of Milan Drive on the west side of 
the Electric Avenue, adjacent to APN 005-111-71 and encompasses approximately 39,027 
square feet in area. The property is located within the Tahoe Reno Industrial Center, 



- 6 -

McCarran, Storey County, Nevada. The request includes adopting Resolution No. 23-703, a 
Written Offer of Conveyance, and a Deed of Reconveyance. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. 
Vote: Motion passed 2-0. 

12. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Consideration and possible approval for the
Clerk & Treasurer, on behalf of the First Judicial District Court of Storey County, to: 1) enter
into an agreement with Tyler Technologies Inc. for their Enterprise Jury Manager SaaS
module at a one-time installation and first year service fee of $59,175. Annual use fees for
the service will be $21,358 in fiscal year 2024-25, and $22,268 for the 2025-26 fiscal year;
and 2) accept a grant award of $29,406.82 under the Coronavirus Emergency Supplemental
Funding (CESF) Program from the Department of Public Safety Office of Criminal Justice
Administration to mitigate the current fiscal year budget impact of installation and service
fees. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0.

Clerk-Treasurer Jim Hindle and Max Cortez, Administrator for the First Judicial Court in
Carson City (speaking on Zoom), said a better way to manage jury trials was needed. He said
currently they are done by hand and spreadsheet, and the proposed system will allow us to
install a cloud-based system so clerks in Carson City can assist. Mr. Hindle said the total cost
was $59,175 and it will be a 3-year contract, with costs projected for 2024/2025 and
2025/2026. This is the same system as used in Carson City so activity will be seamless
whether the trial is in Virginia City or Carson City. He said this is two-part, an installation fee
and use fee. He said the main benefit was having access to a grant of $29,406.82 to offset the
initial costs. It will be first implemented in the First Judicial District Court, and then in the
Storey County Justice Court. The cost is not in the current budget, so it will be an
augmentation.

Ms. Cortez said the judges are in support of the system.

Mr. Hindle said there are conversations about the grant, which would come through the
Center Criminal Justice Administration of the state Department of Justice. There will be two
motions today, first for the contract and then for the grant. He also said Deputy District
Attorney Keith Loomis has added an indemnity clause to protect the county, as he has done
with previous Tyler contracts.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, authorize the Clerk/Treasurer, on behalf of the First
Judicial District Court of Storey County, to enter into a service agreement with Tyler
Technologies Inc. for use of their Enterprise Jury Manager SaaS at a first-year cost of
$59,175 and subsequent annual fees for the term of the initial agreement increasing a
maximum of 5% per annum. I also move to include a modification to the indemnity clause to
bring it in line with the other agreements we have with Tyler Technologies. As laid out by the
DA’s Office. I also authorize the Clerk & Treasurer to accept, if awarded, a grant of



- 7 -

$29,406.82 under the Coronavirus Emergency Supplemental Funding (CESF) Program from 
the Department of Public Safety Office of Criminal Justice Administration to mitigate the 
current fiscal year budget impact of installation and service fees. I make this motion 
contingent on working through all the stated issues with the DA’s Office. Seconded by: Jay 
Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0. 

13. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible approval of
Subdivision Participation and Release Form which will have the effect of releasing
Walgreens, Co. (Walgreens) from all claims against Walgreens arising out of the opioid
epidemic in Storey County. By signing the Subdivision Participation and Release Form, the
County is joining in the Settlement Agreement and Release and is entitled to the benefits and
is subject to the burdens of that Agreement. The purported amount of the settlement will be
$218,940,000.00 to be paid over 15 years of which Storey County allocation is $202,224.12.

Deputy District Attorney Loomis said this is continuation of settlements from nationwide
opioid epidemic. This and the next item are settlements. Funds are allocated to all counties
throughout the state.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Subdivision Participation and Release
Form with Walgreens and authorize the chairman to sign. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote:
Motion passed 2-0.

14. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: Discussion and possible approval of
Subdivision Participation and Release Form which will have the effect of releasing Teva, Ltd
(Teva) from all claims against Teva arising out of the opioid epidemic in Storey County. By
signing the Subdivision Participation and Release Form, the County is joining in the
Settlement Agreement and Release and is entitled to the benefits and is subject to the burdens
of that Agreement. The purported amount of the settlement will be $145,960,024.00 to be
paid over 15 years of which Storey Counties allocation is $134,816.00.

Mr. Loomis this is the subsequent settlement.

Public Comment: None

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve Subdivision Participation and Release
Form with Teva and authorize the chairman to sign. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote:
Motion passed 2-0.



- 8 -

15. DISCUSSION/FOR POSSIBLE ACTION: For consideration and possible approval of
business license second readings:

A. Ace Rental and Sales. – Contractor / 5625 Manchester Ave. ~ St. Louis, MO
B. Authentic Roofing LLC – Contractor / 1079 Spoonbill Dr. ~ Sparks, NV
C. Copper Mountain Construction LLC – Contractor / 2449 Lawry Dr.  Sparks, NV
D. Crazy Calamities LLC – General / 355 N. F St. ~ Virginia City, NV
E. New Mountain Excavating Inc. – Contractor / 7383 Windmill Dr. ~ Reno, NV
F. Structures Inc. – Contractor / 5224 E Us Hwy 50 ~ Carson City, NV.
G. Sun Source Energy LLC – Contractor / 5580 W. Flamingo Rd. #101 ~  Las Vegas, NV
H. SX VC LLC (Temp Vendor/Retail) – General / 5 N. C St. ~  Virginia City, NV
I. TDC Management LLC – Out of County / 241 Ridge St. Ste 410 ~  Reno, NV
J. TowerCo 2013, LLC – Out of County / 5000Valleystone Dr. Ste. 200 ~  Cary,  NC
K. Victory Glass, LLC – Contractor / 425 Western Rd. Ste. 109 ~ Reno, NV

Public Comment: None 

Motion: I, Commissioner Mitchell, move to approve 11 second readings of business licenses 
listed under Item #15 as A-K. Seconded by: Jay Carmona. Vote: Motion passed 2-0. 

16. PUBLIC COMMENT (No Action)

17. ADJOURNMENT OF ALL ACTIVE AND RECESSED BOARDS ON THE AGENDA
Commission Chairman Carmona adjourned the meeting at 10:57 a.m.

Respectfully submitted, 

___________________________ 
Jim Hindle 
Clerk &Treasurer 



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: For possible action, approval of business license first readings:
• A. Cooper Steel   – Contractor / 503 N. Hillcrest Dr. ~ Shelbyville, TN
• B. New Earth Concepts LLC – Out of County / 801 Belfair Ave. ~ SW Orting, WA
• C. Protective Industrial Products Inc. – General / 2625 USA Parkway Ste. 111 ~ Sparks,

NV

• Recommended motion: None required (if approved as part of the Consent Agenda) I
move to approve all first readings (if removed from consent agenda by request).

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: First readings of submitted business license applications are normally
approved on the consent agenda. The applications are then submitted at the next
Commissioner's meeting for approval.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    6 I



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office November 27, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the December 05, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

FIRST READINGS: 

A. Cooper Steel   – Contractor / 503 N. Hillcrest Dr. ~ Shelbyville, TN

B. New Earth Concepts LLC – Out of County / 801 Belfair Ave. ~ SW Orting, WA

C. Protective Industrial Products Inc. – General / 2625 USA Parkway Ste. 111 ~ Sparks, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0 min

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: Approval of claims in the amount of $4,958,759.95.

• Recommended motion: Approval of claims as submitted.

• Prepared by: Cory Y Wood

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471133

• Staff Summary: Please find attached claims.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    6 II









































Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of Resolution No. 23-715 recognizing and
commending a Storey County employee who has served 15 - 20 years of service to the
county.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve Resolution No. 23-715
recognizing and commending a Storey County employee who has served 15 - 20 years of
service to the county.

• Prepared by: Jeanne Greene

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0968

• Staff Summary: The proposed resolution recognizes and commends a Storey County
employee who has served 15 - 20 years of service to Storey County. We appreciate and
thank this employee for her service to the citizens, businesses, and stakeholders of the
county.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     8



RESOLUTION NO.  23-715

A RESOLUTION HONORING
15 OR MORE YEARS OF SERVICE

TO STOREY COUNTY

WHEREAS, the aforementioned member of the Storey County team has 
provided 15 or more years of service to the community of Storey County.

WHEREAS, the aforementioned is dedicated to her job and duties to the 
community of Storey County; and

WHEREAS, the aforementioned is gracious and giving of her time and 
expertise.

THEREFOR LET IT BE KNOWN to all, that the Board of County Commissioners 
of Storey County do hereby commend and honor the aforementioned 
member of the Storey County team for dedication and service to the people 
of Storey County, Nevada this 5th day of December, 2023.

PASSED and ADOPTED the 5th day of December, 2023, by the following:

_________________            __________________            ________________
Jay Carmona     Clay Mitchell          Lance Gilman
Chairman     Vice-Chairman          Commissioner

Attested:  ___________________________
            Jim Hindle, Clerk-Treasurer

THE FOLLOWING HAS SERVED 15 OR MORE YEARS OF SERVICE:

Jessie Fain



Board of Storey County Fire Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 15 Minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Presentation of commendation to Fire Captain Daniel St. Clair, Firefighter Derek
Giurlani, Firefighter Michael Leland, and Firefighter Jonathon Petersen for their actions
on August 13th, 2023.

• Recommended motion: No Motion Required

• Prepared by: Jeremy Loncar

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0954

• Staff Summary: In accordance with District policy, a commendation and award
nomination was submitted and presented to a committee to review for either approval and
recommendation of the appropriate level of commendation or to deny the nomination.
This committee unanimously voted to approve the commendation of the Districts "Life
Saving Medal" for their actions of rescuing a victim of a structure fire in Virginia City on
August 13th, 2023. This recommendation was then forwarded to the Fire Chief for final
approval.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: N/A

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    10













Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 20

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Presentation, consideration and possible action to adopt the Area Drainage Master
Plan for Virginia City and Six Mile Canyon. A presentation of the plan will be provided
by Lumos and Associates, in conjunction with JE Fuller and the Carson Water
Subconservancy District. To view complete copy of this plan/report including
appendixes, please email planning@storeycounty.org or call 775-847-1144 or see
storeycounty.org/Planning/Updates/Virginia City Area Drainage Master Plan.

• Link is here.
https://cms5.revize.com/revize/storeycounty/government/departments/planning/planning_
updates.php#outer-1590  Complete report is too large to attach in this packet.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to adopt the Area Drainage Master Plan
for Virginia City and Six Mile Canyon.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-1144

• Staff Summary: Storey County has worked with the Carson Water Subconservancy
District (CWSD) to develop an area master drainage plan for the portion of Virginia City
where water runoff drains to Six Mile Canyon.  CWSD received a grant from FEMA to
develop this plan and has managed the grant through their office.  Lumos and Associates
along with JE Fuller were selected to develop this plan with input from County staff and
CWSD staff.  An initial public meeting was held in June 2022 to discuss the project with
residents and get input on problem areas and a second public meeting for residents was
held in October 2023 to present the results of the plan. To see complete copy of this plan
including appendixes, please email planning@storeycounty.org or call 775-847-1144 or
at storeycounty.org/Planning/Updates/Virginia City Area Drainage Master Plan.
Complete report is too large to attach in this packet.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

     12



• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Public Hearing for the Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an
ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable
copy or variable message signs to be installed on public zoning district land and
providing for other matters properly related thereto.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to close the public hearing for the
second reading of Bill 136  Ordinance 23-324 amending provisions of Storey County
Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on
public zoning district land and providing for other matters properly related thereto.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: File No. 2023-040.  This is the Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance
23-324. See Staff Report, mark up copy and clean copy of the revisions.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

    13



1 

To: Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 South B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, 

Staff Contact:  Kathy Canfield 

File: 2023-040 

Request: Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending 
provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or 
variable message signs to be installed on Public zoning district land and 
providing for other matters properly related thereto.  

Background & Analysis 

During recent discussions involving the Storey County Master Plan update and Strategic Plan meetings with 
the various communities within Storey County, residents identified communication within Storey County as 
an issue that could be improved.  Currently, Storey County utilizes public meetings, social media, postings at 
various community gathering areas and in some cases U.S. Mail, as ways to reach out to the community to 
keep them informed of community meetings and events.  When informally polled at the meetings on how 
people best receive this type of information, there was no consensus on one type of communication that 
worked for everyone.  

One idea that was raised was to have a community message sign (changeable copy or variable message sign) 
strategically placed to allow for people driving by to see a message.  The concept was to include such a sign 
at such places like a community center or other public area so residents that may not be reached by the 
existing outreach efforts have the ability to be notified about upcoming activities that may be of interest.   

The existing Storey County sign code does not allow for such signs to be located within 2,000 feet of 
residential areas and are not permissible at all within the Comstock Historic District.  Staff have reviewed 
this code section and are proposing to allow for an exception to the 2,000 foot distance for such signs on 
Public zoned land, subject to a special use permit.  The special use permit process would allow for the 
specifics of the sign to be reviewed by interested residents along with the Planning Commission and Board 
of County Commissioners to reach an agreement on what the size, lighting and design of the sign would be. 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

This proposed modification to the sign ordinance is only proposed for Public zoned land.  Public zoned land 
is land owned by the County or another public entity (for example, the school district) as depicted on the 
Storey County zoning maps.  This proposed sign modification may not work for every community within the 
County such as Virginia City and Gold Hill where the Comstock Historic District has standards that may not 
allow for such a sign.  This sign ordinance modification provides the opportunity to allow for such a sign, and 
with the special use permit requirement, will be evaluated on a case by case basis. 

Suggested Motions 

For approval:  In accordance with the recommendation by staff and the Planning Commission, I 
(commissioner) move to approve the Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending 
provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be 
installed on Public zoning district land and providing for other matters properly related thereto.  

For denial:  Against the recommendation by staff and the Planning Commission, I (commissioner) move to 
deny Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow 
for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on Public zoning district land and providing for 
other matters properly related thereto.  



Summary 

An ordinance amending Title 17 of the Storey County Code to allow for changeable copy of 
variable message signs to be installed on land zoned as Public. 

Title 

An ordinance amending Section 17.84.080 and 17.84.110 of Title 17 of the Storey County 
Code to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on land zoned 

as Public and providing other matters properly relating thereto. 

(Additions to the code will be italicized light blue type) 

(Deletions to the code will be underlined red type) 

The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain: 

SECTION 1: Storey County Code Section 17.84.080(D) is hereby amended to provide as 
follows: 

17.84.080 General Requirements. 
All signs, whether temporary or permanent, located in any regulatory zone are regulated as 
follows: 

A. Maintenance. All signs must be maintained so that they remain free of graffiti and
cracking, separation, splitting, ripping, chipping, and fading of exposed surfaces
including, but not limited to, faces, lettering, and all structural supports (See examples
in Figure 8.1).  Signs must be maintained so that they remain safe, fully upright and
level, and firmly secured to their place of attachment. Guy wires, tie-downs, and lean-to
support apparatuses are prohibited unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of
the director that the supports are crucial to the structural integrity of the advertising
device and that design alternatives are impracticable.



Figure 8.1: The free standing signs retain their upright position with neat and professional designs. The tether at the bottom right 
sign prevents sign face swinging due to wind forces; this device exhibits an appropriate and attractive method of mitigating this 
effect.  The signs are maintained appropriately in order to preserve their structural integrity and visual appearance. 

B. Historic design. Signs located within the Comstock Historic District must comply with
applicable provisions under this chapter, section 17.12.049 and NRS 384.

C. Lighted and illuminated signs. Signs and billboards which are lighted, illuminated, or
otherwise employ the use of direct or indirect lighting, lights, or other forms of
illumination, must comply with applicable regulations set forth by this chapter, chapter
8.02 Dark skies, and NRS 384, when applicable. Lighted or illuminated signs located in
or within 2,000 feet of the Comstock Historic District or a CR, E, or R zone must be
Compact Florescent Lighting (CFL), or Light Emitting Diode (LED) type lighting. CFL
and LED light emitting devices which are made to look like incandescent light “bulbs”
are permitted to be plainly visible. No neon (see Section 17.84.090 (C) or blinking,
flashing, chasing, or motion lighting is permitted.

D. Changeable copy or variable image signs. These types of signs (as defined in Chapter
17.10) are prohibited within 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock
Historic District except when located on P – Public zoned land by a special use permit.
A special use permit is required in other zones.  A special use permit is not required for
changeable copy or variable image signs displaying only the time and temperature
when located beyond 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock Historic
District.

E. Murals. A special use permit is required for the application or placement of a mural.
Murals proposed within the Comstock Historic District must also comply with NRS
384, this chapter, and section 17.12.049 and approval from the Comstock Historic
District is required. The definition and intent of murals is provided for in Figure 8.2
below.

Chain tether 



Figure 8.2: Murals are non-commercial images such as paintings or enlarged photographs applied directly to walls, ceilings, or 
other exterior surfaces. They are typically large in size. Murals typically exhibit few or no words and are not intended to advertise 
or otherwise bring attention to any attraction. Non-commercial images, such as those illustrated above, are intended to enhance 
the beauty, highlight the social or historical character, or otherwise depict a message or theme that is common to the immediate 
community in which the mural is displayed. The themes depicted above, for example, are as follows: (top left) Ely, Nevada - 
diversity and unity of the ever-changing mining community; (bottom left) Carson City, Nevada - celebration of the history of the 
Virginia and Truckee Railroad; (right) Virginia City, Nevada – painted wall intended to continue the historic storefront façade to 
the side of a normally unattractive stucco and brick wall.   

F. Outdoor advertising adjacent to interstate/primary highways. As regulated pursuant to
NRS 410.320, outdoor advertising may not be erected or maintained within 660 feet
from the nearest edge of the right-of-way of the interstate and primary highway systems
which is visible and placed with the purpose of having its message read from the main-
traveled way of the interstate and primary highway systems, unless the exemptions
outlined in the Nevada Revised Statutes can be made.

G. Right-of-way visibility. Signs located near property lines and intersecting driveways
and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in Figure 8.3. Any sign, with exception of traffic regulatory signs
installed by a government agency, located within the vision clearance triangle must
have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a total height not
exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a safety or traffic hazard
is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or more restrictive conditions
may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements apply as follows:
1. C, CR, E, and R zones – 7 foot clearance setback;
2. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.



Figure 8.3: Setback requirements for devices installed within the Vision Clearance Triangle maintain clear visibility for 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic. In some instances more restrictive requirements may be necessary to maintain a safe travel 
environment. Regulations pertaining to the Vision Clearance Triangle are also found in section 17.12.050.  

H. Directional signs.  Directional signs may only be placed at the location where the
traveler must change direction from one public right-of-way to another in order to reach
the destination. The sign must display a directional element, such as an arrow, pointing
to the associated attraction.  Directional signs located on private property shall be
included in the calculation of the allowable sign area for the parcel on which the sign is
located.  Signs located in the right-of-way must be consistent with the requirements for
signs in rights-of-way adopted by the entity which owns the right-of-way.  Directional
signs shall meet all other requirements outlined in this Chapter.

I. Sign area shall be calculated by enclosing the extreme limits of all framing, emblem,
logo, representation, writing or other display within a single continuous perimeter
composed of squares, ovals or rectangles.



Figure 8.4.  Source:  2015 International Zoning Code. 

SECTION 2: Storey County Code Section17.84.110 is amended to provide as follows: 

Section 17.84.110 Exempt Signs. 

The following signs and devices are exempt from the provision of this chapter.  The regulations 
under chapter 17.12 General provisions apply to exempt signs. Exempt signs do not count toward 
the maximum allowed signs identified in section 17.84.100 of this chapter. All signs located 
within the Comstock Historic District must comply with the regulations under this chapter and 
NRS 384. The provisions set forth supersede this section in the event of a conflict. Any display 
or types of signs not listed in this section and not in conflict with the provisions of this chapter 
are subject to approval of the director. 

A. Signs that are displayed for public safety (e.g. fire extinguishers, exit, call 911, AED
and signs necessary for safe and orderly traffic control) are considered exempt.

B. Customary holiday decorations and signs in the nature of decorations which are
seasonal, clearly incidental, and customarily associated with any national, local, or
religious holiday and removed within 30 days of the official recognized date of the
associated holiday.  Such decorations/signs must be located so as not to impede
pedestrian or vehicular access.

C. Religious symbols located on a building or otherwise on-site which are used for
organized religious worship and related services.

D. Scoreboards related to and located within established athletic fields and arenas.
E. Commercial and non-commercial advertisement and sponsor signs which are attached

to the interior portion of fencing which surrounds a designated athletic field or arena.
Signs must not be plainly visible from any public place outside of the premises.

F. “Vacancy,” “no vacancy,” “open,” “closed,” “yes,” “no,” “full,” “sorry,” and similar
type signs associated with commercial uses provided that the area of the sign does not
exceed  2.5 square feet in area. Neon is not permitted in the Comstock Historic District.  
This sign area shall not be included in the overall sign calculations. 

G. Motor vehicle for-sale signs provided that:



1. The message of each sign is directly related to the sale of the motor vehicle on or in
which it is located;

2. There are no more than 3 signs per vehicle, including posters, stickers, and other
advertising devices allowed by this chapter;

3. The sign is attached to or located within the vehicle. Stickers may be placed directly
onto the exterior surfaces of the vehicle or its windows;

4. The sign or combination thereof does not exceed 3 square-feet in total area;
5. The vehicle is located in either an approved sales lot or on private property with the
owner’s consent; and
6. The sale of the vehicle or vehicles and location and placement thereof is

not in violation of any federal, state, or county regulations.
H. Advertising on vending machines, such as that shown in the illustration to the

right, which depicts the product contained therein.
I. Exempt flags shall be 18 square feet or less, be rectangular in shape and have

a width to length ratio between approximately 1:1.5 to 1:2.
J. House and property addresses, familial name signs, and devices that are

similar in nature and clearly do not facilitate the purpose of advertising a commercial or
non-commercial business, service, or attraction.

K. Traffic and pedestrian control and information signs which are installed by a
government agency.

L. Temporary or permanent signs erected to warn of danger or hazardous conditions so
long as the hazards may exist, including signs indicating the presence of underground
cables, gas lines, and other potentially dangerous conditions.

M. Signs associated with the national, state or local election processes shall be consistent
with the following:

1. Signs, posters and banners shall not be displayed prior to the first day allowed for
the filing of candidacies for election.

2. Signs, posters and banners may not be placed on private property without the
private property owner’s permission.

3. Unsuccessful primary candidates must remove, or cause to be removed, their signs
or posters no later than 30 days after the primary election.

4. All signs, posters and banners associated with national, state or local elections
shall be removed no later than 30 days after the general election.

5. Signs, posters and banners may not be affixed or placed on the public domain. The
public domain placement restriction does not apply to signs placed on the county-
owned property located as shown in Appendix A.  Signs located in these public
areas shown in Appendix A shall be permissible up to 32 square feet.

6. Sign, posters, and banners shall not exceed 32 square feet.  Signs, posters and/or
banners may have copy on both sides.  Only one side is counted toward the overall
allowable sign area.

7. The sign owner is responsible for knowing the location of the abutting state and
county right-of-way and for complying with state and federal regulations.

8. The county is not responsible for state right-of-way non-compliance or penalties
imposed against the sign owner for violation of those regulations.



9. There is no limit on the number of signs or posters that may be placed on a parcel.
10. Lighting installed specifically for signs, posters and banners is not allowed.
11. Signs, posters and banners located near property lines and intersecting driveways

and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in section 17.84.080.G. Any sign located within the vision clearance
triangle must have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a
total height not exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a
safety or traffic hazard is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or
more restrictive conditions may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements
apply as follows:

a. C, CR, E, and R zones - 7 foot clearance setback;
b. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.

N. Real-Estate For-Sale and open-house signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in CR, E, R, and
SPR zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones. Signs must be removed within 14 days
following the sale of the property for which the sign represents.  Commercial
advertisement signs indicating the presence or existence of a real estate office, business,
or service are not considered real estate for-sale signs and are not exempt signs
pursuant to this section.

O. Yard, rummage, and garage sale signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in area that are
removed within 12 hours after the sale and not displayed in public view before 12 hours
of the sale and are in public view for no more than 2 consecutive or non-consecutive
days within a 12 month period.

P. On-site temporary signs and banners displaying a non-commercial message related to
household or familial celebrations (e.g., “birthday,” “newborn baby,” “anniversary,”
“welcome back,” etc.).

Q. “No trespassing,” “no hunting,” “no fishing,” “no loitering,” and like signs not
exceeding 6 square-feet in C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones.

R. Signs such as building contractor signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in total area within
C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in total area in all other zones and which are
placed upon the property at which the associated project is located. These signs must be
removed within 14 days after the associated project has been completed.

S. Commemorative or historical non-advertisement plaques and tablets installed by a
government or non-profit entity.

T. One on-site barber pole of traditional design (i.e., red, white,
and/or blue rotating swirl absent of text), such as that
illustrated to the right, not exceeding 12 inches in width and 48
inches in length and directly attached to the associated building
in which the barber service is provided. The device may rotate
during the hours that the associated barber is open for business.
Lighting placed on or within the device is permitted when in
accordance with the applicable provisions of this chapter and
chapter 8.02 Dark skies.

U. Displays of string lights outside of a seasonal and/or customary
nature, local, or religious holiday, provided that:
1. They are not placed on the public domain;



2. They are decorative displays which only outline or highlight landscaping or
architectural features of a building;

3. They are steady burning, and do not blink, flash, or exhibit intermittent changes in
intensity, animation, or rotating characteristics;

4. They comply with the regulations of chapter 8.02 Dark skies;
5. They are no greater in intensity than 5 watts for each bulb, or equivalent to the lumen

intensity produced by a 5 watt incandescent bulb (approximately 73 lumens);
6. They are not placed on or used to outline any type of sign, billboard, or advertising

device or their support structures unless otherwise allowed by the provisions of this
chapter and chapter 8.02 Dark skies;

7. They are not assembled or arranged to convey messages, words, commercial
advertisements, slogans, and/or logos;

8. They are commercial grade UL Listed for long-term outdoor use and do not
otherwise create a safety hazard with respect to placement and connection to power
supply as determined by applicable codes and regulations. The power supply must
be a dedicated weather-protected and GFCI protected receptacle. The use of
extension cords shall not be permitted;

9. They are maintained and repaired so that no individual light bulb is inoperative for
more than a period of 30 consecutive days. In the event that the bulbs are not
maintained or repaired for a period exceeding 30 days, the string lights must be
removed.

10. Lighting located with the Comstock Historic District shall be consistent with the
Historic District requirements.

V. Points of entry and public interest signs. In addition to the regulations of this chapter,
non-commercial point of entry and public interest signs (See examples in Figure 8.7.)
that are owned, leased, or otherwise managed by any federal, state, or county agency, or
a political subdivision thereof (e.g., homeowner’s association or general improvement
district), are permitted provided that they comply with the regulations below and the
provisions under sections 17.84.040, and 17.84.080.  Changeable copy and variable
image signs are prohibited unless consistent with section 17.84.080(D).  Point of entry
signs installed at the entrance(s) of a planned unit development or subdivision; multi-
family dwelling complex; industrial, shopping, or other commercial center; education
facility or campus; or other building complex are permitted when they are managed and
maintained by a federal, state, or county agency, or a political subdivision thereof, or
the management of the property. All signs under this subsection are subject to approval
of the director and comply with the following regulations:
1. The sign must conform to the purpose and intent of this chapter and NRS 384, where

applicable;
2. The owner or political subdivision is responsible for sign placement, maintenance,

and compliance with all applicable regulations;
3. Encroachment permits must be obtained, where applicable;
4. The sign must have proper access and maintenance easements;
5. No more than 1 sign may be erected at any given location, with exception of 1

similar sign that may be placed at both sides of a point of entry. The maximum sign
face area, excluding supporting structures, may not exceed 32 square-feet;



6. The sign and all parts thereof must be non-commercial and relate directly to the
point of entry or public interest.



Summary 

An ordinance amending Title 17 of the Storey County Code to allow for changeable copy of 
variable message signs to be installed on land zoned as Public. 

Title 

An ordinance amending Section 17.84.080 and 17.84.110 of Title 17 of the Storey County 
Code to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on land zoned 

as Public and providing other matters properly relating thereto. 

The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain: 

SECTION 1: Storey County Code Section 17.84.080(D) is hereby amended to provide as 
follows: 

17.84.080 General Requirements. 
All signs, whether temporary or permanent, located in any regulatory zone are regulated as 
follows: 

A. Maintenance. All signs must be maintained so that they remain free of graffiti and
cracking, separation, splitting, ripping, chipping, and fading of exposed surfaces
including, but not limited to, faces, lettering, and all structural supports (See examples
in Figure 8.1).  Signs must be maintained so that they remain safe, fully upright and
level, and firmly secured to their place of attachment. Guy wires, tie-downs, and lean-to
support apparatuses are prohibited unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of
the director that the supports are crucial to the structural integrity of the advertising
device and that design alternatives are impracticable.



Figure 8.1: The free standing signs retain their upright position with neat and professional designs. The tether at the bottom right 
sign prevents sign face swinging due to wind forces; this device exhibits an appropriate and attractive method of mitigating this 
effect.  The signs are maintained appropriately in order to preserve their structural integrity and visual appearance. 

B. Historic design. Signs located within the Comstock Historic District must comply with
applicable provisions under this chapter, section 17.12.049 and NRS 384.

C. Lighted and illuminated signs. Signs and billboards which are lighted, illuminated, or
otherwise employ the use of direct or indirect lighting, lights, or other forms of
illumination, must comply with applicable regulations set forth by this chapter, chapter
8.02 Dark skies, and NRS 384, when applicable. Lighted or illuminated signs located in
or within 2,000 feet of the Comstock Historic District or a CR, E, or R zone must be
Compact Florescent Lighting (CFL), or Light Emitting Diode (LED) type lighting. CFL
and LED light emitting devices which are made to look like incandescent light “bulbs”
are permitted to be plainly visible. No neon (see Section 17.84.090 (C) or blinking,
flashing, chasing, or motion lighting is permitted.

D. Changeable copy or variable image signs. These types of signs (as defined in Chapter
17.10) are prohibited within 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock
Historic District except when located on P – Public zoned land by a special use permit.
A special use permit is required in other zones.  A special use permit is not required for
changeable copy or variable image signs displaying only the time and temperature
when located beyond 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock Historic
District.

E. Murals. A special use permit is required for the application or placement of a mural.
Murals proposed within the Comstock Historic District must also comply with NRS
384, this chapter, and section 17.12.049 and approval from the Comstock Historic
District is required. The definition and intent of murals is provided for in Figure 8.2
below.

Chain tether 



Figure 8.2: Murals are non-commercial images such as paintings or enlarged photographs applied directly to walls, ceilings, or 
other exterior surfaces. They are typically large in size. Murals typically exhibit few or no words and are not intended to advertise 
or otherwise bring attention to any attraction. Non-commercial images, such as those illustrated above, are intended to enhance 
the beauty, highlight the social or historical character, or otherwise depict a message or theme that is common to the immediate 
community in which the mural is displayed. The themes depicted above, for example, are as follows: (top left) Ely, Nevada - 
diversity and unity of the ever-changing mining community; (bottom left) Carson City, Nevada - celebration of the history of the 
Virginia and Truckee Railroad; (right) Virginia City, Nevada – painted wall intended to continue the historic storefront façade to 
the side of a normally unattractive stucco and brick wall.   

F. Outdoor advertising adjacent to interstate/primary highways. As regulated pursuant to
NRS 410.320, outdoor advertising may not be erected or maintained within 660 feet
from the nearest edge of the right-of-way of the interstate and primary highway systems
which is visible and placed with the purpose of having its message read from the main-
traveled way of the interstate and primary highway systems, unless the exemptions
outlined in the Nevada Revised Statutes can be made.

G. Right-of-way visibility. Signs located near property lines and intersecting driveways
and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in Figure 8.3. Any sign, with exception of traffic regulatory signs
installed by a government agency, located within the vision clearance triangle must
have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a total height not
exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a safety or traffic hazard
is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or more restrictive conditions
may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements apply as follows:
1. C, CR, E, and R zones – 7 foot clearance setback;
2. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.



Figure 8.3: Setback requirements for devices installed within the Vision Clearance Triangle maintain clear visibility for 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic. In some instances more restrictive requirements may be necessary to maintain a safe travel 
environment. Regulations pertaining to the Vision Clearance Triangle are also found in section 17.12.050.  

H. Directional signs.  Directional signs may only be placed at the location where the
traveler must change direction from one public right-of-way to another in order to reach
the destination. The sign must display a directional element, such as an arrow, pointing
to the associated attraction.  Directional signs located on private property shall be
included in the calculation of the allowable sign area for the parcel on which the sign is
located.  Signs located in the right-of-way must be consistent with the requirements for
signs in rights-of-way adopted by the entity which owns the right-of-way.  Directional
signs shall meet all other requirements outlined in this Chapter.

I. Sign area shall be calculated by enclosing the extreme limits of all framing, emblem,
logo, representation, writing or other display within a single continuous perimeter
composed of squares, ovals or rectangles.



Figure 8.4.  Source:  2015 International Zoning Code. 

SECTION 2: Storey County Code Section17.84.110 is amended to provide as follows: 

Section 17.84.110 Exempt Signs. 

The following signs and devices are exempt from the provision of this chapter.  The regulations 
under chapter 17.12 General provisions apply to exempt signs. Exempt signs do not count toward 
the maximum allowed signs identified in section 17.84.100 of this chapter. All signs located 
within the Comstock Historic District must comply with the regulations under this chapter and 
NRS 384. The provisions set forth supersede this section in the event of a conflict. Any display 
or types of signs not listed in this section and not in conflict with the provisions of this chapter 
are subject to approval of the director. 

A. Signs that are displayed for public safety (e.g. fire extinguishers, exit, call 911, AED
and signs necessary for safe and orderly traffic control) are considered exempt.

B. Customary holiday decorations and signs in the nature of decorations which are
seasonal, clearly incidental, and customarily associated with any national, local, or
religious holiday and removed within 30 days of the official recognized date of the
associated holiday.  Such decorations/signs must be located so as not to impede
pedestrian or vehicular access.

C. Religious symbols located on a building or otherwise on-site which are used for
organized religious worship and related services.

D. Scoreboards related to and located within established athletic fields and arenas.
E. Commercial and non-commercial advertisement and sponsor signs which are attached

to the interior portion of fencing which surrounds a designated athletic field or arena.
Signs must not be plainly visible from any public place outside of the premises.

F. “Vacancy,” “no vacancy,” “open,” “closed,” “yes,” “no,” “full,” “sorry,” and similar
type signs associated with commercial uses provided that the area of the sign does not
exceed  2.5 square feet in area. Neon is not permitted in the Comstock Historic District.  
This sign area shall not be included in the overall sign calculations. 

G. Motor vehicle for-sale signs provided that:



1. The message of each sign is directly related to the sale of the motor vehicle on or in
which it is located;

2. There are no more than 3 signs per vehicle, including posters, stickers, and other
advertising devices allowed by this chapter;

3. The sign is attached to or located within the vehicle. Stickers may be placed directly
onto the exterior surfaces of the vehicle or its windows;

4. The sign or combination thereof does not exceed 3 square-feet in total area;
5. The vehicle is located in either an approved sales lot or on private property with the
owner’s consent; and
6. The sale of the vehicle or vehicles and location and placement thereof is

not in violation of any federal, state, or county regulations.
H. Advertising on vending machines, such as that shown in the illustration to the

right, which depicts the product contained therein.
I. Exempt flags shall be 18 square feet or less, be rectangular in shape and have

a width to length ratio between approximately 1:1.5 to 1:2.
J. House and property addresses, familial name signs, and devices that are

similar in nature and clearly do not facilitate the purpose of advertising a commercial or
non-commercial business, service, or attraction.

K. Traffic and pedestrian control and information signs which are installed by a
government agency.

L. Temporary or permanent signs erected to warn of danger or hazardous conditions so
long as the hazards may exist, including signs indicating the presence of underground
cables, gas lines, and other potentially dangerous conditions.

M. Signs associated with the national, state or local election processes shall be consistent
with the following:

1. Signs, posters and banners shall not be displayed prior to the first day allowed for
the filing of candidacies for election.

2. Signs, posters and banners may not be placed on private property without the
private property owner’s permission.

3. Unsuccessful primary candidates must remove, or cause to be removed, their signs
or posters no later than 30 days after the primary election.

4. All signs, posters and banners associated with national, state or local elections
shall be removed no later than 30 days after the general election.

5. Signs, posters and banners may not be affixed or placed on the public domain. The
public domain placement restriction does not apply to signs placed on the county-
owned property located as shown in Appendix A.  Signs located in these public
areas shown in Appendix A shall be permissible up to 32 square feet.

6. Sign, posters, and banners shall not exceed 32 square feet.  Signs, posters and/or
banners may have copy on both sides.  Only one side is counted toward the overall
allowable sign area.

7. The sign owner is responsible for knowing the location of the abutting state and
county right-of-way and for complying with state and federal regulations.

8. The county is not responsible for state right-of-way non-compliance or penalties
imposed against the sign owner for violation of those regulations.



9. There is no limit on the number of signs or posters that may be placed on a parcel.
10. Lighting installed specifically for signs, posters and banners is not allowed.
11. Signs, posters and banners located near property lines and intersecting driveways

and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in section 17.84.080.G. Any sign located within the vision clearance
triangle must have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a
total height not exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a
safety or traffic hazard is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or
more restrictive conditions may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements
apply as follows:

a. C, CR, E, and R zones - 7 foot clearance setback;
b. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.

N. Real-Estate For-Sale and open-house signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in CR, E, R, and
SPR zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones. Signs must be removed within 14 days
following the sale of the property for which the sign represents.  Commercial
advertisement signs indicating the presence or existence of a real estate office, business,
or service are not considered real estate for-sale signs and are not exempt signs
pursuant to this section.

O. Yard, rummage, and garage sale signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in area that are
removed within 12 hours after the sale and not displayed in public view before 12 hours
of the sale and are in public view for no more than 2 consecutive or non-consecutive
days within a 12 month period.

P. On-site temporary signs and banners displaying a non-commercial message related to
household or familial celebrations (e.g., “birthday,” “newborn baby,” “anniversary,”
“welcome back,” etc.).

Q. “No trespassing,” “no hunting,” “no fishing,” “no loitering,” and like signs not
exceeding 6 square-feet in C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones.

R. Signs such as building contractor signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in total area within
C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in total area in all other zones and which are
placed upon the property at which the associated project is located. These signs must be
removed within 14 days after the associated project has been completed.

S. Commemorative or historical non-advertisement plaques and tablets installed by a
government or non-profit entity.

T. One on-site barber pole of traditional design (i.e., red, white,
and/or blue rotating swirl absent of text), such as that
illustrated to the right, not exceeding 12 inches in width and 48
inches in length and directly attached to the associated building
in which the barber service is provided. The device may rotate
during the hours that the associated barber is open for business.
Lighting placed on or within the device is permitted when in
accordance with the applicable provisions of this chapter and
chapter 8.02 Dark skies.

U. Displays of string lights outside of a seasonal and/or customary
nature, local, or religious holiday, provided that:
1. They are not placed on the public domain;



2. They are decorative displays which only outline or highlight landscaping or
architectural features of a building;

3. They are steady burning, and do not blink, flash, or exhibit intermittent changes in
intensity, animation, or rotating characteristics;

4. They comply with the regulations of chapter 8.02 Dark skies;
5. They are no greater in intensity than 5 watts for each bulb, or equivalent to the lumen

intensity produced by a 5 watt incandescent bulb (approximately 73 lumens);
6. They are not placed on or used to outline any type of sign, billboard, or advertising

device or their support structures unless otherwise allowed by the provisions of this
chapter and chapter 8.02 Dark skies;

7. They are not assembled or arranged to convey messages, words, commercial
advertisements, slogans, and/or logos;

8. They are commercial grade UL Listed for long-term outdoor use and do not
otherwise create a safety hazard with respect to placement and connection to power
supply as determined by applicable codes and regulations. The power supply must
be a dedicated weather-protected and GFCI protected receptacle. The use of
extension cords shall not be permitted;

9. They are maintained and repaired so that no individual light bulb is inoperative for
more than a period of 30 consecutive days. In the event that the bulbs are not
maintained or repaired for a period exceeding 30 days, the string lights must be
removed.

10. Lighting located with the Comstock Historic District shall be consistent with the
Historic District requirements.

V. Points of entry and public interest signs. In addition to the regulations of this chapter,
non-commercial point of entry and public interest signs (See examples in Figure 8.7.)
that are owned, leased, or otherwise managed by any federal, state, or county agency, or
a political subdivision thereof (e.g., homeowner’s association or general improvement
district), are permitted provided that they comply with the regulations below and the
provisions under sections 17.84.040, and 17.84.080.  Changeable copy and variable
image signs are prohibited unless consistent with section 17.84.080(D).  Point of entry
signs installed at the entrance(s) of a planned unit development or subdivision; multi-
family dwelling complex; industrial, shopping, or other commercial center; education
facility or campus; or other building complex are permitted when they are managed and
maintained by a federal, state, or county agency, or a political subdivision thereof, or
the management of the property. All signs under this subsection are subject to approval
of the director and comply with the following regulations:
1. The sign must conform to the purpose and intent of this chapter and NRS 384, where

applicable;
2. The owner or political subdivision is responsible for sign placement, maintenance,

and compliance with all applicable regulations;
3. Encroachment permits must be obtained, where applicable;
4. The sign must have proper access and maintenance easements;
5. No more than 1 sign may be erected at any given location, with exception of 1

similar sign that may be placed at both sides of a point of entry. The maximum sign
face area, excluding supporting structures, may not exceed 32 square-feet;



6. The sign and all parts thereof must be non-commercial and relate directly to the
point of entry or public interest.



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending provisions
of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs
to be installed on public zoning district land and providing for other matters properly
related thereto.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff and the
Planning Commission, I (commissioner) move to approve the second reading of
Ordinance 23-324 amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for
changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on public zoning district land
and providing for other matters properly related thereto.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: File No. 2023-040.  This is the Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance
23-324. See Staff Report, mark up copy and clean copy of the revisions.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     14



1 

To: Storey County Board of County Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 South B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, 

Staff Contact:  Kathy Canfield 

File: 2023-040 

Request: Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending 
provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or 
variable message signs to be installed on Public zoning district land and 
providing for other matters properly related thereto.  

Background & Analysis 

During recent discussions involving the Storey County Master Plan update and Strategic Plan meetings with 
the various communities within Storey County, residents identified communication within Storey County as 
an issue that could be improved.  Currently, Storey County utilizes public meetings, social media, postings at 
various community gathering areas and in some cases U.S. Mail, as ways to reach out to the community to 
keep them informed of community meetings and events.  When informally polled at the meetings on how 
people best receive this type of information, there was no consensus on one type of communication that 
worked for everyone.  

One idea that was raised was to have a community message sign (changeable copy or variable message sign) 
strategically placed to allow for people driving by to see a message.  The concept was to include such a sign 
at such places like a community center or other public area so residents that may not be reached by the 
existing outreach efforts have the ability to be notified about upcoming activities that may be of interest.   

The existing Storey County sign code does not allow for such signs to be located within 2,000 feet of 
residential areas and are not permissible at all within the Comstock Historic District.  Staff have reviewed 
this code section and are proposing to allow for an exception to the 2,000 foot distance for such signs on 
Public zoned land, subject to a special use permit.  The special use permit process would allow for the 
specifics of the sign to be reviewed by interested residents along with the Planning Commission and Board 
of County Commissioners to reach an agreement on what the size, lighting and design of the sign would be. 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

This proposed modification to the sign ordinance is only proposed for Public zoned land.  Public zoned land 
is land owned by the County or another public entity (for example, the school district) as depicted on the 
Storey County zoning maps.  This proposed sign modification may not work for every community within the 
County such as Virginia City and Gold Hill where the Comstock Historic District has standards that may not 
allow for such a sign.  This sign ordinance modification provides the opportunity to allow for such a sign, and 
with the special use permit requirement, will be evaluated on a case by case basis. 

Suggested Motions 

For approval:  In accordance with the recommendation by staff and the Planning Commission, I 
(commissioner) move to approve the Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending 
provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be 
installed on Public zoning district land and providing for other matters properly related thereto.  

For denial:  Against the recommendation by staff and the Planning Commission, I (commissioner) move to 
deny Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow 
for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on Public zoning district land and providing for 
other matters properly related thereto.  



Summary 

An ordinance amending Title 17 of the Storey County Code to allow for changeable copy of 
variable message signs to be installed on land zoned as Public. 

Title 

An ordinance amending Section 17.84.080 and 17.84.110 of Title 17 of the Storey County 
Code to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on land zoned 

as Public and providing other matters properly relating thereto. 

(Additions to the code will be italicized light blue type) 

(Deletions to the code will be underlined red type) 

The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain: 

SECTION 1: Storey County Code Section 17.84.080(D) is hereby amended to provide as 
follows: 

17.84.080 General Requirements. 
All signs, whether temporary or permanent, located in any regulatory zone are regulated as 
follows: 

A. Maintenance. All signs must be maintained so that they remain free of graffiti and
cracking, separation, splitting, ripping, chipping, and fading of exposed surfaces
including, but not limited to, faces, lettering, and all structural supports (See examples
in Figure 8.1).  Signs must be maintained so that they remain safe, fully upright and
level, and firmly secured to their place of attachment. Guy wires, tie-downs, and lean-to
support apparatuses are prohibited unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of
the director that the supports are crucial to the structural integrity of the advertising
device and that design alternatives are impracticable.



Figure 8.1: The free standing signs retain their upright position with neat and professional designs. The tether at the bottom right 
sign prevents sign face swinging due to wind forces; this device exhibits an appropriate and attractive method of mitigating this 
effect.  The signs are maintained appropriately in order to preserve their structural integrity and visual appearance. 

B. Historic design. Signs located within the Comstock Historic District must comply with
applicable provisions under this chapter, section 17.12.049 and NRS 384.

C. Lighted and illuminated signs. Signs and billboards which are lighted, illuminated, or
otherwise employ the use of direct or indirect lighting, lights, or other forms of
illumination, must comply with applicable regulations set forth by this chapter, chapter
8.02 Dark skies, and NRS 384, when applicable. Lighted or illuminated signs located in
or within 2,000 feet of the Comstock Historic District or a CR, E, or R zone must be
Compact Florescent Lighting (CFL), or Light Emitting Diode (LED) type lighting. CFL
and LED light emitting devices which are made to look like incandescent light “bulbs”
are permitted to be plainly visible. No neon (see Section 17.84.090 (C) or blinking,
flashing, chasing, or motion lighting is permitted.

D. Changeable copy or variable image signs. These types of signs (as defined in Chapter
17.10) are prohibited within 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock
Historic District except when located on P – Public zoned land by a special use permit.
A special use permit is required in other zones.  A special use permit is not required for
changeable copy or variable image signs displaying only the time and temperature
when located beyond 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock Historic
District.

E. Murals. A special use permit is required for the application or placement of a mural.
Murals proposed within the Comstock Historic District must also comply with NRS
384, this chapter, and section 17.12.049 and approval from the Comstock Historic
District is required. The definition and intent of murals is provided for in Figure 8.2
below.

Chain tether 



Figure 8.2: Murals are non-commercial images such as paintings or enlarged photographs applied directly to walls, ceilings, or 
other exterior surfaces. They are typically large in size. Murals typically exhibit few or no words and are not intended to advertise 
or otherwise bring attention to any attraction. Non-commercial images, such as those illustrated above, are intended to enhance 
the beauty, highlight the social or historical character, or otherwise depict a message or theme that is common to the immediate 
community in which the mural is displayed. The themes depicted above, for example, are as follows: (top left) Ely, Nevada - 
diversity and unity of the ever-changing mining community; (bottom left) Carson City, Nevada - celebration of the history of the 
Virginia and Truckee Railroad; (right) Virginia City, Nevada – painted wall intended to continue the historic storefront façade to 
the side of a normally unattractive stucco and brick wall.   

F. Outdoor advertising adjacent to interstate/primary highways. As regulated pursuant to
NRS 410.320, outdoor advertising may not be erected or maintained within 660 feet
from the nearest edge of the right-of-way of the interstate and primary highway systems
which is visible and placed with the purpose of having its message read from the main-
traveled way of the interstate and primary highway systems, unless the exemptions
outlined in the Nevada Revised Statutes can be made.

G. Right-of-way visibility. Signs located near property lines and intersecting driveways
and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in Figure 8.3. Any sign, with exception of traffic regulatory signs
installed by a government agency, located within the vision clearance triangle must
have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a total height not
exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a safety or traffic hazard
is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or more restrictive conditions
may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements apply as follows:
1. C, CR, E, and R zones – 7 foot clearance setback;
2. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.



Figure 8.3: Setback requirements for devices installed within the Vision Clearance Triangle maintain clear visibility for 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic. In some instances more restrictive requirements may be necessary to maintain a safe travel 
environment. Regulations pertaining to the Vision Clearance Triangle are also found in section 17.12.050.  

H. Directional signs.  Directional signs may only be placed at the location where the
traveler must change direction from one public right-of-way to another in order to reach
the destination. The sign must display a directional element, such as an arrow, pointing
to the associated attraction.  Directional signs located on private property shall be
included in the calculation of the allowable sign area for the parcel on which the sign is
located.  Signs located in the right-of-way must be consistent with the requirements for
signs in rights-of-way adopted by the entity which owns the right-of-way.  Directional
signs shall meet all other requirements outlined in this Chapter.

I. Sign area shall be calculated by enclosing the extreme limits of all framing, emblem,
logo, representation, writing or other display within a single continuous perimeter
composed of squares, ovals or rectangles.



Figure 8.4.  Source:  2015 International Zoning Code. 

SECTION 2: Storey County Code Section17.84.110 is amended to provide as follows: 

Section 17.84.110 Exempt Signs. 

The following signs and devices are exempt from the provision of this chapter.  The regulations 
under chapter 17.12 General provisions apply to exempt signs. Exempt signs do not count toward 
the maximum allowed signs identified in section 17.84.100 of this chapter. All signs located 
within the Comstock Historic District must comply with the regulations under this chapter and 
NRS 384. The provisions set forth supersede this section in the event of a conflict. Any display 
or types of signs not listed in this section and not in conflict with the provisions of this chapter 
are subject to approval of the director. 

A. Signs that are displayed for public safety (e.g. fire extinguishers, exit, call 911, AED
and signs necessary for safe and orderly traffic control) are considered exempt.

B. Customary holiday decorations and signs in the nature of decorations which are
seasonal, clearly incidental, and customarily associated with any national, local, or
religious holiday and removed within 30 days of the official recognized date of the
associated holiday.  Such decorations/signs must be located so as not to impede
pedestrian or vehicular access.

C. Religious symbols located on a building or otherwise on-site which are used for
organized religious worship and related services.

D. Scoreboards related to and located within established athletic fields and arenas.
E. Commercial and non-commercial advertisement and sponsor signs which are attached

to the interior portion of fencing which surrounds a designated athletic field or arena.
Signs must not be plainly visible from any public place outside of the premises.

F. “Vacancy,” “no vacancy,” “open,” “closed,” “yes,” “no,” “full,” “sorry,” and similar
type signs associated with commercial uses provided that the area of the sign does not
exceed  2.5 square feet in area. Neon is not permitted in the Comstock Historic District.  
This sign area shall not be included in the overall sign calculations. 

G. Motor vehicle for-sale signs provided that:



1. The message of each sign is directly related to the sale of the motor vehicle on or in
which it is located;

2. There are no more than 3 signs per vehicle, including posters, stickers, and other
advertising devices allowed by this chapter;

3. The sign is attached to or located within the vehicle. Stickers may be placed directly
onto the exterior surfaces of the vehicle or its windows;

4. The sign or combination thereof does not exceed 3 square-feet in total area;
5. The vehicle is located in either an approved sales lot or on private property with the
owner’s consent; and
6. The sale of the vehicle or vehicles and location and placement thereof is

not in violation of any federal, state, or county regulations.
H. Advertising on vending machines, such as that shown in the illustration to the

right, which depicts the product contained therein.
I. Exempt flags shall be 18 square feet or less, be rectangular in shape and have

a width to length ratio between approximately 1:1.5 to 1:2.
J. House and property addresses, familial name signs, and devices that are

similar in nature and clearly do not facilitate the purpose of advertising a commercial or
non-commercial business, service, or attraction.

K. Traffic and pedestrian control and information signs which are installed by a
government agency.

L. Temporary or permanent signs erected to warn of danger or hazardous conditions so
long as the hazards may exist, including signs indicating the presence of underground
cables, gas lines, and other potentially dangerous conditions.

M. Signs associated with the national, state or local election processes shall be consistent
with the following:

1. Signs, posters and banners shall not be displayed prior to the first day allowed for
the filing of candidacies for election.

2. Signs, posters and banners may not be placed on private property without the
private property owner’s permission.

3. Unsuccessful primary candidates must remove, or cause to be removed, their signs
or posters no later than 30 days after the primary election.

4. All signs, posters and banners associated with national, state or local elections
shall be removed no later than 30 days after the general election.

5. Signs, posters and banners may not be affixed or placed on the public domain. The
public domain placement restriction does not apply to signs placed on the county-
owned property located as shown in Appendix A.  Signs located in these public
areas shown in Appendix A shall be permissible up to 32 square feet.

6. Sign, posters, and banners shall not exceed 32 square feet.  Signs, posters and/or
banners may have copy on both sides.  Only one side is counted toward the overall
allowable sign area.

7. The sign owner is responsible for knowing the location of the abutting state and
county right-of-way and for complying with state and federal regulations.

8. The county is not responsible for state right-of-way non-compliance or penalties
imposed against the sign owner for violation of those regulations.



9. There is no limit on the number of signs or posters that may be placed on a parcel.
10. Lighting installed specifically for signs, posters and banners is not allowed.
11. Signs, posters and banners located near property lines and intersecting driveways

and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in section 17.84.080.G. Any sign located within the vision clearance
triangle must have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a
total height not exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a
safety or traffic hazard is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or
more restrictive conditions may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements
apply as follows:

a. C, CR, E, and R zones - 7 foot clearance setback;
b. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.

N. Real-Estate For-Sale and open-house signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in CR, E, R, and
SPR zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones. Signs must be removed within 14 days
following the sale of the property for which the sign represents.  Commercial
advertisement signs indicating the presence or existence of a real estate office, business,
or service are not considered real estate for-sale signs and are not exempt signs
pursuant to this section.

O. Yard, rummage, and garage sale signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in area that are
removed within 12 hours after the sale and not displayed in public view before 12 hours
of the sale and are in public view for no more than 2 consecutive or non-consecutive
days within a 12 month period.

P. On-site temporary signs and banners displaying a non-commercial message related to
household or familial celebrations (e.g., “birthday,” “newborn baby,” “anniversary,”
“welcome back,” etc.).

Q. “No trespassing,” “no hunting,” “no fishing,” “no loitering,” and like signs not
exceeding 6 square-feet in C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones.

R. Signs such as building contractor signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in total area within
C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in total area in all other zones and which are
placed upon the property at which the associated project is located. These signs must be
removed within 14 days after the associated project has been completed.

S. Commemorative or historical non-advertisement plaques and tablets installed by a
government or non-profit entity.

T. One on-site barber pole of traditional design (i.e., red, white,
and/or blue rotating swirl absent of text), such as that
illustrated to the right, not exceeding 12 inches in width and 48
inches in length and directly attached to the associated building
in which the barber service is provided. The device may rotate
during the hours that the associated barber is open for business.
Lighting placed on or within the device is permitted when in
accordance with the applicable provisions of this chapter and
chapter 8.02 Dark skies.

U. Displays of string lights outside of a seasonal and/or customary
nature, local, or religious holiday, provided that:
1. They are not placed on the public domain;



2. They are decorative displays which only outline or highlight landscaping or
architectural features of a building;

3. They are steady burning, and do not blink, flash, or exhibit intermittent changes in
intensity, animation, or rotating characteristics;

4. They comply with the regulations of chapter 8.02 Dark skies;
5. They are no greater in intensity than 5 watts for each bulb, or equivalent to the lumen

intensity produced by a 5 watt incandescent bulb (approximately 73 lumens);
6. They are not placed on or used to outline any type of sign, billboard, or advertising

device or their support structures unless otherwise allowed by the provisions of this
chapter and chapter 8.02 Dark skies;

7. They are not assembled or arranged to convey messages, words, commercial
advertisements, slogans, and/or logos;

8. They are commercial grade UL Listed for long-term outdoor use and do not
otherwise create a safety hazard with respect to placement and connection to power
supply as determined by applicable codes and regulations. The power supply must
be a dedicated weather-protected and GFCI protected receptacle. The use of
extension cords shall not be permitted;

9. They are maintained and repaired so that no individual light bulb is inoperative for
more than a period of 30 consecutive days. In the event that the bulbs are not
maintained or repaired for a period exceeding 30 days, the string lights must be
removed.

10. Lighting located with the Comstock Historic District shall be consistent with the
Historic District requirements.

V. Points of entry and public interest signs. In addition to the regulations of this chapter,
non-commercial point of entry and public interest signs (See examples in Figure 8.7.)
that are owned, leased, or otherwise managed by any federal, state, or county agency, or
a political subdivision thereof (e.g., homeowner’s association or general improvement
district), are permitted provided that they comply with the regulations below and the
provisions under sections 17.84.040, and 17.84.080.  Changeable copy and variable
image signs are prohibited unless consistent with section 17.84.080(D).  Point of entry
signs installed at the entrance(s) of a planned unit development or subdivision; multi-
family dwelling complex; industrial, shopping, or other commercial center; education
facility or campus; or other building complex are permitted when they are managed and
maintained by a federal, state, or county agency, or a political subdivision thereof, or
the management of the property. All signs under this subsection are subject to approval
of the director and comply with the following regulations:
1. The sign must conform to the purpose and intent of this chapter and NRS 384, where

applicable;
2. The owner or political subdivision is responsible for sign placement, maintenance,

and compliance with all applicable regulations;
3. Encroachment permits must be obtained, where applicable;
4. The sign must have proper access and maintenance easements;
5. No more than 1 sign may be erected at any given location, with exception of 1

similar sign that may be placed at both sides of a point of entry. The maximum sign
face area, excluding supporting structures, may not exceed 32 square-feet;



6. The sign and all parts thereof must be non-commercial and relate directly to the
point of entry or public interest.



Summary 

An ordinance amending Title 17 of the Storey County Code to allow for changeable copy of 
variable message signs to be installed on land zoned as Public. 

Title 

An ordinance amending Section 17.84.080 and 17.84.110 of Title 17 of the Storey County 
Code to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on land zoned 

as Public and providing other matters properly relating thereto. 

The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does 
ordain: 

SECTION 1: Storey County Code Section 17.84.080(D) is hereby amended to provide as 
follows: 

17.84.080 General Requirements. 
All signs, whether temporary or permanent, located in any regulatory zone are regulated as 
follows: 

A. Maintenance. All signs must be maintained so that they remain free of graffiti and
cracking, separation, splitting, ripping, chipping, and fading of exposed surfaces
including, but not limited to, faces, lettering, and all structural supports (See examples
in Figure 8.1).  Signs must be maintained so that they remain safe, fully upright and
level, and firmly secured to their place of attachment. Guy wires, tie-downs, and lean-to
support apparatuses are prohibited unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of
the director that the supports are crucial to the structural integrity of the advertising
device and that design alternatives are impracticable.



Figure 8.1: The free standing signs retain their upright position with neat and professional designs. The tether at the bottom right 
sign prevents sign face swinging due to wind forces; this device exhibits an appropriate and attractive method of mitigating this 
effect.  The signs are maintained appropriately in order to preserve their structural integrity and visual appearance. 

B. Historic design. Signs located within the Comstock Historic District must comply with
applicable provisions under this chapter, section 17.12.049 and NRS 384.

C. Lighted and illuminated signs. Signs and billboards which are lighted, illuminated, or
otherwise employ the use of direct or indirect lighting, lights, or other forms of
illumination, must comply with applicable regulations set forth by this chapter, chapter
8.02 Dark skies, and NRS 384, when applicable. Lighted or illuminated signs located in
or within 2,000 feet of the Comstock Historic District or a CR, E, or R zone must be
Compact Florescent Lighting (CFL), or Light Emitting Diode (LED) type lighting. CFL
and LED light emitting devices which are made to look like incandescent light “bulbs”
are permitted to be plainly visible. No neon (see Section 17.84.090 (C) or blinking,
flashing, chasing, or motion lighting is permitted.

D. Changeable copy or variable image signs. These types of signs (as defined in Chapter
17.10) are prohibited within 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock
Historic District except when located on P – Public zoned land by a special use permit.
A special use permit is required in other zones.  A special use permit is not required for
changeable copy or variable image signs displaying only the time and temperature
when located beyond 2,000 feet of CR, E, and R zones and the Comstock Historic
District.

E. Murals. A special use permit is required for the application or placement of a mural.
Murals proposed within the Comstock Historic District must also comply with NRS
384, this chapter, and section 17.12.049 and approval from the Comstock Historic
District is required. The definition and intent of murals is provided for in Figure 8.2
below.

Chain tether 



Figure 8.2: Murals are non-commercial images such as paintings or enlarged photographs applied directly to walls, ceilings, or 
other exterior surfaces. They are typically large in size. Murals typically exhibit few or no words and are not intended to advertise 
or otherwise bring attention to any attraction. Non-commercial images, such as those illustrated above, are intended to enhance 
the beauty, highlight the social or historical character, or otherwise depict a message or theme that is common to the immediate 
community in which the mural is displayed. The themes depicted above, for example, are as follows: (top left) Ely, Nevada - 
diversity and unity of the ever-changing mining community; (bottom left) Carson City, Nevada - celebration of the history of the 
Virginia and Truckee Railroad; (right) Virginia City, Nevada – painted wall intended to continue the historic storefront façade to 
the side of a normally unattractive stucco and brick wall.   

F. Outdoor advertising adjacent to interstate/primary highways. As regulated pursuant to
NRS 410.320, outdoor advertising may not be erected or maintained within 660 feet
from the nearest edge of the right-of-way of the interstate and primary highway systems
which is visible and placed with the purpose of having its message read from the main-
traveled way of the interstate and primary highway systems, unless the exemptions
outlined in the Nevada Revised Statutes can be made.

G. Right-of-way visibility. Signs located near property lines and intersecting driveways
and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in Figure 8.3. Any sign, with exception of traffic regulatory signs
installed by a government agency, located within the vision clearance triangle must
have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a total height not
exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a safety or traffic hazard
is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or more restrictive conditions
may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements apply as follows:
1. C, CR, E, and R zones – 7 foot clearance setback;
2. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.



Figure 8.3: Setback requirements for devices installed within the Vision Clearance Triangle maintain clear visibility for 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic. In some instances more restrictive requirements may be necessary to maintain a safe travel 
environment. Regulations pertaining to the Vision Clearance Triangle are also found in section 17.12.050.  

H. Directional signs.  Directional signs may only be placed at the location where the
traveler must change direction from one public right-of-way to another in order to reach
the destination. The sign must display a directional element, such as an arrow, pointing
to the associated attraction.  Directional signs located on private property shall be
included in the calculation of the allowable sign area for the parcel on which the sign is
located.  Signs located in the right-of-way must be consistent with the requirements for
signs in rights-of-way adopted by the entity which owns the right-of-way.  Directional
signs shall meet all other requirements outlined in this Chapter.

I. Sign area shall be calculated by enclosing the extreme limits of all framing, emblem,
logo, representation, writing or other display within a single continuous perimeter
composed of squares, ovals or rectangles.



Figure 8.4.  Source:  2015 International Zoning Code. 

SECTION 2: Storey County Code Section17.84.110 is amended to provide as follows: 

Section 17.84.110 Exempt Signs. 

The following signs and devices are exempt from the provision of this chapter.  The regulations 
under chapter 17.12 General provisions apply to exempt signs. Exempt signs do not count toward 
the maximum allowed signs identified in section 17.84.100 of this chapter. All signs located 
within the Comstock Historic District must comply with the regulations under this chapter and 
NRS 384. The provisions set forth supersede this section in the event of a conflict. Any display 
or types of signs not listed in this section and not in conflict with the provisions of this chapter 
are subject to approval of the director. 

A. Signs that are displayed for public safety (e.g. fire extinguishers, exit, call 911, AED
and signs necessary for safe and orderly traffic control) are considered exempt.

B. Customary holiday decorations and signs in the nature of decorations which are
seasonal, clearly incidental, and customarily associated with any national, local, or
religious holiday and removed within 30 days of the official recognized date of the
associated holiday.  Such decorations/signs must be located so as not to impede
pedestrian or vehicular access.

C. Religious symbols located on a building or otherwise on-site which are used for
organized religious worship and related services.

D. Scoreboards related to and located within established athletic fields and arenas.
E. Commercial and non-commercial advertisement and sponsor signs which are attached

to the interior portion of fencing which surrounds a designated athletic field or arena.
Signs must not be plainly visible from any public place outside of the premises.

F. “Vacancy,” “no vacancy,” “open,” “closed,” “yes,” “no,” “full,” “sorry,” and similar
type signs associated with commercial uses provided that the area of the sign does not
exceed  2.5 square feet in area. Neon is not permitted in the Comstock Historic District.  
This sign area shall not be included in the overall sign calculations. 

G. Motor vehicle for-sale signs provided that:



1. The message of each sign is directly related to the sale of the motor vehicle on or in
which it is located;

2. There are no more than 3 signs per vehicle, including posters, stickers, and other
advertising devices allowed by this chapter;

3. The sign is attached to or located within the vehicle. Stickers may be placed directly
onto the exterior surfaces of the vehicle or its windows;

4. The sign or combination thereof does not exceed 3 square-feet in total area;
5. The vehicle is located in either an approved sales lot or on private property with the
owner’s consent; and
6. The sale of the vehicle or vehicles and location and placement thereof is

not in violation of any federal, state, or county regulations.
H. Advertising on vending machines, such as that shown in the illustration to the

right, which depicts the product contained therein.
I. Exempt flags shall be 18 square feet or less, be rectangular in shape and have

a width to length ratio between approximately 1:1.5 to 1:2.
J. House and property addresses, familial name signs, and devices that are

similar in nature and clearly do not facilitate the purpose of advertising a commercial or
non-commercial business, service, or attraction.

K. Traffic and pedestrian control and information signs which are installed by a
government agency.

L. Temporary or permanent signs erected to warn of danger or hazardous conditions so
long as the hazards may exist, including signs indicating the presence of underground
cables, gas lines, and other potentially dangerous conditions.

M. Signs associated with the national, state or local election processes shall be consistent
with the following:

1. Signs, posters and banners shall not be displayed prior to the first day allowed for
the filing of candidacies for election.

2. Signs, posters and banners may not be placed on private property without the
private property owner’s permission.

3. Unsuccessful primary candidates must remove, or cause to be removed, their signs
or posters no later than 30 days after the primary election.

4. All signs, posters and banners associated with national, state or local elections
shall be removed no later than 30 days after the general election.

5. Signs, posters and banners may not be affixed or placed on the public domain. The
public domain placement restriction does not apply to signs placed on the county-
owned property located as shown in Appendix A.  Signs located in these public
areas shown in Appendix A shall be permissible up to 32 square feet.

6. Sign, posters, and banners shall not exceed 32 square feet.  Signs, posters and/or
banners may have copy on both sides.  Only one side is counted toward the overall
allowable sign area.

7. The sign owner is responsible for knowing the location of the abutting state and
county right-of-way and for complying with state and federal regulations.

8. The county is not responsible for state right-of-way non-compliance or penalties
imposed against the sign owner for violation of those regulations.



9. There is no limit on the number of signs or posters that may be placed on a parcel.
10. Lighting installed specifically for signs, posters and banners is not allowed.
11. Signs, posters and banners located near property lines and intersecting driveways

and public right-of-ways are allowed outside of the vision clearance triangle as
demonstrated in section 17.84.080.G. Any sign located within the vision clearance
triangle must have a base that is higher than 8 feet above street/grade level or a
total height not exceeding 3 feet above street/grade level.  In instances where a
safety or traffic hazard is identified with regard to these requirements, additional or
more restrictive conditions may be imposed. Otherwise, setback requirements
apply as follows:

a. C, CR, E, and R zones - 7 foot clearance setback;
b. All other zones – 25 foot clearance setback.

N. Real-Estate For-Sale and open-house signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in CR, E, R, and
SPR zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones. Signs must be removed within 14 days
following the sale of the property for which the sign represents.  Commercial
advertisement signs indicating the presence or existence of a real estate office, business,
or service are not considered real estate for-sale signs and are not exempt signs
pursuant to this section.

O. Yard, rummage, and garage sale signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in area that are
removed within 12 hours after the sale and not displayed in public view before 12 hours
of the sale and are in public view for no more than 2 consecutive or non-consecutive
days within a 12 month period.

P. On-site temporary signs and banners displaying a non-commercial message related to
household or familial celebrations (e.g., “birthday,” “newborn baby,” “anniversary,”
“welcome back,” etc.).

Q. “No trespassing,” “no hunting,” “no fishing,” “no loitering,” and like signs not
exceeding 6 square-feet in C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in all other zones.

R. Signs such as building contractor signs not exceeding 6 square-feet in total area within
C, CR, E, and R zones and 32 square-feet in total area in all other zones and which are
placed upon the property at which the associated project is located. These signs must be
removed within 14 days after the associated project has been completed.

S. Commemorative or historical non-advertisement plaques and tablets installed by a
government or non-profit entity.

T. One on-site barber pole of traditional design (i.e., red, white,
and/or blue rotating swirl absent of text), such as that
illustrated to the right, not exceeding 12 inches in width and 48
inches in length and directly attached to the associated building
in which the barber service is provided. The device may rotate
during the hours that the associated barber is open for business.
Lighting placed on or within the device is permitted when in
accordance with the applicable provisions of this chapter and
chapter 8.02 Dark skies.

U. Displays of string lights outside of a seasonal and/or customary
nature, local, or religious holiday, provided that:
1. They are not placed on the public domain;



2. They are decorative displays which only outline or highlight landscaping or
architectural features of a building;

3. They are steady burning, and do not blink, flash, or exhibit intermittent changes in
intensity, animation, or rotating characteristics;

4. They comply with the regulations of chapter 8.02 Dark skies;
5. They are no greater in intensity than 5 watts for each bulb, or equivalent to the lumen

intensity produced by a 5 watt incandescent bulb (approximately 73 lumens);
6. They are not placed on or used to outline any type of sign, billboard, or advertising

device or their support structures unless otherwise allowed by the provisions of this
chapter and chapter 8.02 Dark skies;

7. They are not assembled or arranged to convey messages, words, commercial
advertisements, slogans, and/or logos;

8. They are commercial grade UL Listed for long-term outdoor use and do not
otherwise create a safety hazard with respect to placement and connection to power
supply as determined by applicable codes and regulations. The power supply must
be a dedicated weather-protected and GFCI protected receptacle. The use of
extension cords shall not be permitted;

9. They are maintained and repaired so that no individual light bulb is inoperative for
more than a period of 30 consecutive days. In the event that the bulbs are not
maintained or repaired for a period exceeding 30 days, the string lights must be
removed.

10. Lighting located with the Comstock Historic District shall be consistent with the
Historic District requirements.

V. Points of entry and public interest signs. In addition to the regulations of this chapter,
non-commercial point of entry and public interest signs (See examples in Figure 8.7.)
that are owned, leased, or otherwise managed by any federal, state, or county agency, or
a political subdivision thereof (e.g., homeowner’s association or general improvement
district), are permitted provided that they comply with the regulations below and the
provisions under sections 17.84.040, and 17.84.080.  Changeable copy and variable
image signs are prohibited unless consistent with section 17.84.080(D).  Point of entry
signs installed at the entrance(s) of a planned unit development or subdivision; multi-
family dwelling complex; industrial, shopping, or other commercial center; education
facility or campus; or other building complex are permitted when they are managed and
maintained by a federal, state, or county agency, or a political subdivision thereof, or
the management of the property. All signs under this subsection are subject to approval
of the director and comply with the following regulations:
1. The sign must conform to the purpose and intent of this chapter and NRS 384, where

applicable;
2. The owner or political subdivision is responsible for sign placement, maintenance,

and compliance with all applicable regulations;
3. Encroachment permits must be obtained, where applicable;
4. The sign must have proper access and maintenance easements;
5. No more than 1 sign may be erected at any given location, with exception of 1

similar sign that may be placed at both sides of a point of entry. The maximum sign
face area, excluding supporting structures, may not exceed 32 square-feet;



6. The sign and all parts thereof must be non-commercial and relate directly to the
point of entry or public interest.



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Public Hearing on proposed Resolutions 23-707, and 23-708 and 23-709 as
described: RESOLUTION 23-707, which proposes identification of Old Stagecoach;
Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 segments; commonly known as Old Stagecoach;
road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width:
Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length
500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14)
feet.  It is proposed that the road be identified as a minor county road.   RESOLUTION
23-708 which proposes the identification of Storey County Road Number 910405,
commonly known as Unnamed, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall
Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet.  It is proposed that the road
be identified as a minor county road.  RESOLUTION 23-709 which proposes the
identification of Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as Unnamed,
road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width:
Approximately fourteen (14) feet. It is proposed that the road be identified as a minor
county road.

• The effect of identifying a road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road,
available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by
motorists at their own risk.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to close the public hearing on the
proposed Resolutions 23-707, 23-708 and 23-709.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: A public hearing is required to consider public input on proposed
Resolutions 23-707 and Resolution 23-708 and 23-709 to consider establishing minor
county roads identified as County Road Numbers 920390 and 910405 and 910395, as
minor county roads per Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

    16



• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-707 establishing a minor county public road identified as Old 
Stagecoach, County Road Number 920390 (2 segments), pursuant to Nevada 
Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    

Location: The road segments are located in the vicinity of the Geiger Grade summit, 
south of Highway 341 and east of the Storey County/Washoe County line in 
Storey County on Assessor’s Parcel Numbers (APN) 004-261-01 and 004-261-
02. The roadway segments are 1.1 miles and 500-feet in length on land
managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  A small portion of the roadway
crosses APN 003-412-13 which is privately owned and is not subject to this
Resolution.

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 
use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

Old Stagecoach County Road Number 920390 (2 segments) 

The roadway begins at the Storey County/Washoe County line, south of the Geiger Grade summit.  The 
segment located on APN 004-261-01 is approximately 1.1 mile in length and the second segment is 
approximately 500-feet in length.  Both segments are located on land managed by the Bureau of Land 
Management.  There is one small segment of land that crosses onto private property and that segment is 
not a part of this resolution.  The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a 
public road, available for public use but that it is not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by 
motorists at their own risk. 

Attached to this staff report is a legal description of Old Stagecoach, County Road Number 920390, which 
includes maps and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution establishing the roadway on public land as a 
minor public road is also attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the 
proposed Resolution. 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


3 

Red line indicates approximate location of the roadway segments 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
707 establishing a minor county public road identified as Old Stagecoach, County Road Number 920390, 
pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: OLD STAGECOACH 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 920390 

Segment 1 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.342684 N, -119.656633 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.350061 N, -119.668115 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 7  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):5,793’ (1.1
 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: OLD STAGECOACH 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 920390 

Segment 2 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.349169 N, -119.668128 W 
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 7 
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.348183 N, -119.668144 W 
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 7  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):500’ (0.09 
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR 341

17N 21E

17

0807

18

18

18

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 















17N 21E

Virginia City 1952
N3915-W11930/15AMS 2062 I-SERIES V796

2 10/21/1976
BLM3 10/21/1976

BLM

SENE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

5 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD02

6 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

7 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

10 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

9 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

SWNE 10/21/1976
BLM

NESE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

4 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RRSWSE 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR
SWSW 9/30/1957

NVN0043294FD01

NWSE 10/21/1976
BLM

NWNE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NENE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

7 10/21/1976
BLM6 10/21/1976

BLM

4 10/21/1976
BLM

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

3 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

2 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

SESW 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SENW 10/21/1976
BLM

NESW 10/21/1976
BLM

NENW 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

08
07

17
18

18

920390  OLD STAGECOACH

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.25 0.5 0.75 10.125
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



RESOLUTION 23-707 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS OLD 
STAGECOACH, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 920390 (2 SEGMENTS), PURSUANT TO 
NEVADA REVISED STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on December 5, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old 

Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed 

Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 

feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as a minor 

county road; and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 

920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 

5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and 

Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed 



Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, has been: 

(a) established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior to the October 21,

1976 repeal of R.S. 2477; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), 

commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), 

Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 

2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately

fourteen (14) feet as a minor county road as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies

only to the segments of the road that traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management,

United States Department of the Interior, and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse

land owned by any other person or entity; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the minor county road Storey 

County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), 

road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately 

fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) 

Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more fully described in the 

attached Exhibit 1, shall be represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as a minor road; 

and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating county 

minor road, Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old Stagecoach 

(Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet 

(0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County Board of 

Highway Commissioners, the Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the county minor road, Storey County Road 

Number 920390 (2 Segments) commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment 

length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; 

and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average 

Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more as fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, 

as a minor county road and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no 

maintenance is required on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance 

schedule by the Storey County Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be 



necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, 

common name or any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public 

Works Department may be placed on the county minor road, Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 

Segments) commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 

Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach 

(Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet more; commonly known as Old Stagecoach; as more fully described 

in the attached Exhibit 1. 

This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-708 establishing a minor county public road identified as 
Unnamed County Road Number 910405, pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 
403.170 and 405.191.    

Location: The road is located south of Dry Gulch Road and Fandango Pass Road and 
west of Geiger Grade Road, all within Assessor’s Parcel Number 004-261-02.  
The roadway segment is approximately 1.83 miles and is entirely on land 
managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The Highland Ranches 
subdivision (10 acres) is to the north and the Virginia Ranches subdivision (40 
acres) is to the east.   

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

Unnamed County Road Number 910405 

The roadway begins near the Storey County/Washoe County line, south of Dry Gulch Road and Fandango 
Pass Road and west of Geiger Grade Road.  The segment is located on APN 004-261-02 is approximately 
1.83 miles, located on land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The effect of identifying the 
road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not 
maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Attached to this staff report is a legal description of the Unnamed County Road Number 910405, which 
includes maps and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution establishing the roadway on public land as a 
minor public road is also attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the 
proposed Resolution. 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


3 

Red line indicates approximate location of the roadway 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
708 establishing a minor county public road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910405, 
pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910405 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.341387 N, -119.644103 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.337515 N, -119.656406 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):9,668’ (1.83 Miles)
Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR 341

17N 21E

17

08

20

16

07

19 21

09

18

18

18

18

92 03 90

920020

91
03

90

910395

92
00

35

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 











17N 21E
Virginia City 1967

AMS2062 I SW-SERIES V896

7 10/21/1976
BLM6 10/21/1976

BLM

3 10/21/1976
BLM

2 10/21/1976
BLM

11 10/21/1976
BLM

10 10/21/1976
BLM

12 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

14 10/21/1976
BLM

4 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

9 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

15 10/21/1976
BLM13 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

16 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

1 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

17 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

8 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWSW 2/9/1874
701

SWNW 2/9/1874
701

NWSW 2/9/1874
701

NWNW 2/9/1874
701

17 16

18

18

910405 Unnamed Road

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.80.1
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



RESOLUTION 23-708 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
UNNAMED, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910405, PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED 
STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on December 5, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, 

as a minor county road; and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 

910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, has been: (a) established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior 

to the October 21, 1976 repeal of R.S. 2477; and 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly 

known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed 

Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies 

only to the segments of the road that traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, 

United States Department of the Interior, and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse 

land owned by any other person or entity; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that minor county road, Storey 

County Road Number 910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet 

(1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as 

a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating minor 

county road, Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as 

more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County 

Board of Highway Commissioners, the Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County 

Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the minor road, Storey County Road Number 

910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, as a minor county road and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no maintenance is required 

on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance schedule by the Storey County 

Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, common name or 

any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public Works Department 

may be placed on the minor road, Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as 

UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet; as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 



This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-709 establishing a minor county public road identified as 
Unnamed County Road Number 910395, pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 
403.170 and 405.191.    

Location: The road is located south of Seven Mile Canyon and west of Geiger Grade 
Road, all within Assessor’s Parcel Number 004-261-02.  The roadway segment 
is approximately 1,541 linear feet (0.29 miles) and is entirely on land managed 
by the Bureau of Land Management.   

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 
use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

Unnamed County Road Number 910395 

The roadway intersects with Unnamed Roadway 910395, south of Seven Mile Canyon and west of Geiger 
Grade Road.  It is located entirely on APN 004-261-02 and is approximately 1,541 linear feet (0.29 miles), 
located on land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The effect of identifying the road as a 
minor county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not maintained by 
Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Attached to this staff report is a legal description of Unnamed County Road Number 910395, which includes 
maps and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution establishing the roadway on public land as a minor 
public road is also attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the proposed 
Resolution. 



3 

Red line indicates approximate location of the roadway 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
709 establishing a minor county public road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910395, 
pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910395 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.336167 N, -119.648472 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.334554 N, -119.646484 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):1,541’ (0.29
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR 341

17N 21E

17

2019

16

21

18

18

18

91
040

5

91 03 45

91
03

90

920020

9103 95

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 









17N 21E
Virginia City 1967

AMS2062 I SW-SERIES V896
14 10/21/1976

BLM

17 10/21/1976
BLM

11 10/21/1976
BLM

10 10/21/1976
BLM

6 10/21/1976
BLM

7 10/21/1976
BLM

18 10/21/1976
BLM

15 10/21/1976
BLM

9 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

18 10/21/1976
BLM

13 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

12 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWSW 2/9/1874
701

16 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR17 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWNW 2/9/1874
7018 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

SWSW 2/9/1874
701

17

20

16

21

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.80.1
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



RESOLUTION 23-709 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
UNNAMED, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910395, PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED 
STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on December 5, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, 

as a minor county road; and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 

910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, has been: (a) established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior 

to the October 21, 1976 repeal of R.S. 2477; and 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly 

known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed 

Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies 

only to the segments of the road that traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, 

United States Department of the Interior, and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse 

land owned by any other person or entity; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that minor county road, Storey 

County Road Number 910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet 

(0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as 

a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating minor 

county road, Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as 

more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County 

Board of Highway Commissioners, the Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County 

Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the minor road, Storey County Road Number 

910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, as a minor county road and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no maintenance is required 

on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance schedule by the Storey County 

Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, common name or 

any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public Works Department 

may be placed on the minor road, Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as 

UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 



This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-707, which proposes
identification of  Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known
as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall
Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach
(Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed
Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as a minor county road as more fully described
in the attached Exhibit 1, this applies only to the segments of the road that traverse land
managed by the Bureau of Land Management. It is proposed that the road be identified as
a minor county road. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to
identify it as a public road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.
It must be used by motorists at their own risk.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to adopt Resolution 23-707, which
proposes identification of  Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly
known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles),
Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach
(Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed
Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as a minor county road as more fully described
in the attached Exhibit 1, this applies only to the segments of the road that traverse land
managed by the Bureau of Land Management. It is proposed that the road be identified as
a minor county road. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to
identify it as a public road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.
It must be used by motorists at their own risk.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: Following a public hearing on proposed Resolution 23-707, this request
is to adopt Resolution 23-707 as a minor county public road per Nevada Revised Statutes
403.170 and 405.191.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

    17



• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-707 establishing a minor county public road identified as Old 
Stagecoach, County Road Number 920390 (2 segments), pursuant to Nevada 
Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    

Location: The road segments are located in the vicinity of the Geiger Grade summit, 
south of Highway 341 and east of the Storey County/Washoe County line in 
Storey County on Assessor’s Parcel Numbers (APN) 004-261-01 and 004-261-
02. The roadway segments are 1.1 miles and 500-feet in length on land
managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  A small portion of the roadway
crosses APN 003-412-13 which is privately owned and is not subject to this
Resolution.

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 
use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

Old Stagecoach County Road Number 920390 (2 segments) 

The roadway begins at the Storey County/Washoe County line, south of the Geiger Grade summit.  The 
segment located on APN 004-261-01 is approximately 1.1 mile in length and the second segment is 
approximately 500-feet in length.  Both segments are located on land managed by the Bureau of Land 
Management.  There is one small segment of land that crosses onto private property and that segment is 
not a part of this resolution.  The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a 
public road, available for public use but that it is not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by 
motorists at their own risk. 

Attached to this staff report is a legal description of Old Stagecoach, County Road Number 920390, which 
includes maps and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution establishing the roadway on public land as a 
minor public road is also attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the 
proposed Resolution. 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


3 

Red line indicates approximate location of the roadway segments 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
707 establishing a minor county public road identified as Old Stagecoach, County Road Number 920390, 
pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: OLD STAGECOACH 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 920390 

Segment 1 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.342684 N, -119.656633 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.350061 N, -119.668115 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 7  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):5,793’ (1.1
 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: OLD STAGECOACH 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 920390 

Segment 2 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.349169 N, -119.668128 W 
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 7 
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.348183 N, -119.668144 W 
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 7  

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):500’ (0.09 
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR 341

17N 21E

17

0807

18

18

18

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 















17N 21E

Virginia City 1952
N3915-W11930/15AMS 2062 I-SERIES V796

2 10/21/1976
BLM3 10/21/1976

BLM

SENE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

5 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD02

6 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

7 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

10 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

9 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

SWNE 10/21/1976
BLM

NESE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

4 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SESE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RRSWSE 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR
SWSW 9/30/1957

NVN0043294FD01

NWSE 10/21/1976
BLM

NWNE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NENE 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

7 10/21/1976
BLM6 10/21/1976

BLM

4 10/21/1976
BLM

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

3 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

2 9/30/1957
NVN0043294FD01

SESW 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SENW 10/21/1976
BLM

NESW 10/21/1976
BLM

NENW 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

08
07

17
18

18

920390  OLD STAGECOACH

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.25 0.5 0.75 10.125
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



RESOLUTION 23-707 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS OLD 
STAGECOACH, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 920390 (2 SEGMENTS), PURSUANT TO 
NEVADA REVISED STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on December 5, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old 

Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed 

Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 

feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as a minor 

county road; and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 

920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 

5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and 

Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed 



Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, has been: 

(a) established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior to the October 21,

1976 repeal of R.S. 2477; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), 

commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), 

Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 

2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately

fourteen (14) feet as a minor county road as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies

only to the segments of the road that traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management,

United States Department of the Interior, and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse

land owned by any other person or entity; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the minor county road Storey 

County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), 

road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately 

fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) 

Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more fully described in the 

attached Exhibit 1, shall be represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as a minor road; 

and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating county 

minor road, Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old Stagecoach 

(Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet 

(0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County Board of 

Highway Commissioners, the Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the county minor road, Storey County Road 

Number 920390 (2 Segments) commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment 

length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; 

and Old Stagecoach (Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average 

Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more as fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, 

as a minor county road and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no 

maintenance is required on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance 

schedule by the Storey County Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be 



necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, 

common name or any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public 

Works Department may be placed on the county minor road, Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 

Segments) commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 

Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet; and Old Stagecoach 

(Segment 2) road segment length 500 feet (0.09 Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet more; commonly known as Old Stagecoach; as more fully described 

in the attached Exhibit 1. 

This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-708 which proposes the
identification of Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as Unnamed,
road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width:
Approximately fourteen (14) feet.  It is proposed that the road be identified as a minor
county road.

• The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road,
available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by
motorists at their own risk.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to adopt Resolution 23-708 which
proposes the identification of Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as
Unnamed, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed
Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet.  It is proposed that the road be identified as a
minor county road.

• The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road,
available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by
motorists at their own risk.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: Following a public hearing on proposed Resolution 23-708, this request
is to adopt Resolution 23-708 as a minor county public road per Nevada Revised Statutes
403.170 and 405.191.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

     18



____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-708 establishing a minor county public road identified as 
Unnamed County Road Number 910405, pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 
403.170 and 405.191.    

Location: The road is located south of Dry Gulch Road and Fandango Pass Road and 
west of Geiger Grade Road, all within Assessor’s Parcel Number 004-261-02.  
The roadway segment is approximately 1.83 miles and is entirely on land 
managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The Highland Ranches 
subdivision (10 acres) is to the north and the Virginia Ranches subdivision (40 
acres) is to the east.   

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

Unnamed County Road Number 910405 

The roadway begins near the Storey County/Washoe County line, south of Dry Gulch Road and Fandango 
Pass Road and west of Geiger Grade Road.  The segment is located on APN 004-261-02 is approximately 
1.83 miles, located on land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The effect of identifying the 
road as a minor county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not 
maintained by Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Attached to this staff report is a legal description of the Unnamed County Road Number 910405, which 
includes maps and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution establishing the roadway on public land as a 
minor public road is also attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the 
proposed Resolution. 

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403


3 

Red line indicates approximate location of the roadway 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
708 establishing a minor county public road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910405, 
pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910405 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.341387 N, -119.644103 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.337515 N, -119.656406 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):9,668’ (1.83 Miles)
Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR 341

17N 21E

17

08

20

16

07

19 21

09

18

18

18

18

92 03 90

920020

91
03

90

910395

92
00

35

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 











17N 21E
Virginia City 1967

AMS2062 I SW-SERIES V896

7 10/21/1976
BLM6 10/21/1976

BLM

3 10/21/1976
BLM

2 10/21/1976
BLM

11 10/21/1976
BLM

10 10/21/1976
BLM

12 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

14 10/21/1976
BLM

4 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

9 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

15 10/21/1976
BLM13 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

16 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

1 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

17 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

8 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWSW 2/9/1874
701

SWNW 2/9/1874
701

NWSW 2/9/1874
701

NWNW 2/9/1874
701

17 16

18

18

910405 Unnamed Road

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.80.1
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



RESOLUTION 23-708 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
UNNAMED, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910405, PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED 
STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on December 5, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, 

as a minor county road; and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 

910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, has been: (a) established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior 

to the October 21, 1976 repeal of R.S. 2477; and 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly 

known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed 

Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies 

only to the segments of the road that traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, 

United States Department of the Interior, and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse 

land owned by any other person or entity; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that minor county road, Storey 

County Road Number 910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet 

(1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as 

a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating minor 

county road, Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as 

more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County 

Board of Highway Commissioners, the Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County 

Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the minor road, Storey County Road Number 

910405, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, as a minor county road and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no maintenance is required 

on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance schedule by the Storey County 

Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, common name or 

any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public Works Department 

may be placed on the minor road, Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as 

UNNAMED, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet; as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 



This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910405 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.341387 N, -119.644103 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.337515 N, -119.656406 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):9,668’ (1.83 Miles)
Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 

EXHIBIT 1 



SR 341

17N 21E

17

08

20

16

07

19 21

09

18

18

18

18

92 03 90

920020

91
03

90

910395

92
00

35

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 











17N 21E
Virginia City 1967

AMS2062 I SW-SERIES V896

7 10/21/1976
BLM6 10/21/1976

BLM

3 10/21/1976
BLM

2 10/21/1976
BLM

11 10/21/1976
BLM

10 10/21/1976
BLM

12 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

14 10/21/1976
BLM

4 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

9 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

15 10/21/1976
BLM13 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

16 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

1 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

17 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

8 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWSW 2/9/1874
701

SWNW 2/9/1874
701

NWSW 2/9/1874
701

NWNW 2/9/1874
701

17 16

18

18

910405 Unnamed Road

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.80.1
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-709 which proposes the
identification of Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as Unnamed,
road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width:
Approximately fourteen (14) feet. It is proposed that the road be identified as a minor
county road. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify it as a
public road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must be
used by motorists at their own risk.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) move to adopt Resolution 23-709 which
proposes the identification of Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as
Unnamed, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed
Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet.  It is proposed that the road be identified as a
minor county road. The effect of identifying the road as a minor county road is to identify
it as a public road, available for public use but not maintained by Storey County.  It must
be used by motorists at their own risk.

• Prepared by: Lyndi Renaud

Department:     Contact Number: 7758471144

• Staff Summary: Following a public hearing on proposed Resolution 23-709, this request
is to adopt Resolution 23-709 as a minor county public road per Nevada Revised Statutes
403.170 and 405.191.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

    19



• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



1 

To: Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

From: Storey County Planning Department 

Meeting Date: December 5, 2023 

Meeting Location: Storey County Courthouse, 26 S. B Street, Virginia City, Storey County, Nevada, and via 
Zoom 

Staff Contact: Kathy Canfield 

Request: RESOLUTION 23-709 establishing a minor county public road identified as 
Unnamed County Road Number 910395, pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 
403.170 and 405.191.    

Location: The road is located south of Seven Mile Canyon and west of Geiger Grade 
Road, all within Assessor’s Parcel Number 004-261-02.  The roadway segment 
is approximately 1,541 linear feet (0.29 miles) and is entirely on land managed 
by the Bureau of Land Management.   

Background & Analysis 

Storey County has commenced the process of identifying existing public access roadways located on public 
land.  Nevada Revised Statues Section 405.191 identifies what is considered a public road.  Storey County is 
following this definition to designate roadways that meet the following:  

Any way which exists upon a right-of-way granted by Congress over public lands of the United States 
not reserved for public uses in chapter 262, section 8, 14 Statutes 253 (former 43 U.S.C. § 932, 
commonly referred to as R.S. 2477), and accepted by general public use and enjoyment before, on 
or after July 1, 1979. Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, each board of county 
commissioners may locate and determine the width of such rights-of-way and locate, open for 
public use and establish thereon county roads or highways, but public use alone has been and is 
sufficient to evidence an acceptance of the grant of a public user right-of-way pursuant to former 43 
U.S.C. § 932. In a county in which a board of county highway commissioners has exclusive control of 
all matters relating to the construction, repairing and maintaining of public highways, roads and 
bridges within the county pursuant to NRS 403.090, the board of county highway commissioners 
may locate and determine the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public 
use for the purpose of designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170 or taking any other action 
concerning those rights-of-way pursuant to chapter 403 of NRS. 

STOREY COUNTY 
PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

Storey County Courthouse 
26 South B Street, PO Box 176, Virginia City, NV 89440 Phone (775) 

847-1144 – Fax (775) 847-0949
planning@storeycounty.org

https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.090
https://nevada.public.law/statutes/nrs_403.170
https://nevada.public.law/NRS/NRS-403.html#NRS403
mailto:planning@storeycounty.org


2 

Storey County entered into a contract with Mr. Jerry Elkins to do the research on various roadway sections 
located within Storey County that had not previously been researched by Storey County or identified as a 
county-recognized road.  Utilizing this research, Storey County is recognizing each roadway segment that 
meets the NRS Section 405.191 definition on public property.  The research, map, legal description and 
photographs are included for each roadway segment and a Resolution recognizing the roadway segment by 
the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners is generated for each segment.   

Upon recordation of the Resolution, each segment of roadway will be added to the overall Storey County 
map of county roads and designated as a minor county road.  The map will then be presented to the State of 
Nevada Department of Transportation as identified in NRS Section 403.190. 

It should be noted that NRS 403.170(1)(c) states that county roads designated as minor county roads do not 
have to be maintained and it further provides that the state and county are immune from liability for 
damages suffered by anyone using a minor county road.  The statute also does not require signage to create 
the immunity from liability. 

County staff are proceeding with recognizing the roadways that are located on publicly owned land only.  
Some of the research does include other roadway areas, including areas privately owned.  If the need arises 
in the future, this research is anticipated to be utilized in the legal process of identifying public access across 
private property. 

Unnamed County Road Number 910395 

The roadway intersects with Unnamed Roadway 910395, south of Seven Mile Canyon and west of Geiger 
Grade Road.  It is located entirely on APN 004-261-02 and is approximately 1,541 linear feet (0.29 miles), 
located on land managed by the Bureau of Land Management.  The effect of identifying the road as a 
minor county road is to identify it as a public road, available for public use but that it is not maintained by 
Storey County.  It must be used by motorists at their own risk. 

Attached to this staff report is a legal description of Unnamed County Road Number 910395, which includes 
maps and photographs of the roadway.  A Resolution establishing the roadway on public land as a minor 
public road is also attached for consideration for adoption.  Staff is recommending approval of the proposed 
Resolution. 



3 

Red line indicates approximate location of the roadway 

Suggested Motion 

In accordance with the recommendation by staff, I (commissioner) hereby move to adopt RESOLUTION 23-
709 establishing a minor county public road identified as Unnamed, County Road Number 910395, 
pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 and 405.191.    



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910395 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.336167 N, -119.648472 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.334554 N, -119.646484 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):1,541’ (0.29
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 



SR 341

17N 21E

17

2019

16

21

18

18

18

91
040

5

91 03 45

91
03

90

920020

9103 95

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 









17N 21E
Virginia City 1967

AMS2062 I SW-SERIES V896
14 10/21/1976

BLM

17 10/21/1976
BLM

11 10/21/1976
BLM

10 10/21/1976
BLM

6 10/21/1976
BLM

7 10/21/1976
BLM

18 10/21/1976
BLM

15 10/21/1976
BLM

9 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

18 10/21/1976
BLM

13 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

12 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWSW 2/9/1874
701

16 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR17 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWNW 2/9/1874
7018 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

SWSW 2/9/1874
701

17

20

16

21

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.80.1
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



RESOLUTION 23-709 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 
STOREY COUNTY, NEVADA 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A MINOR COUNTY PUBLIC ROAD IDENTIFIED AS 
UNNAMED, COUNTY ROAD NUMBER 910395, PURSUANT TO NEVADA REVISED 
STATUTES 403.170 and 405.191. 

WHEREAS, in response to the urging of the Nevada Legislature in Senate Concurrent 

Resolution No. 6, in the 75th Legislative Session of 2009, the Storey County Board of 

Commissioners (Board) on February 18, 2020, approved of a project to inventory and map all 

roads or rights-of-way that qualify to be classified as minor county roads under Nevada law and 

which were granted for public use under what was formerly codified as section 2477 of the 

Revised Statutes of the United States, 43 U.S.C. § 932 (R.S. 2477), and which were expressly 

recognized and preserved when R.S. 2477 was repealed under the enactment of the Federal Land 

Policy and Management Act of 1976, (See § 701(a)); and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 405.191 is empowered to locate and determine 

the width of those rights-of-way and open those rights-of-way for public use for the purpose of 

designating county roads pursuant to NRS 403.170; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to NRS 403.170 is tasked with laying out and designating 

roads which are neither main nor general county roads but have been established by usage, or were 

constructed for use by the public, and shall designate these roads as minor county roads; and 

WHEREAS, the Board has examined the documents attached as Exhibit 1 and concludes that 

the roads or rights-of-way depicted therein qualify to be designated as minor county roads and open 

to the public; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to NRS 403.170 a public hearing was held on December 5, 2023; 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby locate, open for public use, layout and designate the public county road 

right-of-way Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, 

as a minor county road; and  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners does hereby determine and declare that the minor Storey County Road Number 

910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, has been: (a) established by usage or (b) was constructed for use by the public and prior 

to the October 21, 1976 repeal of R.S. 2477; and 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby acknowledge and determine that Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly 

known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed 

Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, applies 

only to the segments of the road that traverse land managed by the Bureau of Land Management, 

United States Department of the Interior, and does not apply to segments of the road that traverse 

land owned by any other person or entity; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that minor county road, Storey 

County Road Number 910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet 

(0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully 

described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be represented on the Storey County Road Inventory as 

a minor road; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, and hereby ordered that the Exhibit 1, designating minor 

county road, Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment 

length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet as 

more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1, shall be filed with the Clerk of the Storey County 

Board of Highway Commissioners, the Nevada Department of Transportation, and the County 

Recorder; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway 

Commissioners pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.190, does hereby declare the filing of 

Exhibit 1 is evidence of the existence and location of the minor road, Storey County Road Number 

910395, commonly known as UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall 

Average Disturbed Width: Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached 

Exhibit 1, as a minor county road and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes 403.170 does hereby determine that no maintenance is required 

on minor county roads and there will be no change in the maintenance schedule by the Storey County 

Public Works Department until and at such time it is determined to be necessary; and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Storey County Board of Highway Commissioners 

does hereby determine that signs indicating the road number, lack of maintenance, common name or 

any other informational message deemed appropriate by the Storey County Public Works Department 

may be placed on the minor road, Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as 

UNNAMED, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed Width: 

Approximately fourteen (14) feet, as more fully described in the attached Exhibit 1. 



This resolution shall be effective upon its adoption. 

PROPOSED AND ADOPTED this ___ day of ______________, 2023. 

THOSE VOTING AYE: 

THOSE VOTING NAY: 

STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF 
HIGHWAY COMMISSIONERS 

By: Chairman 
ATTEST: 

Clerk of the Board 



Beginning and Ending Points and Legal Description 
The road is the monument. 

Common Name: Unnamed Road 
County: Storey 

County Road Number: 910395 

Beginning Latitude/Longitude:  39.336167 N, -119.648472 W
Beginning Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17
Ending Latitude/Longitude: 39.334554 N, -119.646484 W
Ending Legal Description: Township 17 N, Range 21 East, Within Section 17 

Total Road Segment Length (in Horizontal Distance):1,541’ (0.29
Miles) Overall Average Disturbed Width: Approximately  

fourteen (14) feet.  

All Projections are AD 1983 StatePlane Nevada West FIPS 2702 Feet in Decimal DegreesN
The collected centerline report for this road is in a database maintained by the Storey County GIS 
Outsource Contractor. 

This road provides access to other roads, private property, water rights, and mining claims or to hunting, 
fishing, firewood, wildlife viewing, camping, hiking, motor vehicle recreation, mineral exploration or 
other general outdoor recreation  areas, or any combination thereof.

“The RS 2477 assertion is to the segments of the road that traverse land reserved and managed by the 
Bureau of Land Management and US Forest Service, United States Department of the Interior and 
segments of the road that traverse land owned  by any other person or entity.” 

EXHIBIT 1



SR 341

17N 21E

17

2019

16

21

18

18

18

91
040

5

91 03 45

91
03

90

920020

9103 95

Locator Map
Excerpt from current USGS Topographical maps,

Date: 9/17/2020

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads
Road in Process

State and County Roads
SIX MILE CANYON RD

SR 341

SR 342

SR 439

USGS Quadrangle Grid

    0 0.3 0.6 0.9 1.20.15
Miles

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source: Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3 rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 









17N 21E
Virginia City 1967

AMS2062 I SW-SERIES V896
14 10/21/1976

BLM

17 10/21/1976
BLM

11 10/21/1976
BLM

10 10/21/1976
BLM

6 10/21/1976
BLM

7 10/21/1976
BLM

18 10/21/1976
BLM

15 10/21/1976
BLM

9 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

18 10/21/1976
BLM

13 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

12 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

NWSW 2/9/1874
701

16 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR17 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

5 3/15/1875
Central Pacific RR

SWNW 2/9/1874
7018 3/15/1875

Central Pacific RR

SWSW 2/9/1874
701

17

20

16

21

Proof Map
Excerpt from historic maps: USGS Topographical maps,
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps,

various State and NDOT transportation maps

Legend
Subject Road

RS2477 Roads Project
Roads in Process

Township/Range Label

Date of Transfer from Public

Land Ownership Status
Bureau of Indian Affairs

Bureau of Land Management

Bureau of Reclamation

Private Ownership

    0 0.2 0.4 0.6 0.80.1
Miles

Date: 9/16/2020

Coordinate System: WGS 1984 Web Mercator Auxiliary Sphere

Map Source : Central Nevada GIS and  
Cartography Services, LLC. (CNGIS) 
Jerry Elkins 775-761-7777 
Data Source: Base Map – USGS Topographical maps, 
GLO Survey maps, BLM Surface Management maps, 
various historic State and NDOT Transportation 
maps.  
State and Local County Roads – supplied by Storey 
County’s contracted 3rd party GIS provider. 
RS2477 Roads – Digitally collected by CNGIS 



Storey County Board of Highway 
Commissioners

Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 minutes

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Report of the Public Works Department regarding roads and highways in Storey
County.

• Recommended motion: Discussion only.

• Prepared by: Jason Wierzbicki

Department:     Contact Number: 17758470958

• Staff Summary: Discussion of roads and project throughout the County.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: no

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     20



Storey County Liquor Licensing Board
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 10 min

Agenda Item Type: Consent Agenda

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of the First reading for On-Sale/Off-Sale
Liquor License. Applicant is Carol Maley, Silverland Inn & Suites located at 100 North E
Street, Virginia City, NV 89440.

• Recommended motion: I (insert name) motion to approve the First Reading On-
Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. Applicant is Carol Maley, Silverland Inn & Suites, located
at 100 North E Street, Virginia City, Nevada.

• Prepared by: Dore Nevin

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470959

• Staff Summary: First reading for On-Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. Applicant is Carol
Maley, Silverland Inn & Suites located at 100 North E Street, Virginia City, Nevada

• 6.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     22



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Review and possible approval of second reading of Bill No. 137, Ordinance No.
23.325, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and
Personnel, Section 2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection
2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified appraiser to be placed on the list of county appraisers if
the appraiser demonstrates an ability to obtain professional liability insurance as required
by the county, and other properly related matters.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner) motion to approve second reading of Bill No.
137, Ordinance No. 23.325, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2
Administration and Personnel, Section 2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise
Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified appraiser to be placed on the list of county
appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to obtain professional liability
insurance as required by the county, and other properly related matters. This motion
includes a finding that a special hearing and business impact statement are not required
because the proposed action does not impose a direct or significant economic burden
upon a business, or directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business
in Storey County.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: This proposal will enable Storey County to build a larger pool of
qualified property appraisers from which to choose on a rotating basis for the appraisal of
properties that the county intends to purchase, sell, rent, or lease.

• Storey County is required by NRS to maintain a list of qualified property appraisers to
perform appraisals of properties that the county intends to purchase, sell, lease, or rent.
The county finds it difficult to recruit and maintain appraisers on its list due to a
requirement in county code that such appraisers must maintain costly liability insurance
whether they are or are not actively engaged in appraisals or other work for the county.

• A proposed amendment to Storey County Code Section 2.22.060(F) will enable an
appraiser to be placed on the list of appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to
obtain professional liability insurance as required by the county. If the code is amended,
an appraiser will only be required to demonstrate active liability insurance when the
appraiser is retained to perform appraisals or other work for the county.

    25



• A special hearing and business impact statement are not required because the proposed
action does not impose a direct or significant economic burden upon a business, or
directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business in Storey County.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



Page 1 of 1 

Written Motion with Findings: 

I (commissioner) motion to approve second reading of Bill No. 137, Ordinance No. 23.325, an 
ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and Personnel, Section 
2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified 
appraiser to be placed on the list of county appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to 
obtain professional liability insurance as required by the county, and other properly related 
matters. This motion includes a finding that a special hearing and business impact statement are 
not required because the proposed action does not impose a direct or significant economic 
burden upon a business, or directly restrict the formation, operation, or expansion of a business 
in Storey County. 

This written motion with findings is hereby provided by Storey County Commission Chair Jay 

Carmona: ____________________________ on December 5, 2023. 

Attest: 

_____________________________ 
D. James Hindle
Clerk & Treasurer, Storey County



Page 3 of 4 

Bill No. 137 

Ordinance No. 23.325 

Summary 

An ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and Personnel, Section 2.22.060 
Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified appraiser to be placed 

on the list of county appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to obtain professional liability 
insurance as required by the county, and other properly related matters. 

Title 

An ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and Personnel, Section 
2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing a qualified 

appraiser to be placed on the list of county appraisers if the appraiser demonstrates an ability to 
obtain professional liability insurance as required by the county, and other properly related 

matters. 

(Amendments are shown in blue underlined italics and black strike-out.) 

The Board of County Commissioners of the County of Storey, State of Nevada, does ordain: 

SECTION 1: Storey County Code Section 2.22.060 is hereby amended to provide as follows: 



Page 4 of 4 

Chapter 2.22 - COUNTY'S LIST OF QUALIFIED APPRAISERS 

2.22.060 - Qualifications of appraisers. 

In order for an appraiser to be placed on the county's list of qualified appraisers, the 

appraiser must meet at least the following requirements: 

A. Hold a general appraiser certificate from the Nevada Real Estate Division.

B. Have five years of experience in appraising real property in northern Nevada.

C. Provide a resume describing the appraiser's qualifications,

certifications, years of experience, and professional expertise.

D. Provide an estimation of the time it will take for the appraiser to

complete appraisal projects.

E. Provide a list of fees charged by the appraiser.

F. Provide a copy of and maintain a policy of professional liability

insurance as required by the county; or show the ability to obtain

professional liability insurance as required by the county.

G. Be willing to indemnify the county of errors, omissions and negligence.

H. Meet any other criteria the board determines to be necessary.

(Ord. No. 18-288, § 1, 8-21-2018)



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration of letter of interest for the Appointment of a board member to the
Board of Directors of the Carson Water Subconservancy District representing Storey
County to serve a four year term, expiring December 31, 2027, with possible re-
appointment following expiration of the term.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by Staff, I
(commissioner) motion to appoint Lee Sterrett to serve as a board member on the Carson
Water Subconservancy District representing Storey County for a four year term expiring
December 31, 2027, with possible re-appointment following expiration of term.

• Prepared by: Kathy Canfield

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-1144

• Staff Summary: Storey County is a member of the Carson Water Subconservancy
District (CWSD) and has two Board seats on the Board of Directors.  The CWSD
promotes cooperative action in the Carson River Watershed.  CWSD is a unique multi-
county, bi-state agency which crosses both political and stakeholder boundaries.  CWSD
involves all watershed counties and communities to develop regional planning and
management solutions for the Carson River Watershed.  CWSD Board members are
elected officials, agricultural producers and citizens who represent their communities.
CWSD leads the integrated watershed planning process in the following categories, water
quality, floodplain management, regional water supply, invasive species, river
rehabilitation and stabilization, outreach and education and recreation projects.  The
CWSD has no regulatory authority.  The Board members are selected by the Storey
County Board of County Commissioners to serve at their pleasure for a four year term
with possible re-appointment following expiration of the term.

•
• Storey County advertised in 2021 for interested Storey County residents that might like to

fill the two positions on the CWSD Board.  We received one letter of interested at that
time from D. James Hindle, III, and Mr. Hindle was appointed in September of 2021.
Since that time, staff have been searching for another qualified individual to fill this
position.  Mr. Sterrett is a Storey County Planning Commissioner and attends Board of
County Commissioner’s meetings and community town hall meetings regularly and is
very well versed on Storey County issues.  Staff met with Mr. Sterrett and discussed the
position and concluded he would be a valuable asset to the CWSD Board and

    26



representing Storey County’s interests.  Staff is recommending Mr. Sterrett be appointed 
by the Storey County Board of County Commissioners to the Carson Water 
Subconservancy District.  If appointed, his four year appointment will be staggered with 
Mr. Hindle’s appointment, and would expire on December 31, 2027. 

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued





Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval to adopt the 2023 Storey County Water
Resources Plan for south and central Storey County including Comstock (Virginia City,
Gold Hill, Silver City, and American Flat), Highlands, and Mark Twain. This item is
being considered in accordance with the 2016 Storey County Master Plan.

• Recommended motion: In accordance with the recommendation by staff, and in
conformance with the 2016 Storey County Master Plan and NRS 278.0228, I
(commissioner) motion to adopt the enclosed 2023 Storey County Water Resources Plan.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 775.847.0968

• Staff Summary: The 2023 Storey County Water Resources Master Plan was
commissioned in accordance with the 2016 Storey County Master Plan, and by NRS
287.0228 as amended by Senate Bill 150 in the 2019 legislative session, requiring each
governing body in the state to develop and maintain a water resources master plan by
2029.

•
• The enclosed draft water master plan focuses on south and central communities of Storey

County including the Virginia City Highlands; Highland Ranches; Comstock areas
including Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City (Lyon County), and American Flat; and
Mark Twain. Because the county does not provide water service in other portions of the
county, those areas are outside of

• the scope of this plan. In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General
Improvement District in Lockwood and the TRI-General Improvement District in
McCarran will complete similar water resource plans which can that be considered for
potential incorporation into this county plan as appendices.

•
• The plan also references water resources planning and master plans in other parts of the

county, including the Canyon General Improvement District in Lockwood and TRI-
General Improvement District in McCarran.

•
• The plan reviews available water, water rights, and parcel data in developing findings and

recommendations regarding current use demands, and future growth potential and
limitations. The discussion includes groundwater and surface water resources, as

    27



applicable, in each area, and a discussion about the Marlette Water System resources for 
the Comstock area and potentially other communities in the subject plan area.

•
• Background and data in the Storey County Water Resources Plan will be applied to 

negotiating with the State of Nevada a successor agreement to the Carson City Water 
Agreement governing distribution of Marlette System water resources to Storey County 

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



STOREY COUNTY 
WATER RESOURCES PLAN 

2023 

Divide Reservoir 



Character | Stewardship | Excellence

5510 Longley Lane  •  Reno, Nevada 89511  •  (775) 851-4788

Water Resource  Plan
Storey County



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
i January 2023

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This Water Resource Plan (Plan) is intended to provide Storey County (County) a document to guide future 
decisions related to the City’s water supply, transmission and distribution system, and its ability to meet 
customer water demands into the future.  This Plan also addresses the requirements of Nevada Revised 
Statute (NRS) Chapter 287.0228 as amended by Senate Bill (SB) No. 150, as part of the 2019 legislative 
session, to require governing bodies to develop and maintain a water resource plan.  Per NRS 278.0228, 
the plan shall be in place by 2029 and then updated every 10 years. This executive summary provides a 
snapshot of the key findings from each chapter of the Plan.  In total, the Plan is comprised of an Introduction 
and three topic-focused chapters.   

INTRODUCTION 

This WRP will focus on the populated areas of Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches, and Mark Twain Estates in the southern portion of the County (Plan Area). 
A map of the Plan Area is provided in Figure 2.  The major water supply for this portion of the County is 
supplied by the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System).  The Marlette System is owned and 
operated by the State of Nevada (State).  The Marlette System provides water to the County Water System 
for customers in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American Flat.  The County also delivers water to residents 
of Silver City which is located in Lyon County.  The remaining populated areas within the Plan Area are 
supplied by individual domestic wells.   

Because the County does not provide water service in other portions of the County, those areas are outside 
the scope of this Plan.  In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General Improvement District (Canyon 
GID) and the Tahoe Reno Industrial GID (TRI GID) will complete similar water resource plans which can 
be considered for potential incorporation into this Plan as Appendices.   

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT 

Chapter 1 summarizes current County Water System water demands, water sources and water management 
strategies within the Plan Area. This Chapter presents an analysis of current water uses and demands to 
establish estimates and assumptions which will form the basis for the Plan.  

The County Water System currently serves approximately 803 metered customers. The majority of 
customers (666) are within Virginia City, 51 within Gold Hill, and 86 are within Silver City. The County 
serves approximately 207 commercial customers and the remaining 596 are residential. For the period 
between 2018 through 2021 the County Water System consumed an average of 221 AF of water per year 
and a maximum of 234 AF in 2017 from the Marlette System.  

Deliveries to the majority of customers in the County’s systems are metered, however some unmetered 
connections still exist. For this reason, Farr West utilized the Water Treatment Plant (WTP) flow meter data 
as the basis for estimating system demands. Analysis of WTP water meter records from 2016 to 2019 
yielded the following: 

� Average Annual Demand (AAD) 210 AF 

� Average Day Demand (ADD) 131 gpm 

� Maximum Day Demand (MDD) 262 gpm 

� Peak Hour Demand (PHD) 524 gpm 

Considering the County System serves 803 customers, the average water use per connection is 0.26 AF per 
year which is equivalent to approximately 0.16 gpm per connection. This average connection demand was 
used to set existing water demands but was adjusted to 0.3 AF per new residential connection to estimate 
future water demands.  



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
ii January 2023

The County does not own the water rights to what is currently its only water supply. However, each of the 
water rights owned by the State defines the place of use as Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and Carson 
City. Prior to the State being able to deliver water to locations not currently included as the place of use, a 
temporary or permanent change to the water right would have to be approved by the office of the Nevada 
State Engineer (NSE). Finally, the contract between the County and the State for continued delivery of 
water from the Marlette System is currently being negotiated for renewal. 

Historically, the State has implemented 10-year contracts with the County for delivery of Marlette System 
water according to the limits shown in Table ES-1. 

Table ES-1: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) 

Year 
June, July, Aug., & 

Sept. Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Remaining Month 
Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Annual Use Limit 
(acre-feet) 

2015 833,500 533,500 448.2

2016 846,500 546,500 456.1

2017 859,500 559,500 464.0

2018 872,500 572,500 471.9

2019 885,500 585,500 479.8

2020 898,500 598,500 487.7

2021 911,500 611,500 495.6

Water for the County Water System is delivered through a seven-mile inverted siphon which transitions to 
a pipeline. The County’s ownership of the system begins at the location where the siphon crosses under 
Interstate 580 at Lakeview, north of Carson City. The transmission line discharges to the Five-Mile 
Reservoir and/or the Five-Mile Tank prior to filling the Bullion Tank next to the 1.2 MGD Water Treatment 
Plant where water is treated to potable standards and placed into the County Water System distribution 
system.  

Key findings of this chapter include a review of water right ownership, water demand calculations, an 
estimate of unaccounted for water, a summary of water storage facilities, and domestic well pumpage 
estimates.  

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY AND SYSTEM CAPACITY 

Chapter 2 discusses the water system’s current capacity, the quality and quantity of all water sources, a 
water source risk analysis, and drought mitigation strategies available to the County. Recent water use in 
the Plan Area is estimated to be 1,157 AF per year. Of this volume, 221 AF is raw water from the Marlette 
System used to serve Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. The remainder is unmetered groundwater 
pumped at private domestic wells. Utilizing a consumption rate of 1 AF per domestic well it is estimated 
that 588 AF is pumped in the Highlands, 333 AF in Mark Twain, and 15 AF in the American Flat area.  

The only water source currently available to the County Water System is the surface water provided by the 
Marlette Water System. This source is very reliable and of high quality, however the volume of water 
available from the Marlette Water System is primarily influenced or restricted by transmission pipeline 
capacity, although annual snowpack, fishery management at Marlette Lake, and operating agreement limits 
also have a potential to limit the amount of water available form this source. The annual volume of water 
available under the Franktown Decree to NPWD is approximately 7,200 AFA. Per the previous operating 
agreement, the County has reserved up to approximately 500 AF of that annual total.  

Water resources within the Plan Areas are less than current demand.  Annual recharge of area aquifers is 
limited due to inadequate elevation of the Plan Area and adjoining areas for significant recharge.  The 



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
iii January 2023

primary source of recharge occurs within the upslope mountain block and is attributed to snowpack melt 
and infiltration from winter storms.  Recharge from drainages can provide an additional source of recharge 
depending on the slope and soil permeability.  The Highlands is dependent on local recharge within the 
mountain block without significant impact from adjoining areas.   The Mark Twain area water resources 
are impacted by mountain block (“upslope”) recharge, recharge conveyed by drainages and the Carson 
River watershed.  

The populated areas of the Highlands and Mark Twain also lie within the Plan Area but are not provided 
water by the County Water System. Residences in these areas utilize individual wells to provide domestic 
water supplies. Even though each area sits in a separate hydrographic basin, both areas have experience 
water availability problems during extended dry periods. Per the Plan, it is not feasible to develop a single, 
groundwater well to serve the local community in either of these areas due to aquifer performance concerns. 

For the County to provide a reliable water supply to its customers, it must actively manage its water sources 
and system infrastructure. Some key recommendations made in this chapter include: 

� Negotiate a long-term delivery agreement and contract with the Marlette Water System,

� Maintain an up-to-date Water Resource Plan,

� Complete a Water Conservation Plan,

� Develop a water right dedication rate schedule and maintain a water right ledger, and

� Develop policy which requires future development utilizing groundwater as its only water source
to provide substantial analysis and study of the groundwater aquifer and prove that the proposed
uses will have limited and mitigatable effect on existing users or uses.

This chapter also reviewed existing system infrastructure and provided estimates of how much water the 
system can supply on a regular and maximum day basis. Considering the conveyance capacity of the siphon 
transmission main, the surface water treatment plant, and the storage tanks throughout the system it is 
estimated that up to 864 additional residential connections can be added to the system without creating 
problems. Additionally, each portion of the system was analyzed separately from one another, and it is 
estimated that up to 768 units could be added to Virginia City and/or 710 units could be added in Gold Hill. 
It should be noted that even though these estimates are provided in the unit of single-family residences 
(SFR), other land uses (e.g., commercial, industrial) can be added to the system. Projected water demands 
for these uses should be divided by the SFR water demand factor of 0.3 AF per unit to account for the 
number of “units” the proposed development represents in overall system capacity accounting. 

CHAPTER 3: FUTURE DEMANDS AND WATER MANAGEMENT 

The purpose of Chapter 3 is to estimate potential buildout demands resulting from land development within 
the Plan Area in the future. This chapter also identifies the impacts to the Storey County Water System at 
the buildout condition which includes improvements to existing infrastructure and water right holdings. 
Future utility and water resource planning efforts is also discussed. 

Future water demands for the Plan Area were generated from applying water demand factors against parcel 
size (i.e., acreage) or unit counts using designated land uses as of December 2020. The areas analyzed were: 

� The Comstock,

� VC Highlands,

� Mark Twain, and

� American Flat.

Table ES-2 provides an accounting of the projected number of units or acres which can be developed in 
each sub-area. 



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
iv January 2023

Table ES-2: Vacant Parcel Land Use 

Comstock Highlands Mark Twain American 
Flat Total 

Single-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs)
293 607 74 - 974 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs) 
21 - - - 21 

Commercial 
(Acres) 132 - - - 132 

Industrial  
(Acres) 19 - 4,327 252 4,598 

Forestry    
(ERUs) 11 - 23 31 65 

Special Planning 
Zone       

(parcels) 
74 - - - 74 

Utilizing water demand factors based on the existing system or similar areas in the region, estimated water 
demands were estimated at the buildout condition for each sub-area. A summary of these estimates is shown 
below in Table ES-3. 

Table ES-3: Plan Area Water Demands 

Area 
Existing Demand 

(AFA) 
Additional Demand 

(AFA) 
Buildout Demand 

(AFA) 
Comstock 221 456i 677i 

Highlands  176 182 358 

Mark Twain 100 4,875 4,975 

American Flat 4.5 291 296 

Total 502 5,804 6,306

i - Includes 105.3 AFA for Silver City 

To supply the volume of water that will be required to meet maximum day demands of the entire Plan Area 
at buildout, the County will need to have sufficient conveyance capacity in their water system infrastructure 
as well as have the volume of water rights needed to provide almost 7,000 acre-feet of water on an annual 
basis. Farr West developed improvement project(s) for each water system need in the future to provide a 
picture for what the connection or development of specific areas will have on the current system. Per the 
findings of this chapter, the County will need to invest between $5.7 and $127 million dollars in water 
system improvement projects in order to maintain system compliance and supply water to new areas (e.g., 
Highlands, American Flat, Mark Twain).  



Water Resource Plan Executive Summary 

FINAL Storey County
v January 2023

Table ES-4: Water System Projects 

Project Probable Costi 
Existing System Deficiencies $6.0 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout $12.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout $27.7 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain Ex. Residents Only $53.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Ex. Residents Only $95 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout $126 M 

i – All costs are presented in 2021 dollars and are Class 5 per AACEI (Association for the Advancement of Cost 
Estimating International) 

In addition to constructing the infrastructure necessary to provide water service at buildout, the County will 
need to maintain or acquire a sufficient volume of water rights to be able to serve the number of connections 
projected at buildout. At the most extreme condition where the County Water System is expanded to provide 
service to meet the buildout demands of the Highlands, Mark Twain, and American Flat in addition to the 
buildout demands of the Comstock, the volume of water rights needed would be 6,911 AF. If the County 
were to only provide water service to the existing Comstock area, this total is reduced to 2,178 AF.  

This chapter also evaluated additional water sources which may be available to the County in the future. 
While the new external sources are unlikely to be connected in the near term (i.e., 10 years) it is important 
to document every option in the case that economic, political, or system conditions change, and the viability 
of these sources is altered. Additionally, by implementing a proactive approach to water management 
planning, Storey County will ensure a reliable and resilient water utility well into the future to meet the 
needs of its residents and businesses.



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
vi January 2023

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ........................................................................................................................... i 
Table of Contents ......................................................................................................................................... vi 
Table of Tables .......................................................................................................................................... viii 
Table of Figures ......................................................................................................................................... viii 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................ 4 
1.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................. 5 
2.0 Background ...................................................................................................................................... 5 
3.0 Scope of Water Resource Plan ......................................................................................................... 5 

3.1 Plan Area .......................................................................................................................................... 5 
3.2 Need for a Water Resource Plan ...................................................................................................... 5 

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT ................................................ 1 
1.0 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................. 1 
2.0 Summary of Communities ............................................................................................................... 1 

2.1 Storey County Water Customers ..................................................................................................... 1 
2.2 Estimated Population within Plan Area ........................................................................................... 1 

3.0 Water Resources .............................................................................................................................. 2 
4.0 Water Rights in Nevada ................................................................................................................... 2 

4.1 Water Right Priority and Appropriation Statutes and Regulation ................................................... 2 
4.2 Nevada State Engineer Regulatory Actions ..................................................................................... 3 
4.3 Water Right Ownership ................................................................................................................... 3 

5.0 Marlette Water System .................................................................................................................... 3 
5.1 Franktown Creek Decree ................................................................................................................. 3 
5.2 Marlette Lake Water Rights ............................................................................................................. 3 
5.3 Marlette System Surface Water Rights ............................................................................................ 4 
5.4 Contract Between State of Nevada and Storey County ................................................................... 6 

6.0 Water Rights within Storey County ................................................................................................. 6 
6.1 Tracey Segment Water Rights ......................................................................................................... 6 
6.2 Dayton Valley Lake Water Rights ................................................................................................... 7 
6.3 Domestic Groundwater Use ............................................................................................................. 7 

7.0 Water Production and Facilities ....................................................................................................... 8 
7.1 Storey County Water System Facilities ........................................................................................... 8 
7.2 Storey County System Demands ..................................................................................................... 8 

7.2.1 Raw Water Delivery ........................................................................................................... 8 
7.2.2 Water Treatment Plant Production ...................................................................................... 9 
7.2.3 Customer Meter Records .................................................................................................... 9 

7.3 Water Demand Factors .................................................................................................................. 10 
7.4 Unaccounted For Water ................................................................................................................. 10 
7.5 Water Storage Facilities ................................................................................................................. 11 

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY .................................................................................... 13 
1.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................................... 13 
2.0 Water Resource Availability and Management ............................................................................. 13 

2.1 Estimated Use Within Plan Area ................................................................................................... 13 
2.2 Surface Water ................................................................................................................................ 13 
2.3 Groundwater .................................................................................................................................. 13 

3.0 Threats to Existing and Future Water Resources ........................................................................... 15 
3.1 Drought and Climate Change ......................................................................................................... 16 
3.2 Regulatory Actions ........................................................................................................................ 17 



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
vii January 2023

3.3 Contamination ................................................................................................................................ 18 
3.3.1 Surface Water ................................................................................................................... 18 
3.3.2 Groundwater ..................................................................................................................... 18 
3.3.3 Distribution System .......................................................................................................... 18 

3.4 Conveyance Interruptions .............................................................................................................. 18 
4.0 Remaining Capacity Analysis ........................................................................................................ 19 

4.1 Remaining Storage Capacity .......................................................................................................... 19 
4.2 Remaining Supply Capacity .......................................................................................................... 19 
4.3 Remaining System Capacity .......................................................................................................... 20 

5.0 Long-Term Strategies .................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1 Water Rights .................................................................................................................................. 22 

5.1.1 Surface Water ................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1.2 Groundwater ..................................................................................................................... 22 
5.1.3 Best Management Practices .............................................................................................. 24 

5.2 Resource Management ................................................................................................................... 24 
5.3 Dedication Rates ............................................................................................................................ 24 
5.4 Water Conservation Plan ............................................................................................................... 25 
5.5 Water Resource Planning ............................................................................................................... 25 

CHAPTER 3: MANAGEMENT OF WATER RESOURCES ................................................................... 26 
1.0 Purpose ........................................................................................................................................... 26 
2.0 Future Demands ............................................................................................................................. 26 

2.1 Vacant Parcels and Land Use ........................................................................................................ 26 
2.2 Demand Factors and Total Buildout Demands .............................................................................. 32 

3.0 Buildout Impacts ............................................................................................................................ 33 
3.1 Infrastructure Improvements .......................................................................................................... 33 

3.1.1 County Water System ....................................................................................................... 33 
3.1.2 American Flat ................................................................................................................... 34 
3.1.3 Mark Twain ....................................................................................................................... 34 
3.1.4 VC Highlands ................................................................................................................... 35 
3.1.5 Siphon Upgrades ............................................................................................................... 37 
3.1.6 Water Treatment Plant Upgrades ...................................................................................... 37 
3.1.7 Project Summary ............................................................................................................... 37 

3.2 Water Rights .................................................................................................................................. 38 
4.0 Future Management ....................................................................................................................... 39 

4.1 Future Water Resources ................................................................................................................. 39 
4.2 Regionalization .............................................................................................................................. 39 

5.0 Future Water Management Planning ............................................................................................. 39 
6.0 Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................... 40 

Bibliography ............................................................................................................................................... 41 

Appendix A ................................................................................................. Storey County 2016 Master Plan 
Appendix B ................................................................................................. Storage and Supply Calculations 
Appendix C ........................................................................................................... Opinions of Probable Cost 



Water Resource Plan Table of Contents 

FINAL Storey County
viii January 2023

LIST OF TABLES 

Table ES-1: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) ....................................... ii�
Table ES-2: Vacant Parcel Land Use ........................................................................................................... iv�
Table ES-3: Plan Area Water Demands ....................................................................................................... iv�
Table ES-4: Water System Projects .............................................................................................................. v�
Table 5: Current Population and Household Size ......................................................................................... 2�
Table 6: Marlette System Water Rights ........................................................................................................ 5�
Table 7: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) ............................................. 6�
Table 8: Domestic Pumpage Estimates ......................................................................................................... 7�
Table 9: Monthly Raw Water Deliveries (Acre-Feet) ................................................................................... 9�
Table 10: Residential Customer Demand ................................................................................................... 10�
Table 11: Commercial Customer Demand .................................................................................................. 10�
Table 12: Total Customer Demand ............................................................................................................. 10�
Table 13: System Demands ........................................................................................................................ 11�
Table 14: Water Storage Facilities .............................................................................................................. 12�
Table 15: Existing Customer Base System Capacity Analysis ................................................................... 20�
Table 16: Existing System Maximum Capacity Analysis (864 Additional Connections) .......................... 21�
Table 17: Storage + Supply Calculations Summary for Storey County Systems ....................................... 21�
Table 18: Water Demand Factors ............................................................................................................... 27�
Table 19: Vacant Parcel Land Use .............................................................................................................. 33�
Table 20: Plan Area Water Demands .......................................................................................................... 33�
Table 21: Water Treatment Plant Capacity Upgrade Needs ....................................................................... 38�
Table 22: Water System Projects ................................................................................................................ 38�
Table 23: Water System Planning ............................................................................................................... 41�

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1: Storey County 2016 Master Plan Planning Areas ......................................................................... x�
Figure 2: Plan Area ...................................................................................................................................... xi�
Figure 3: Monthly Average Water Treatment Plan Production (2016 – 2019) ............................................ 9�
Figure 4: Annual Percentage of Revenue Water ......................................................................................... 12�
Figure 5: Comstock Vacant Parcels ............................................................................................................ 29�
Figure 6: Highlands Vacant Parcels ............................................................................................................ 30�
Figure 7: Mark Twain Vacant Parcels ........................................................................................................ 31�
Figure 8: American Flat Land Use .............................................................................................................. 32�
Figure 9: Highlands Water System Improvements ..................................................................................... 37�



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
ix January 2023

INTRODUCTION 

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this Water Resource Plan (Plan) is to provide Storey County (County) with a documented 
plan and policy related to the County’s ability to provide a sustainable water supply to its customers even 
during periods of extended drought.  This Plan also addresses the requirements of Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) Chapter 287 as amended by Senate Bill (SB) No. 150 (2019) to require governing bodies to develop 
and maintain a water resource plan by 2029.   

2.0 BACKGROUND  

On January 21, 2020, the Storey County Board of County Commissioners awarded a contract to Farr West 
Engineering to prepare a Water Resource Plan.  This Plan is separated into three chapters, with each 
addressing a specific component of the Plan as follows: 

� Chapter 1 – Water Demands, Sources, and Management

� Chapter 2 – Source Water Reliability and System Capacity

� Chapter 3 – Future Demand and Water Management

3.0 SCOPE OF WATER RESOURCE PLAN 

Storey County is located in the Western portion of Northern Nevada.  The County is bordered by Washoe 
County to the west and north and Lyon County to the east and south.  The County is a mountainous area 
which sits above the Reno metropolitan area and is bounded by the Truckee River to the north.  There are 
eight distinct land use areas in the County including Comstock (Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American 
Flat), Highlands (Virginia City Highlands and Highland Ranches), Lagomarsino, Lockwood-Mustang, 
McCarran, Painted Rock, Northeast, and Mark Twain.  The County is considered rural but includes areas 
with high-tech industry.  

PLAN AREA 

This Plan will focus on the populated areas of Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches, and Mark Twain Estates in the southern portion of the County (Plan Area). 
A map of the Plan Area is provided in Figure 2.  The major water supply for this portion of the County is 
supplied by the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System).  The Marlette System is owned and 
operated by the State of Nevada (State).  Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 331.160, the Public 
Works Division (NPWD) is responsible for the supervision and administration of the system which includes 
transmission and storage of water in Carson City, Washoe County, and Storey County.  The Marlette 
System provides water to the County for customers in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and American Flat.  The 
County also delivers water to residents of Silver City which is in Lyon County.  The remaining populated 
areas within the Plan Area are supplied by individual domestic wells.   

Because the County does not provide water service in other portions of the County, those areas are outside 
the scope of this Plan.  In the future, it is anticipated that the Canyon General Improvement District (GID) 
and the Tahoe Reno Industrial GID (TRI GID) will complete similar water resource plans which can be 
considered for potential incorporation into this Plan as Appendices.   



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
x January 2023

Figure 1: Storey County 2016 Master Plan Planning Areas 



Comstock

Highlands

Mark Twain

Tracy
Segment

(083)

Dayton
Valley
(103)

Truckee
Meadows

(087)

Truckee River

Ca
rs

on
 R

ive
r

Lyon

Storey

Washoe

Carson City

P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure2.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 2: Plan Area With Select Water Features
1 " = 15,000 '

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

¯ 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

Legend
Plan Area

Plan Sub Area

County Boundaries

NDWR Groundwater Basins

Rivers

Streams

Virginia City

Gold Hill

American Flats

(Includes High Ranch)



Water Resource Plan Introduction 

FINAL Storey County
xii January 2023

NEED FOR A WATER RESOURCE PLAN 

The County does not own the water rights to what is currently its only water supply.  In addition, the contract 
between the County and the State for continued delivery of water from the Marlette System is currently 
being negotiated for renewal.  This Plan will review current water demands within the Plan Area and project 
water demands into the future based on buildout scenarios.  This analysis will assist the County in 
determining the amount of water which may be needed to serve customers in the future and ensure that 
there are adequate supplies to do so.   

This Plan is the County’s first water resource plan, and it is recommended that this Plan be updated every 
five to ten years to address issues due to potential changes in Nevada water law, economic growth, land use 
planning, water quality, and water quantity.  Additionally, NRS 278.0228 requires that governing bodies 
update their water resource plan no less than every ten years.  This Plan will provide the basis for future 
updates and help guide the County in decisions related to water resources including future investments in 
the water system and water sources.  

The County completed its Master Plan in 2016.  The 2016 Master Plan states, “Nearly every community in 
the county is faced with water supply challenges.” Water resource planning is tied directly to master 
planning efforts, and these two planning efforts are intended to complement each other.  Information from 
the 2016 Master Plan was used in this Plan.   



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources, and Management 

FINAL Storey County
1 January 2023

CHAPTER 1: WATER DEMANDS, SOURCES, AND MANAGEMENT

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this chapter is to summarize current water demands, water sources and water management 
strategies within the Plan Area. As described in the Introduction, the Plan Area consists of the populated 
areas in the southern portion of the County including Virginia City, Gold Hill, American Flat, Virginia City 
Highlands, Highland Ranches and Mark Twain Estates and is shown on Figure 2. The Storey County Water 
System currently serves customers in Virginia City and Gold Hill and delivers water to Silver City in Lyon 
County. Other communities within the Plan Area rely on individual wells to meet demands. This chapter 
presents an analysis of current water uses and demands to establish estimates and assumptions which will 
form the basis for the Plan.  

2.0 SUMMARY OF COMMUNITIES 

The Comstock Area, located at the southern end of the County, includes Virginia City, the Divide, Gold 
Hill and American Flat. This area was originally developed in the late 1800s and considerable measures are 
employed to maintain the rich historical character while promoting business, tourism, and the rural Nevada 
lifestyle. The Highlands Area, located north of the Comstock, is a residential estate community surrounded 
by undeveloped lands. This is a rural community which is relatively close to the conveniences of the Reno 
metropolitan area. There are no commercial uses within the Highlands. The Mark Twain Area is also a 
residential estate community surrounded by undeveloped lands and is at the southern border of the County. 
Mark Twain abuts Lyon County and is near the growing suburban area of Dayton. 

STOREY COUNTY WATER CUSTOMERS 

The County currently serves approximately 803 metered customers. The majority of customers (666) are 
within Virginia City, 51 within Gold Hill, and 86 are within Silver City. The County serves approximately 
207 commercial customers and the remaining 596 are residential.  

ESTIMATED POPULATION WITHIN PLAN AREA 

The County’s 2016 Master Plan includes a population summary based on data from 2014. This information 
is reproduced in Table 5 below along with an estimate of current population provided by the State 
Demographer. The population estimate for Storey County for 2019 was 4,258. The Demographer also 
provides estimates for Gold Hill and Virginia City. The 2019 population of the other areas in Table 5 were 
estimated based on the Demographer’s information and 2014 population estimates from the 2016 Master 
Plan. The estimated population of the Plan Area is 3,346 persons.  



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
2 January 2023

Table 5: Current Population and Household Size 
Area 2014 2019 

Storey County 3,974 4,258 

Gold Hill 201 206 

Virginia City 832 904 

Highlands 1,398 1,498

Mark Twain 689 738 

Lockwood/River 979 1,049

Household Size 2.1 2.1 
i Sources: (Storey County, 2016); (Demographer, 2020) 

3.0 WATER RESOURCES 

The major water supply within the Plan Area is the Marlette Lake Water System (Marlette System). The 
Marlette System is owned and operated by the State of Nevada (State). Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statute 
(NRS) 331.160, the Public Works Division (NPWD) is responsible for the supervision and administration 
of the system which includes transmission and storage of water in Storey County, Carson City, and Washoe 
County. Currently, Carson City and Storey County are the only two customers of the Marlette System.  

The Marlette System provides water to the County to supply customers in Virginia City and Gold Hill. The 
County also delivers water to Silver City located in Lyon County. The remaining populated areas are 
supplied by individual domestic wells. 

4.0 WATER RIGHTS IN NEVADA 

The Nevada Division of Water Resources (NDWR) is the regulatory authority for water rights in the State 
of Nevada. The Nevada State Engineer (NSE), as head of this division, approves or denies water right 
applications, establishes limitations to water usage and manages dam safety operations within the State.  

WATER RIGHT PRIORITY AND APPROPRIATION STATUTES AND REGULATION 

The legal process to acquire water rights and transfer those rights to the subject property is defined by 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) Chapters 533 and 534, Nevada Administrative Code (NAC), and internal 
office policy. All water, whether above or below the surface of the ground is owned by the public. Nevada 
water right law is based on the prior appropriation doctrine, otherwise known as “first in time, first in right.” 
By filing an application to appropriate through the office of the Nevada State Engineer (NSE), surface water 
resources have been appropriated since 1905 and groundwater resources in Nevada have been appropriated 
for use since 1939. The priority date assigned to each water right establishes what water rights can be 
exercised from a source depending on available water at a given time.  

Another pillar of Nevada water right law is the concept of beneficial use. Beneficial use is the basis, 
measure, and limit to the water right. This means that only the portion of the water right that can be used 
beneficially is established as the perfected, or certificated water right. To allow water right owners 
flexibility to place their rights to beneficial use, there is a process to change or move the permitted location 
of these water rights to meet project demands. Furthermore, if the beneficial use of the right was initiated 
prior to the 1905 or 1939 appropriation dates for surface water and groundwater, respectively, those rights 
are deemed vested water rights and are thus more senior than rights appropriated after 1905 or 1939.  

For general purposes, statutes for groundwater rights and surface water rights are in separate chapters in 
the NRS. While these rights have generally been administered separately, current legislative actions have 
established conjunctive use management requirements that the Nevada State Engineer must adhere to. For 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
3 January 2023

the purposes of this Plan, we will consider groundwater rights and surface water rights separate, though 
long-term water right management should consider future conjunctive use implications. 

NEVADA STATE ENGINEER REGULATORY ACTIONS 

Dayton Valley and the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basins are within the Plan Area. The NSE has 
designated both groundwater basins under Orders 471 and 688 in Dayton Valley and Order 705 in the 
Tracey Segment. These designation Orders provide the NSE additional regulatory tools to manage 
groundwater appropriation such as designation of preferred/non-preferred uses and processing applications 
out of filing order.  

The Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basin is considered over-appropriated. NSE Ruling 5823 established the 
perennial yield between 8,000 and 20,000 acre-feet annually (AFA) and approximately 24,495 AFA are 
currently appropriated. The Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin is nearing the perennial yield of 11,500 
AFA according to NSE Ruling 5747, with approximately 11,230 AFA appropriated. For planning purposes, 
the ability to obtain new appropriations for groundwater in either hydrographic basin is considered limited. 

WATER RIGHT OWNERSHIP 

Water rights in the Marlette System have been held by different parties over the years. Reports of 
Conveyance which update water right ownership must be submitted to NDWR, and deeds that transfer 
ownership are recorded in the respective County Recorder’s office. Water right ownership processes are 
important to understand especially as the County does not own the water rights to the Marlette System. 
Currently, the State owns all water rights associated with Marlette System approved for use within the 
County which are described below. Each of the water rights owned by the State defines the place of use as 
Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and Carson City. Prior to the State being able to deliver water to 
locations not currently included as the place of use, an application to expand the place of use would have 
to be submitted and approved by the NSE.  

5.0 MARLETTE WATER SYSTEM 

The Marlette System dates back to the 1870’s and includes several water sources. The following is a 
summary of the Marlette System sources and water rights.  

FRANKTOWN CREEK DECREE 

The Franktown Creek Decree defines the water rights to streams on the eastern slope of the Sierra Nevada 
Mountains which are associated with the Marlette System. The decree is the result of a 1951 petition by the 
Franktown Creek Irrigation District to the State Engineer to determine the relative rights of claimants to the 
waters of Franktown Creek. At the time of the decree, the water rights to the Marlette System were held by 
Marlette Lake Company. The decree states that the water source for Marlette Lake Company is, “Hobart 
Creek (tributary to Franktown Creek) and certain waters in the Franktown Creek Watershed proper having 
sources in the eastern slopes of the Sierra Nevada Mountains at and above Red House” (Franktown Creek 
Decree, 1961). The decree also states that the Marlette Lake Company had the right to store water in the 
110-acre foot Hobart Reservoir. Water stored in Hobart Reservoir is released to supplement flows in the
natural channel. The amount of the Claim was limited to 10 cubic feet per second (cfs) based on the capacity
of the flumes downstream from Red House (Affirmation, 1963). This water right is described as Franktown
Decree Claim V-02419 and is deemed “vested” since the beneficial use of this water right was initiated
prior to March 1, 1905. The specific priority and volume for these rights will be determined in the future
should Franktown Creek undergo an adjudication.



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
4 January 2023

MARLETTE LAKE WATER RIGHTS 

Marlette Lake was originally constructed in 1873. A tunnel was constructed through Herlan Peak to connect 
Marlette Lake to Franktown Creek and Hobart Reservoir. Marlette Lake had an initial capacity of about 
3,400 acre-feet (AF) when it was constructed in 1873. The dam was subsequently raised to its current height 
in 1959 to bring the capacity to approximately 11,500 AF. Prior to purchase by the State, discussed further 
below, there were no documented water rights associated with Marlette Lake as the original construction 
pre-dated the statutory requirements to file an application. Marlette Lake water rights are currently subject 
to an agreement between the State’s Building and Grounds Department and Nevada Department of Wildlife. 
The agreement limits annual diversions to maintain a minimum water surface elevation necessary for 
spawning of the for the Lahontan Cutthroat Trout and could impact water resource availability should the 
County require water from Marlette Lake in any given year. 

MARLETTE SYSTEM SURFACE WATER RIGHTS 

In 1963, Marlette Lake Company sold all property, water rights, easements and improvements associated 
with the Marlette System to the State. This included Marlette Lake, all water rights included in the 
Franktown Creek Decree (i.e., waters above Red House Diversion Dam and Hobart Lake), Five Mile 
Reservoir and waters of Mill Creek, Tunnel Creek and others draining into the North Flume. Following the 
purchase of these rights, the State filed additional water right applications. A summary of these water rights 
is provided in Table 6. 



W
at

er
 R

es
o

u
rc

e 
P

la
n

 
W

at
er

 D
em

an
d

s,
 S

o
u

rc
es

 a
n

d
 M

an
ag

em
en

t

FI
N

AL
 

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y 
5 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
23

 

T
ab

le
 6

: M
ar

le
tt

e 
Sy

st
em

 W
at

er
 R

ig
ht

s 

O
w

ne
r 

of
 

R
ec

or
d 

A
pp

 
C

er
t 

Pr
io

ri
ty

 
D

at
e 

A
pp

 
St

at
us

 
So

ur
ce

 
So

ur
ce

 
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n 
T

yp
e 

of
 

U
se

 

D
iv

. 
R

at
e 

(c
fs

) 

D
ut

y 
(A

FA
/S

) 
A

F 
St

or
ag

e 

M
ar

le
tt

e 
D

ra
in

ag
e 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

2
4

8
7

7
 

8
8

5
5

 
1

/2
2

/1
9

6
9

 
C

er
ti

fi
ca

te
 

S
tr

ea
m

 
M

ar
le

tt
e 

C
re

ek
 a

n
d

 
L

ak
e 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.0
0

0
 

9
0

.7
9

 
3

,0
0

0
 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

3
0

8
9

6
 

--
  

1
2

/8
/1

9
7

6
 

P
er

m
it

 
S

tr
ea

m
 

M
ar

le
tt

e 
C

re
ek

 a
n

d
 

L
ak

e 
an

d
 

T
ri

b
u

ta
ry

 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.0
0

0
 

3
,0

0
0

.0
0

 
0

 

H
ob

ar
t D

ra
in

ag
e 

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

2
4

8
7

6
 

8
8

0
1

 
1

/2
2

/1
9

6
9

 
C

er
ti

fi
ca

te
 

U
n

d
er

g
ro

u
n

d
T

u
n

n
el

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
0

.7
1

0
 

5
1

4
.0

0
0

N
ev

ad
a 

B
u

il
d

in
g

 
an

d
 

G
ro

u
n

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

3
0

8
9

5
 

1
0

7
8

6
 

1
2

/8
/1

9
7

6
 

C
er

ti
fi

ca
te

 
U

n
d

er
g

ro
u

n
d

 
T

u
n

n
el

 
M

u
n

ic
ip

al
 

0
.8

3
6

 
6

3
1

.8
9

 
0

 

N
ev

ad
a 

S
ta

te
 

L
an

d
s 

D
iv

is
io

n
 

V
0

2
4

1
9

 
--

  
1

/8
/1

8
7

1
 

D
ec

re
e 

S
tr

ea
m

 
H

o
b

ar
t 

C
re

ek
 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 
1

0
.0

0
0

 
7

,2
4

0
.1

4
i  

-

i 
–

 N
o

t 
to

 e
x

ce
ed

. 
V

o
lu

m
e 

n
o

t 
sp

ec
if

ie
d

 i
n

 F
ra

n
k

to
w

n
 D

ec
re

e.
 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
6 January 2023

CONTRACT BETWEEN STATE OF NEVADA AND STOREY COUNTY 

As described in this section, all water rights for the Marlette System are owned by the State and 
administered by NPWD. The State has provided water to Storey County since 1963. Historically, the State 
has entered into 10-year contracts with the County for delivery of Marlette System water. This is currently 
the only supply available to County water customers located in Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. 
Currently, the County and the State are negotiating a new contract. While this occurs, the entities have 
agreed to operate under the terms of the prior contract dated October 23, 2002 (2002 Contract).  

The 2002 Contract includes a table summarizing the maximum amount of raw water to be supplied to the 
County each year through 2021. A portion of this information is reproduced in Table 7. It is important to 
note that this is for illustrative purposes only and does not represent any indication of current negotiations 
between the State and County.  

Table 7: County Delivery Limits per 2002 Contract (Supply Contract, 2002) 

Year 
June, July, Aug., & 

Sept. Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Remaining Month 
Daily Peak Limit 
(gallons per day) 

Annual Use Limit 
(acre-feet) 

2015 833,500 533,500 448.2

2016 846,500 546,500 456.1

2017 859,500 559,500 464.0

2018 872,500 572,500 471.9

2019 885,500 585,500 479.8

2020 898,500 598,500 487.7

2021 911,500 611,500 495.6

6.0 WATER RIGHTS WITHIN STOREY COUNTY 

There are other water users within the southern portion of Storey County which rely on water rights to 
groundwater, springs, and small streams. These water rights are currently not permitted for municipal 
purposes and are instead for use by individuals or companies for mining and milling, stock water, irrigation, 
environmental, domestic, and quasi-municipal purposes. A more specific study or analysis is needed to 
determine if these rights may be available to the County for M&I uses in the future.  

TRACEY SEGMENT WATER RIGHTS 

The County is listed as the owner of two groundwater rights within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic 
Basin. These water rights are permitted for use in the Canyon General Improvement District (GID)1 water 
system, although the GID maintains a separate holding of rights which are used to provide service to its 
non-County facility customers. Permit No. 80870, and Permit 50553, Certificate No. 18224 are for quasi-
municipal and domestic uses to support County facilities and uses within the GID service area. These water 
rights represent approximately 48.5 AF in two production wells. For planning purposes, the balance of 
water rights above what is being used to support County facilities in the GID service area could be 
transferred to another location within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin. A more specific study or 
analysis is needed to determine the exact balance of these rights that may be available to the County for use 
in the basin. 

1 The canyon GID is outside of the Water Resource Plan study area. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
7 January 2023

DAYTON VALLEY WATER RIGHTS 

A review of water rights appropriated by Storey County in the Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basin indicates 
four previous applications, which have been cancelled or denied, that sought water rights to support fire 
protection and storage for treated effluent. The applications and permits contain limited information as to 
the nature of the cancellation or denial, but several attempts to appropriate water since the 1980s may 
indicate a need for this water.  

Recommendations for applying for and permitting water rights to support fire protection needs and 
distribution of treated effluent will be developed in subsequent chapters. 

DOMESTIC GROUNDWATER USE 

A water right is not required for a domestic well to serve a single-family dwelling. Groundwater use for 
domestic purposes is not to exceed 2 AF per year. There are portions of three hydrographic basins within 
the Plan area including Tracy Segment, Dayton Valley and a small portion of the Truckee Meadows as 
shown in Figure 2. NDWR documents the number of domestic wells within each groundwater basin and 
then estimates domestic use at 1 AF per year for each domestic well. Based on current County GIS data, 
the number of single-family residences with a domestic well within the Plan area was determined, and the 
same assumption of 1 AF per year for each domestic well was applied. Table 8 summarizes the volume of 
committed groundwater resources associated with domestic wells2 (i.e., 2 AF per domestic well) and the 
estimated volume pumped for the entire basin and for the portions within the Plan area.  

Table 8: Domestic Pumpage Estimates 

Basin 
NDWR Values for Basini Plan Area Estimatesii 

Committed 
Volume (AF) 

Estimated 
Annual Use (AF) 

Committed 
Volume (AF) 

Estimated 
Annual Use (AF) 

Dayton Valley 3,012 1,506 744 372 

Tracy Segment 1,460 730 1,064 532

Truckee Meadows 3,498 1,749 80 40 
i This information is based on the Water Year 2017 Pumpage Inventories for the Dayton Valley, Tracy Segment 

and Truckee Meadows Hydrographic Basins. 
ii The Plan Area estimates are based on a query of the NDWR Well Log Database dated November 15, 2019 and 

downloaded from the NDWR website on February 26, 2020 along with Storey County assessor parcel data. 

2 Domestic wells are exempt from water right permitting requirements in the State of Nevada unless the maximum 
demand of the user exceeds 2 acre-feet annually. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
8 January 2023

7.0 WATER PRODUCTION AND FACILITIES 

As described above, the County’s primary water source is surface water which originates from the Marlette 
System which consists of two reservoirs, several catchment basins, and a diversion dam on Hobart Creek 
at Red House. The current capacity of the flumed pipe diverting water at Red House Dam is about 7 cfs. 
From the Red House Division Dam, the pipe discharges to the Lakeview Tank. At this location, water can 
be directed towards Carson City or Storey County.  

STOREY COUNTY WATER SYSTEM FACILITIES 

Water for the County is delivered through a seven-mile inverted siphon which transitions to a pipeline. The 
County’s ownership of the system begins at the location where the siphon crosses under Interstate 580 at 
Lakeview, north of Carson City. The transmission line discharges to the Five-Mile Reservoir and/or the 
Five-Mile Tank. The transmission main from the Lakeview Tank to Five-Mile is currently operated at a 
flow rate up to 320 gallons per minute3 (gpm). During normal operations, the transmission line discharges 
directly to Five-Mile Reservoir which fills the tank or continues northeast to the Bullion Tank then through 
the water treatment plant at the south end of Virginia City.  

The water treatment plant is a filtration plant used to meet surface water treatment requirements and has a 
capacity of 1.2 MGD4. The treated water is then pumped into the Hillside storage tanks. From the Hillside 
tanks, the water flows directly into the distribution system and can also fill the Taylor Tank and Divide 
Tank. Water from the Divide Tank is used to supply Gold Hill and also fills the Silver City Tank to supply 
the community of Silver City. 

STOREY COUNTY SYSTEM DEMANDS 

Within the County’s system, water flows are metered at numerous locations that can be considered when 
analyzing the system demands. For the purpose of this Plan, water meter data for deliveries to the County’s 
system at the Lakeview Tank (source), water treatment plant and customer service connections (end user) 
were reviewed and analyzed.  

7.2.1 Raw Water Delivery 

Raw water from the Marlette System is measured by a flow meter at the Lakeview Tank. The County is 
billed for raw water provided by the State based on readings at this meter. Table 9 summarizes raw water 
deliveries to the County during 2016 through 2019. During this time, the County used an average of 
approximately 221 AF per year.  

3 If 320 gpm were to be delivered continuously, this would be equal to approximately 516 AFA. The maximum 
capacity of the siphon is estimated at 738 gpm (1,190 afa) but the flows are throttled down with valves below the 
Lakeview Tank. 
4 Based on design capacity flow rate of 875 gpm. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
9 January 2023

Table 9: Monthly Raw Water Deliveries (Acre-Feet) 
Year Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total 
2016 12.3 11.2 13.3 14.3 16.8 26.7 34.5 30.9 27.3 16.9 11.6 12.0 227.7 
2017 11.9 11.1 13.0 11.3 18.0 30.5 33.1 31.4 25.3 16.8 13.2 18.4 234.0 
2018 11.7 7.5 13.0 14.4 19.4 27.7 31.8 34.2 25.8 18.6 11.4 9.6 225.1 
2019 9.0 9.4 9.9 10.6 18.9 23.6 28.1 27.0 23.1 16.5 11.8 9.1 196.9 
Avg. 11.2 9.8 12.3 12.6 18.2 27.1 31.8 30.9 25.4 17.2 12.0 12.3 220.9 

7.2.2 Water Treatment Plant Production 

The water treatment plant was constructed in 1997 and consists of three filters. Figure 3 shows the monthly 
average flow rate through the water treatment plant during 2016 through 2019. The average production at 
the treatment plant during this time period was 210 AF per year which equals an average flow rate of 131 
gpm. The monthly average treatment plant flows also provide the seasonal demand curve. This seasonal 
demand curve is typical and shows increased system demand during warmer months when yard irrigation 
occurs and tourist activity increases. Reduced demand occurs during the cooler, non-irrigation months when 
tourism slows off its summer and fall peak. Maximum summer production is 2.9 times greater than 
minimum wintertime production. 

Figure 3: Monthly Average Water Treatment Plan Production (2016 – 2019) 

7.2.3 Customer Meter Records  

Deliveries to the majority of customers in the County’s systems are metered. Currently, the County Public 
Works shop and the sewer treatment plant are not metered. Table 10 through Table 12 summarizes the daily 
average and maximum water use, in addition to the flow rate, based on monthly customer records provided 
by the County for 2018 through 2021. The average demand during this time period was approximately 
153,100 gallons per day, or 106.3 gpm. Residential customers accounted for 60 percent of this demand, at 
92,800 gallons, or 64.5 gpm, on average. Commercial customers accounted for the other 40 percent at 
60,300 gallons, or 41.8 gpm, on average. There was approximately 25 percent of the non-peak daily flow 
limit from the Marlette System, in 2020.  

0

50

100

150

200

250

Pr
od

uc
tio

n�
(g
pm

)



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
10 January 2023

Between 2018 and 2021, the average maximum day demand was 284,110 gallons per day, or 197.3 gpm. 
This was approximately 30 percent of the summertime daily flow limit from the Marlette System, in 2020. 
Residential customers used 167,600 gallons of maximum day demand, on average, or 116.4 gpm. 
Commercial customers used 116,500 gallons of maximum day demand, equating to 80.9 gpm, on average.  

Table 10: Residential Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 
2018 88.0 61.1 177.5 123.3

2019 84.1 58.4 158.6 110.1

2020 95.4 66.2 154.4 107.2

2021 103.8 72.1 179.9 124.9

Average 88.0 61.1 177.5 123.3

Table 11: Commercial Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 

2018 55.6 38.6 102.6 71.3

2019 53.1 36.9 96.3 66.9

2020 62.1 43.1 122.4 85.0

2021 70.2 48.8 144.6 100.4

Average 55.6 38.6 102.6 71.3

Table 12: Total Customer Demand 

Year 
Daily Average Maximum 

Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) Delivery (kgal) Flow Rate (gpm) 

2018 143.7 99.8 280.2 194.6

2019 137.2 95.3 254.9 177.0

2020 157.5 109.4 276.8 192.2

2021 174.0 120.9 324.5 225.3

Average 143.7 99.8 280.2 194.6

WATER DEMAND FACTORS 

Water demands for a system are typically presented in four ways: 

� Average Annual Demand (AAD),

� Average Day Demand (ADD),

� Maximum Day Demand (MDD), and



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
11 January 2023

� Peak Hour Demand (PHD).

For the purposes of this Plan, system water demand factors are based on the WTP flow meter data. As stated 
above, the average production at the WTP, or AAD, was 210 AF per year. Therefore, the average flow rate 
(ADD) during the study period of 2016 through 2019 was 131 gpm. Based on the monthly flow data 
provided, the daily flow during the maximum month was 1.75 times greater than the average day flow. 
Because daily data are not available, a more conservative peaking factor of 2.0 is used for this Plan. PHD 
is also based on an assumed PHD peaking factor of 4.0 x ADD. Table 13 summarizes the system demands 
which will be used in this Plan.  

Table 13: System Demands 
System Demand Demand Volume or Flow Peaking Factor 

AAD 210 AF per year N/A 

ADD 131 gpm N/A

MDD 262 gpm 2.0 x ADD 

PHD 524 gpm 4.0 x ADD 

Based on the customer meter analysis presented in Section 7.2.3, the average water consumption for 
residential customers is 0.17 AF per year while commercial customers average 0.33 AF per year. An 
average connection demand of 0.30 AF (0.19 gpm or 268 gpd) per residential connection and 0.50 AF (0.31 
gpm or 446 gpd) per commercial connection will be used in this Plan to estimate future water demands.  

UNACCOUNTED FOR WATER 

Unaccounted for water (UAFW) is the difference between the quantity of water purchased/produced and 
the quantity of water delivered to customers or billed. UAFW is not the same as water loss, as losses are 
only a component of UAFW. Figure 4 shows the percentage of revenue water which is the counterpart to 
UAFW and is calculated by dividing the customer meter volume by raw water deliveries. From 2016 
through 2019, revenue water fluctuated between 65 and 75 percent on an annual basis, with a non-weighted 
average of 70 percent.  

There are numerous factors that can contribute to UFAW or non-revenue water including waterline leaks, 
evaporative losses at Five-Mile Reservoir5, process losses at the water treatment plant, system flushing, 
unmetered connections, fire hydrants and unmetered construction water usage. The Divide Reservoir1, 
which holds 1.5 million gallons of treated water and is used for fire protection, is another connection which 
is not metered. The Divide Reservoir is located in Virginia City and is on an automatic fill which regularly 
offsets evaporation, and larger refills occur following use for fire protection. In addition, during the period 
of 2016 through 2019, several large construction projects took place including a sewer system improvement 
project, a water main extension/replacement project and construction of the courthouse parking lot with 
retaining walls. All of these would contribute to the volume of unmetered or unbilled water. It is 
recommended that the County pursue a comprehensive water loss analysis or audit to confirm the primary 
contributor(s) to system non-revenue water and reduce this volume below 15 percent of all water purchased 
from the Marlette Water System. 

5 Average annual evaporative losses at the Five-Mile and Divide Reservoirs are estimated at 1.24 and 0.74 acre-feet, 
respectively. Combined, these losses make up less than one percent of average annual raw water deliveries. 



Water Resource Plan Water Demands, Sources and Management

FINAL Storey County
12 January 2023

Figure 4: Annual Percentage of Revenue Water 

WATER STORAGE FACILITIES 

The County uses non-potable and potable water storage facilities to operate the water system. Table 14 
summarizes the capacity of each of the tanks and reservoirs in the County’s System. The potable water 
tanks are designed to provide operational, emergency and fire storage (see NAC 445A.6674 through 6675); 
however, the Divide Reservoir is used to store water for wildland fire protection purposes only. Additional 
information and analysis regarding the benefit of water storage is provided in Chapter 2.  

Table 14: Water Storage Facilities 
Tank Raw/Potable Operational Capacity (gal) 

Five Mile Reservoir Raw 5,600,000 

Five Mile Tank Raw 500,000 

Bullion Tank Raw 1,400,000 

Total Raw Water Storage =  7,500,000 
Hillside Tank No. 1 Potable 500,000 

Hillside Tank No. 2 Potable 500,000 

Taylor Tank Potable 200,000 

Divide Tank Potable 115,000 

Silver City Tank Potable 160,000 

Total Potable Water Storage =  1,475,000 
Divide Reservoir i Potable 1,552,000

i The Divide Reservoir is located at the south end of Virginia City. The reservoir is filled with potable water; 
however, it is currently only used for wildland fire protection purposes only and does not contribute to system 
storage volumes. 

70%
65%

69%
75%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2016 2017 2018 2019



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
13 January 2023

CHAPTER 2: SOURCE WATER RELIABILITY 

1.0 PURPOSE 

The purpose of this chapter is to assess the availability, capacity and quality of each water source used 
within the Plan Area as shown on Figure 2. Additionally, this chapter identifies risks associated with each 
source and provides strategies to mitigate those potential threats. This chapter also includes an analysis of 
remaining capacity of Storey County Water System facilities.  

2.0 WATER RESOURCE AVAILABILITY AND MANAGEMENT 

Water resources within the Plan Area are less than current demand. The County lies in the rain shadows 
created by the Sierra Nevada Mountains and the Virginia Range. Average annual precipitation in the Plan 
Area is approximately 12.5 inches per year based on a Western Regional Climate Center station located in 
Virginia City (WRCC, 2020). Annual recharge of area aquifers is limited due to inadequate elevation of the 
Plan Area and adjoining areas for significant recharge.  The primary source of recharge occurs within the 
upslope mountain block and is attributed to snowpack melt and infiltration from winter storms.  Recharge 
from drainages can provide an additional source of recharge depending on the slope and soil 
permeability.  The Highlands is dependent on local recharge within the mountain block without significant 
impact from adjoining areas.   The Mark Twain area water resources are impacted by mountain block 
(“upslope”) recharge, recharge conveyed by drainages and the Carson River watershed.  

As a result of significant mining activities in the second half of the 19th century, an external water source 
was brought in to supply domestic and mining uses. This source of water is surface water, supplied by the 
Marlette Water System from the eastern slope of the Sierra in the Tahoe Basin and is conveyed through a 
reverse siphon transmission pipeline for approximately 7 miles. This section of the Plan will address the 
availability of water and current management practices for these existing resources.  

ESTIMATED USE WITHIN PLAN AREA 

Recent water use in the Plan Area is estimated to be 1,157 AF per year. Of this volume, 221 AF is raw 
water from the Marlette System used to serve Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. The remainder is 
unmetered groundwater used by private domestic wells. Utilizing a consumption rate of 1 AF per domestic 
well it is estimated that 588 AF is pumped in the Highlands, 333 AF in Mark Twain, and 15 AF in the 
American Flat area.  

SURFACE WATER 

The annual volume of water available under the Franktown Decree to NPWD is approximately 7,200 AFA. 
Based on the information in Chapter 1, the County can use up to 487.7 AF during 2020. This is more than 
double the County Water System’s current demand. Because water from the Franktown Decree can also be 
supplemented by water stored in Marlette Lake, the Marlette Water System is a very reliable water source 
for Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. However, the maximum volume of water available from the 
Marlette Water System is restricted by transmission pipeline capacity and impacted by annual snowpack, 
fishery management at Marlette Lake, and operating agreement limits. 

Future water demands, including a buildout scenario, will be analyzed as part of this Plan in chapter 3. This 
analysis will assist the County in determining the future needs within the Plan Area. Due to groundwater 
limitations described in Section 2.3, the County must pursue amending its Contract with the State to allow 
delivery of water to American Flat, the Highlands and Mark Twain.  



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
14 January 2023

GROUNDWATER 

In total, Storey County overlies portions of six groundwater basins with the Plan Area overlying portions 
of four basins. Most of the Highlands area lies within the Tracy Segment Basin (083) and the majority of 
the Comstock and Mark Twain areas lie within the Dayton Valley (103) Basin. Because of limited recharge 
and water right appropriations exceeding perennial yields, groundwater development within the Plan Area 
is limited to predominantly domestic wells. Groundwater availability for the wells varies annually 
depending on precipitation, pumping, and corresponding water in groundwater storage. As identified in the 
chapter 1, future groundwater development will be discussed for the Plan Area and not the entire County. 

The Highlands area currently has approximately 588 domestic wells ranging in screen depths from about 
53 to 1,500 feet below ground surface. A significant portion of the wells in the area have been deepened 
over time as the more wells that are added to the area require a greater amount of groundwater from the 
aquifer, thus resulting in a lowering of the water table. Extended dry periods including between the period 
between 2013 through 2015 also generally resulted in less water availability. More specifically, Highlands 
area residents have experienced drawdown ranging upwards of 240-feet in the past requiring wells to be 
deepened or replaced. 

The United States Geologic Survey (USGS) has been contracted to conduct a study of this area and has 
presented preliminary data in 2019 and 2020. Initial data indicates that groundwater levels have declined 
approximately 50 to 165 feet within the past two decades (Smith, 2020) in some areas. The study will also 
evaluate water level trends in the Highlands, develop water table and water level change maps, characterize 
the fractured volcanic rock aquifer(s)6 hydraulic properties and estimate recharge rates. The resulting 5-
year study, expected in 2022, will provide valuable data that will assist the County in water resource 
planning. The current groundwater availability in the Highlands is inadequate to support current demands 
and will not be able to support the buildout condition of the existing lots with cost effective wells. Some 
residents are currently relying on trucked water and private storage tanks. Although the upper elevations of 
the Highlands watershed may allow for natural recharge, capturing or diverting precipitation from surface 
water runoff for local recharge is either not allowed7 or is already included in determining the perennial 
yield of the basin and would not result in any additional appropriative right(s). A comprehensive study of 
the water quality in the Highlands area has not been completed to date, although data which has been made 
available indicates groundwater in the Highlands can have high concentrations of constituents including, 
but not limited to total dissolved solids and iron. In fact, most Highlands residents employ some form of 
filtration treatment technology in their homes for the removal of iron from their domestic well. 

The Mark Twain area currently has approximately 333 domestic wells ranging in depths from about 80 to 
700 feet below ground surface. The area is proximal to Dayton, Nevada which relies on municipal and 
domestic production wells that produce groundwater from the same alluvial aquifer. Some wells in the 
Mark Twain area north of the alluvial basin require wells completed in fractured rock aquifers that are 
typically more limited in capacity and recharge than the alluvial aquifer. Like the Highlands, extensive 
water quality data does not exist for this area, although wells adjacent to this area have not meet water 
quality standards required for community water systems in the past. Residents in this area have experienced 
wells going dry when the total depth of the well is 170-feet or less.    

The Comstock area includes an area commonly referred to as American Flat, which presently supports 
approximately 15 domestic wells. Currently, a mine and heap-leach facility is located in American Flat. A 
company purchased residences in the area to house mine workers and guests. Originally, American Flat 

6 Volcanic rock aquifers are known to offer reduced water storage capacity and provide very limited recharge as 
compared to aquifers in other geologic units. 
7 A single surface water permit was found for Long Valley Creek for industrial purposes. Any additional appropriation 
would need to ensure that this senior right would not be negatively impacted by the proposed use. No surface water 
rights associated with Lagomarsino Creek were found on the NDWR database. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
15 January 2023

was part of the County water system and received treated surface water from the Marlette System. In 1964, 
American Flat was excised from the County water services and is now supported by groundwater through 
two domestic wells. With a total of 44 domestic wells lying within the Comstock area the amount of 
groundwater being used is small. Also, hydrogeology characteristics indicate that the costs associated with 
drilling higher capacity production wells will exceed the benefits that would be realized by developing 
groundwater resources in this area. Additionally, water quality in the Comstock is suspected to generally 
not meet drinking water maximum contaminant levels due to hydrothermal mineralization and historic (i.e., 
19th century) anthropogenic contamination from mining processes. A current liability for the Storey County 
Water System is the absence of any formal agreement for providing water service to the community of 
Silver City (Lyon County). It is strongly recommended that Storey County and Lyon County work together 
to enter into an agreement which clearly defines Storey County’s responsibility(s) to provide water service 
to future development in Silver City. 

Because all existing wells in the Plan Area are domestic wells, which are owned and operated by private 
residents, the County’s ability to have influence on the ongoing management of groundwater use may be 
limited. In the 2016 Master Plan, the County developed many objectives and policies regarding 
groundwater use within the Plan Area and it is recommended that the County enforce and build on these 
policies to protect the sustainability of current groundwater resources. The County shall provide education 
and guidance to private landowners that production from existing domestic wells in the Virginia Highlands 
is not sustainable and deepening of domestic wells is a cyclic, never-ending process. The County could 
require individual landowners to demonstrate that their proposed domestic well will not negatively impact 
adjacent landowners by enforcing a policy such as: 

Policy: If a proposed domestic well is to be installed within a distance of approximately 1 
mile of an existing domestic well(s), then water level data for existing well(s) within 1 mile 
of the proposed well should be reviewed and determined to have an annual average 
drawdown of less than 0.25 feet per year for a 10-year period. If the annual average 
drawdown is determined to be greater than 0.25 feet per year, drilling of additional 
domestic wells within the one-mile radius should not be allowed due to impacts to existing 
groundwater users. Additionally, after the installation of any new domestic well, water 
level data shall be collected and provided annually to the County. Water level trends should 
indicate an average steady decline of no greater 0.25 feet in the new domestic well for each 
of the past 10 years prior to the site being deemed sustainable for domestic use. If the well 
is not found to be sustainable, the residence will be required to abandon the well and receive 
water from an external source (i.e., delivery truck). The County reserves the right to 
increase or decrease the proposed allowable rate of 0.25 feet per year as aquifer conditions 
change over time. 

Another proposed policy which will improve the sustainability of local aquifers and provide valuable data 
for the long-term understanding of aquifer conditions is the implementation of water meters on domestic 
wells. The proposed policy should include the following provisions: 

Policy: Unless the residence is granted a waiver by Storey County, all domestic well users 
must install a meter to measure all water produced by the well. The meter must comply 
with County specifications and provide electronic direct read transfer of data to County 
Public Works equipment. The meters are to be used for quantifying the capacity of the 
limited aquifers in the County. The County may also use the meter data to enforce state 
limitations for the production of groundwater (i.e., 2 acre-feet annually maximum) or any 
future restrictions to domestic groundwater production. 

Per Chapter 16 of the Storey County Code, land subdivision applications must also demonstrate that a 
sufficient volume of uncommitted water exists to serve the needs of the development as well as evidence 
that the use of water for the development will not adversely impact existing surrounding residents, 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
16 January 2023

properties and uses. Procurement of the necessary water is not required until filing for final map at which 
point the sufficiency of the rights will be reviewed by the County and NDWR. This policy is beneficial to 
future groundwater sustainability. It is also recommended that the County continue to develop their 
groundwater management plan, through studies like this plan and by participating in more specific studies, 
to guide groundwater use in these areas. See appendix A for supporting information. 

3.0 THREATS TO EXISTING AND FUTURE WATER RESOURCES 

For the County to provide a reliable water supply to its Storey County Water System customers, it must 
consider any potential changes which may affect its water source and supply. Additionally, residents outside 
of the Water System’s service area must also be aware of potential risks. The risks and threats presented in 
this section are typically out of a water supplier’s and private well owner’s control; however, proper 
management and planning can mitigate their impacts. This section identifies potential threats to water 
supplies within the Plan Area. Recommendations as to how the County and residents can mitigate these 
threats are discussed in this chapter and in chapter 3.  

DROUGHT AND CLIMATE CHANGE 

The Storey County Water System’s only source of water is from the Sierra Nevada Mountains. The amount 
of water available to the County system through the Marlette Water System is directly dependent on 
seasonal storms and the snowpack on the East Slope of the Tahoe Basin and in the Marlette/Hobart Lake 
watershed and existing pipeline capacity at the siphon.  Extended periods of below average precipitation 
are known to occur in the Tahoe Basin and on the eastern side of the Sierra Nevada which have the potential 
to reduce the amount of water available in any given year. However, this condition is mitigated by the 
upstream Marlette and Hobart storage reservoirs.  

Extended periods of dry weather are especially known to affect the availability of groundwater within the 
Plan Area. As mentioned previously, the drought which occurred from 2013 through 2015 resulted in 
declining groundwater levels within the Virginia Highlands. Some homeowners had to deepen their wells 
to be able to pump the groundwater in this area. Drought also affects the Mark Twain area and the Dayton 
Valley. Groundwater in this area is affected by flows in the Carson River which has limited upstream 
storage resulting. Below average precipitation in the Carson River Watershed results in decreased surface 
and subsurface flows through the Dayton Valley which can impact groundwater levels.  

In addition to droughts, which are temporary, climate change is expected to have lasting effects on the 
availability of future water supplies. Climate is used in reference to prevailing weather conditions in an area 
over a long period of time. No climate study or evaluation was undertaken for the purpose of this Plan; 
however, sources were reviewed and referenced regarding climate change and climate predictions. The 
California Department of Water Resources (CDWR) released a report entitled California Climate Science 
and Data for Water Resources Management. Although this report does not include Nevada, it does include
the Tahoe and Carson Basins as part of the North Lahontan hydrologic region8. CDWR summarized the 
key climate vulnerabilities for the North Lahontan region as:  

� Increased air and water temperatures would place additional stress on sensitive ecosystems and
species;

� Loss of snowpack storage may reduce reliability of surface water supplies and result in greater
demand on groundwater resources;

� Magnitude and frequency of extreme precipitation events may increase, resulting in greater flood
risk; and

8 The Marlette Water System is directly adjacent to the North Lahontan hydrologic region which is bounded by the 
eastern border of the State of California. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
17 January 2023

� High temperature and longer dry seasons would increase wildfire risk.

Many of these vulnerabilities not only apply to the region of surface water supply in the Sierra Nevada 
Mountains but are also potential vulnerabilities in and around the Plan Area. CDWR provides a list of 
Resource Management Strategies that water suppliers can consider as tools to adapt to climate change. The 
following are CDWR recommended Resource Management Strategies for the climate vulnerabilities 
identified which are applicable to the County and Plan Area.  

� Urban Water Use Efficiency: Practices that maximize use of available water supplies by reducing
waste and increasing efficiency.

� Conveyance – Regional/Local: Improvement and maintenance of water conveyance systems to
improve system reliability, protect water quality, increase available water supplies, and provide
operational flexibility.

� Conjunctive Management and Groundwater Storage: Coordinated and planned use and
management of surface water and groundwater resources to maximize the availability and
reliability of water supplies.

� Surface Storage – Regional/Local: Human made, above-ground reservoirs to collect water for later
release when needed. Surface storage has played a key role where the quantity, timing and location
of water demand does not match the natural water supply availability.

� Drinking Water Treatment and Distribution: Development and maintenance of public water
treatment and distribution facilities. Reliability, quality, and safety of the raw water supplies are
critical to achieving this goal.

Although timing and magnitude of warming and other climate change factors are unknown, resource 
management strategies such those limited above will be useful considerations for climate change adaption. 
Through the County’s planning efforts, it will be critical to continue assessing potential climate change 
strategies and implement them as feasible and needed.  

REGULATORY ACTIONS 

As discussed throughout this chapter, the County’s water source(s) is governed by State and Federal 
regulatory guidelines, Nevada water rights law, the Franktown Decree and through agreements with the 
Marlette Water System. The water available to the County from the Marlette Water System is also utilized 
by other entities (e.g., Carson City, private irrigation companies) according to their appropriation and 
priority.  Additional parties, agreements and decrees could also influence the quantity and availability of 
water resources should the County pursue groundwater development within the Plan Area in the future. 

The NSE has the ability to regulate groundwater usage within a hydrographic basin by limiting water rights 
based on the priority dates of appropriations. If, in the NSE’s judgement, the hydrographic basin is over-
appropriated and being overdrawn, the NSE can issue a curtailment order. A curtailment9 order establishes 
which water rights can be exercised, and which cannot, to protect the long-term health of the aquifer. Being 
that the County’s current groundwater right holdings are limited, any future appropriations would be very 
junior in priority and would be at a greater risk for curtailment. This risk could be mitigated if the County 
chooses to purchase senior groundwater rights as opposed to filing for new appropriations.  

More importantly, the County should monitor the development of new regulations and determine whether 
they directly impact the County’s current water supply or not. Conjunctive use regulations are currently 
being developed in the Humboldt Regional Hydrographic Basin which could have an impact to future water 
resources the County may or may not pursue. While previous legislative sessions have resulted in 
conjunctive use management statements, there are currently no regulations to guide how groundwater and 

9 Domestic wells are also at risk to the curtailment process. Although bills including such provisions have not made it 
through past State of Nevada legislative sessions. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
18 January 2023

surface water interaction or conflict will work through the existing permitting process. If new conjunctive 
use management regulations are developed, it may impact the County’s ability to acquire, change and 
exercise permitted and certificated groundwater rights.   

Other potential regulatory actions that the County should consider include: 

� Modification to activities and uses which impact basin inflows and outflows.

� Future reduction in water quality maximum contaminant limits.

CONTAMINATION

The County is committed to providing a high level of service with its drinking water system and is dedicated 
to ensuring that level of service in the future. This section focuses on protection of source water quality, 
which is also of importance to private well owners, and ensuring that negative impacts to water quality 
from anthropogenic and natural sources are minimized to the greatest extent possible.  

3.3.1 Surface Water 

Due to the location of the surface water source, which is above any major roads or railways, the source is 
less vulnerable to contamination. However, the County should still be aware of possible contamination 
events including, but not limited to, turbidity events and algal blooms as opposed to toxic spills. The water 
treatment plant is designed to treat surface water but understanding and maintain the highest quality of 
water possible arriving at the plant is important.  

3.3.2 Groundwater 

Changes to water quality of the groundwater sources in the Plan Area can occur in two ways: 

1. The concentrations of naturally occurring constituents could change over time, or
2. Groundwater sources could become contaminated as a result of human activities.

Although the County does not currently utilize groundwater as a water source, constituents which could 
pose threats to the quality of groundwater are Arsenic, Gross Alpha, Uranium, Nitrate, Iron and Manganese. 
The County should encourage private well owners to send the County any water quality data to develop a 
database and monitor trends.  

3.3.3 Distribution System 

The County relies upon certified water treatment and distribution system operators who continually monitor 
water quality in the treatment and distribution systems. All testing and monitoring are done in conformance 
with established health and safety standards and under an operating permit with the Nevada Division of 
Environmental Protection – Bureau of Safe Drinking Water. The County prepares an annual water quality 
Consumer Confidence Report which provides an overview of the previous year’s drinking water quality 
data for the Storey County Water System.  

CONVEYANCE INTERRUPTIONS 

The materials which make up the siphon and transmission main which delivers water from the Marlette 
Water System to the Plan Area are approximately 150 years old and known to have vulnerabilities. In 2018, 
a portion of the line experienced a leak which required emergency repair to ensure continued delivery of 
water to Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. Although the County has 20 to 50 days10 of raw and 
potable water storage within its system, this event and others like it show the importance of regular 
monitoring and maintenance. Due to the age of the transmission main most parts or repairs must be 

10 Range in values is dependent on average or max day water use 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
19 January 2023

completed with custom fittings which are not only costly but require longer lead times. In order to increase 
system reliability and conveyance capacity it may become necessary to replace large portion of the siphon 
in the future.  

4.0 REMAINING CAPACITY ANALYSIS 

A remaining capacity assessment of the System is a critical resource for the County to use to make future 
development determinations. The System’s capacity to convey and provide water to its customers and to 
future users is based on two primary factors: 

1. A System’s ability to operate within the parameters of Nevada Administrative Code (NAC)
regulations; and,

2. Proper allocation of water rights with the NSE.

This section will focus on the existing System capacity and will convert remaining capacity estimates into 
residential connection counts. Remaining capacity evaluations will be made on a combined supply and 
storage basis as described further below. Key assumptions used for this analysis include:   

� Water supply is based on 100% utilization of the siphon transmission main for a 24-hour period.
o The theoretical flow capacity of the siphon transmission main is 73811 gpm.

� Maximum fire demand is assumed to be 3,600 gpm for 2 hours for Virginia City and 1,500 gpm
for 2 hours each for Silver City and Gold Hill. The largest fire demand, 3,600 gpm for 2 hours, will
be used for the combined system analysis.

� Operating Storage is equal to the Average Day Demand (ADD) for 24 hours.

� Emergency Storage is 75% of the Operating Storage.

� The available potable storage within the system is assumed to be 1.475 Mgal12.

REMAINING STORAGE CAPACITY 

Typical capacity calculations use a combination of storage and supply to determine if a system meets NAC 
requirements. However, it is informative to analyze storage and supply capacity separately to better 
understand which of the two is the limiting factor in capacity. Current storage requirements are 762,000 
gallons out of the existing 1,475,000 gallons of storage capacity. Based on the Maximum Day Demand 
(MDD) and operations and emergency supply requirements, the remaining storage capacity can support an
additional 1,519 connections. This assumes that no water is being supplied via the siphon over a 24-hour
period.

The individual systems comprising the larger County system, vary in their storage capacities. The Virginia 
City system has ample storage, while both Gold Hill and Silver City have sufficient storage to meet demands 
as they are currently. This leads to the Virginia City storage providing the bulk capacity for the larger 
County system. 

REMAINING SUPPLY CAPACITY 

Currently, the siphon that provides water to the County System is not metered, so a flow rate has been 
calculated. The siphon that provides water to the County System is primarily 10-inch threaded steel pipe. 
The majority of the pipeline was installed around 1875, with portions of the siphon replaced over the years. 
Due to the age and massive pressures experienced by the siphon in places, the siphon is never operated at 
its full capacity. The siphon begins at the Lakeview Tank, which controls the water diversions to both 
Carson City and Virginia City. Flow to the County Systems is controlled by an actuated flow control valve. 

11 Value listed is the theoretical capacity of the siphon. See Section 4.2 for further information. 
12 For this analysis, the capacities of the Hillside Tanks are assumed to be their future capacity of 500,000 gal each. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
20 January 2023

This valve is never fully opened. Anecdotal evidence shows that the average flow seen in the siphon is 
approximately 320 gpm. The theoretical, calculated capacity of the pipeline is 738 gpm.  

Raw water is conveyed from the 5-Mile Reservoir to the Bullion tank in Virginia City by a 3-mile pipeline 
that is made up of a combination of newer 12-inch high-density polyethylene (HDPE) pipe and older 12-
inch ductile iron pipe. This pipeline is capable of conveying over 2,000 gpm of raw water to the water 
treatment plant. The water treatment plant serving the system is rated at 1.26 MGD. This equates to a flow 
rate of 875 gpm. Therefore, the limiting factor in the overall transmission of raw water to the system is the 
siphon at 738 gpm. A 738 gpm flow rate equates to 4,528 connections in the County system. Removing the 
existing connections, leaves us with a system capacity of 3,862 possible connections. 

Potable water is also transmitted from Virginia City to Gold Hill and then to Silver City. The Gold Hill 
system is fed by the Divide Tank off a separate 12-inch main. This pipe can convey up to 2,800 gpm if 
required. Silver City is fed by a single 4-inch main. This presents capacity issues in the system, as the main 
can only convey up to 315 gpm. Per the system hydraulic model, this flow rate is achieved when filling the 
Silver City Tank. 

REMAINING SYSTEM CAPACITY  

Minimum water system capacity requirements are established in NAC 445A sections 6672 through 66755. 
NAC 445A.6672(3) establishes specific water system capacity requirements for systems relying upon 
groundwater production wells to meet the following scenarios: 

(a) Maximum day demand + fire demand with all water sources functioning, or
(b) Average day demand + fire demand with the most productive well out of service

NAC 445A allows for a combination of water supply wells and storage to satisfy the requirements. Since 
Storey County does not rely on wells for supply, scenario (b) was excluded from this analysis, and it is 
assumed that scenario (a) provides the appropriate assessment of system capacity for the County. Table 15 
provides a summary of the available system capacity, storage requirements and excess storage capacity for 
the potable storage tanks in the County System. The analysis is based on a 24-hour period and considers 
the design ADD of 131 gpm as summarized in Table 15. It is assumed that each potable water tank is filled 
to its operational capacity at the beginning of the 24-hour analysis period. 

Table 15: Existing Customer Base System Capacity Analysis 
MDD + Fire with All Sources 

Storage Type Capacity Requirement (kgal) Capacity Balance (kgal) 
Potable Tank Storage 1,475

Siphon Supply in Excess of Demand13 686

Available System Capacity 2,161
 Fire Storage 432 1,729 

 Operating Storage 189 1,540 

 Emergency Storage 141 1,399 

Based on this analysis, the system has the source and storage capacity to meet the requirements of NAC 
445A.6672 and shows that there is a remaining system capacity of 1,399 kgal. Table 16 provides the 
capacity analysis considering the maximum number of additional connections based on the excess capacity 
shown in Table 16.  

13 Siphon flowrate of 738 gpm used for capacity calculations. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
21 January 2023

Table 16: Existing System Maximum Capacity Analysis (864 Additional Connections) 
MDD + Fire with All Sources 

Storage Type Capacity Requirement (kgal) Capacity Balance (kgal) 
Potable Tank Storage 1,475

Siphon Supply in Excess of Demand7 -60

Available System Capacity 1,415
 Fire Storage 432 983 

 Operating Storage 562 421 

 Emergency Storage 421 0 

As shown, when the number of connections and resulting demands increase, the operating storage and 
emergency storage requirements increase correspondingly. Under the “MDD + Fire with All Sources” the 
existing supply infrastructure and potable storage tank system could support an additional 864 connections, 
assuming an average annual usage of 0.3 gpm per connection, without system expansion or improvement. 
This is the number of additional connections which results in a capacity balance of zero. For complete 
calculations, refer to Appendix B. 

Additional analysis was performed on the individual systems comprising the larger Storey County Water 
System. Separate storage and supply calculations for Virginia City, Gold Hill and Silver City were 
completed to better understand where specific capacity issues may arise, as well as understand the hydraulic 
relationship between the three systems. A summary of the results can be found below in Table 17. The 
complete calculations can be found in Appendix B. 

Table 17: Storage + Supply Calculations Summary for Storey County Systems 

System Total Storage 
(kgal) 

Supply in 
Excess of 

Demand (kgal) 

Total 
Required 

Storage (kgal) 

Capacity 
Balance 
(kgal) 

Capacity 
Remaining 

(EDUs) 
Virginia City 1,200 750 706 1,244 768 

Gold Hill 115 1,236 201 1,150 710 
Silver City 160 412 215 357 220 
Combined 1,475 686 761 1,398 864 

As shown, two of the three individual systems have similar remaining capacities. However, the Silver City 
system is limited by its small storage and supply in comparison to its total required storage. The primary 
limiting factor being the small amount of storage in the area and is also exacerbated by the fact that the 
system is supplied via a 4-inch water main from Gold Hill. This restriction in combination with the small 
storage greatly reduces the ability to serve future connections in the area. However, in practice the three 
systems are operated as a single system. This allows upstream storage in Virginia City and Gold Hill to 
help alleviate the supply and storage issues in Silver City. 

While the capacity remaining is represented in equivalent dwelling units (EDU), it does not require that all 
future development be comprised of residential uses. Rather, an EDU is a commonly used utility planning 
unit which is equal to the water demand of one single-family residence. If a proposed commercial or 
industrial development is projected to use ten times the amount of water as a single-family residence than 
that development would be allocated 10 EDUs of the remaining system capacity listed. It is recommended 
that the County require a proposed fixture unit count for all non-residential developments be provided at 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
22 January 2023

the time of parcel map approval and/or building permit in order to convert projected water demands back 
to an EDU basis and evaluate available system capacity. 

5.0 LONG-TERM STRATEGIES 

Protection of existing and future water resources should be of upmost importance for the County and its 
residents. However, the strategic management of the County’s resources becomes complicated due to the 
variety in water resource type (i.e., groundwater and surface water), the geographic distance between the 
communities in the Plan Area and the evolving regulatory environment, including Nevada water rights law. 
This section will review management approaches the County should consider both currently and in the 
future. 

 WATER RIGHTS 

5.1.1 Surface Water 

Storey County utilizes water from the Marlette Water System as its only source for providing water service 
to customers of the Storey County Water System. The Marlette Water System exercises water rights owned 
by the State of Nevada, under the Franktown Creek Decree which are contracted and delivered to the 
County. Because the County does not own any Decreed water rights, the delivery agreement and contract 
become especially important for dependable long-term water delivery. Furthermore, because the Marlette 
Water System is the sole source of water for the County system, the contract with the water system should 
allow for full utilization of the conveyance capacity of water system infrastructure and all for expansion to 
cover potential “growth” in the water system, especially in areas like the Highlands or Mark Twain where 
groundwater resources are limited.  

While improbable, the Carson River is another source of surface water which could provide water service 
should the County intertie their water system with Lyon County Dayton Utilities.  The County does not 
currently own any surface water rights associated with the Carson River system and it is not recommended 
for the County to purchase or accept dedication of Carson River rights at this time. The benefits and 
challenges of utilizing the Carson River as a future water source will be detailed in chapter 3.  

5.1.2 Groundwater 

The Plan Area overlies two primary hydrographic areas or basins from a water resource regulatory 
standpoint in the Tracy Segment and the Dayton Valley basin. Each of these areas has separate Orders and 
Rulings by the Nevada State Engineer that shape the regulatory options and environment the County must 
work within regarding groundwater resource development and use. For example, the Dayton Valley 
Hydrographic area has the benefit of a Domestic Well Credit Order (see page 23), whereas the Tracy 
Segment does not currently have that provision under the designation Order. Additionally, the County only 
owns less than 50 AF in the Tracey Segment with the point of diversion and place of use currently tied to 
the Canyon General Improvement District.  

Also discussed in Section 2.3, the availability of groundwater resources in both the Highlands and Mark 
Twain areas is extremely restricted and their ability to continuously meet domestic use demands has become 
more and more limited over the last 20 years. The following information is meant to provide a planning 
level summary of short and long-term alternatives which the County may consider when evaluating 
providing future groundwater resources to its residents. 

Change in Point of Diversion/Place of Use 

Storey County owns approximately 48.58 acre-feet within the Tracey Segment Hydrographic Basin under 
Permit No. 50533, Certificate 18224, and 80870. These water rights currently support an elementary school, 
park, and the Lockwood Fire Station. The amount of water needed to support these facilities in the 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
23 January 2023

Lockwood area should be identified and allocated appropriately with the Canyon General Improvement 
District. Any remainder in right could then be utilized within the Tracey Segment to support other County 
purposes. The balance of any right which could be moved is not expected to be large enough to support 
new development or a new public water system in the Highlands. 

The future concept that this change could support could be to provide a single point of service within the 
Highlands community which residents whose wells had failed could access drinking water. This alternative 
may also require the construction of a new well, installation of water treatment equipment, construction of 
storage facilities, water system and water right permitting activities which are expected to range between 
1.2 and 5 million dollars14 and span 12 to 36 months. 

This alternative is not currently an option for the Mark Twain area due to the lack of existing rights owned 
by the County in the Dayton Valley basin. 

Appropriate New Rights

An alternative to moving existing rights from one location to another is to file an application to appropriate 
new rights in either the Tracey Segment or Dayton Valley Basins. Review of the hydrographic basin 
summaries prepared by the NDWR show both the Tracey Segment and Dayton Valley as over-appropriated, 
with mining and milling identified as the preferred use in the Dayton Valley Basin. For these reasons, new 
appropriations for new municipal purposes should be considered unlikely. In the event a new appropriation 
is approved, it would be junior in priority date and would face additional challenges to be used to support 
to new development. Additionally, the infrastructure requirements (i.e., well, tank, distribution piping) 
proposed by the first alternative would still be required by this option as well. 

Purchase Water Rights 

Since new appropriations for groundwater are assumed to be limited based on total appropriation in each 
valley, purchasing existing water rights becomes the remaining option. Based on the cost associated with 
researching, confirming, purchasing, and developing these water rights, Farr West only recommends that 
the County pursue a water rights purchase for small quantities of rights to support existing development 
which may require a community water supply for an indefinite period of time. While this option may be 
the quickest to implement and receive reduced interest from other parties than that of new appropriations, 
it may also be the costliest with an approximate price tag of $1.5 to $8 million dollars15 and take anywhere 
from 12 to 18 months to implement. 

In the case of new development being served by an existing system or the formation of a new water system, 
operated by Storey County or General Improvement District, Farr West recommends the County require 
developers to dedicate the necessary rights to support the proposed uses. 

Domestic Well Credit Program 

The Domestic Well Credit Order in Dayton Valley provides the ability for the owner of a Domestic Well 
on a lot that was created prior to July 1, 1993, to plug and abandon the Domestic Well and be provided 
water service from a water supplier using a credit to provide service to the property. The Order could be 
used to allow the County to develop a community water system in the Mark Twain area, but these credits 
cannot be transferred or sold like a water right after they have been issued. The benefit to this alternative is 
that new water rights would not be required and the overall impact to the water resource would be the same 
as the current condition. To provide a new water system in this area, a production well would still need to 

14 Opinions of probable costs are planning level in nature (-50% to +100%) and are for a single point of use alternative. 
Costs associated with installing a distribution system are not included. 
15 Cost of water rights are planning level estimates which projects a range of $400,000 to $3,000,000 depending on 
which basin (Tracey Segment, Dayton Valley, or both) the rights are purchased in.  Estimates are based on a volume 
of 100 AF. 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
24 January 2023

be permitted and constructed, storage tanks and distribution piping would be required to provide water 
service to the residents who forfeited their right to a domestic well. However, these types of conversion 
projects are rare due to the significant costs associated with the infrastructure improvements. 

This alternative is not currently an option for the Highlands area due to the lack of existing Order in the 
Tracy Segment basin issued by the NSE. The County could apply to the NSE for an Order; however, the 
significant cost of associated infrastructure may still be prohibitive. 

5.1.3 Best Management Practices 

Farr West recommends Storey County allocate annual budget and staff time to continue to participate in 
regional planning groups, like the Carson River Subconservancy District and Truckee Meadows Water 
Authority Advisory Committee meetings or planning sessions. Involvement with these groups will allow 
the County to stay informed on regional policy changes and potentially provide insight into other water 
resource management strategies. Additionally, staying engaged with water right permit changes in basins 
which contribute to the Marlette Water System and inside of and adjacent to the Tracey Segment and 
Dayton Valley Hydrographic Basins will assist the County in maintaining their current and future water 
right interests. 

Storey County owns two water right permits that are currently managed by Canyon General Improvement 
District. Farr West recommends that the County allocate budget and staff time to monitor due dates and 
water usage for these rights to maintain their good standing. In the event additional water rights are acquired 
or dedicated to the County, due dates for Proof of Completion of Work and/or Proof of Beneficia Use 
should be pursued and maintained. 

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 

Some of the water right strategies, particularly the Domestic Well Credit Order in Dayton Valley, have long 
term impacts to Storey County residents. Domestic wells are the only source of water for many parcels in 
the County and while this land was originally developed with the understanding that these residents were 
to be responsible for their own water supply, it has become common for governing bodies to be forced into 
with providing water service or mitigating groundwater impacts in areas which groundwater conditions 
have changed significantly over time. To mitigate the potential for this outcome it is recommended that the 
County encourage local, private groups to be proactive in protecting the aquifer which supplies their 
groundwater wells. Examples of action that benefits aquifer sustainability has been provided throughout 
this chapter and Plan.  

As shown in this chapter, the surface water from the Marlette Water System is the most available, highest 
quality source which the County has access to. Water from the Marlette Water System is critical for long-
term sustainability in Storey County because it is the only source that is currently permitted with the NSE 
and is capable of regular deliveries. The County should place upmost importance on renewing the 
contractual agreement with the Marlette Water System and should pursue the contractual ability to transmit 
quantities of water that are commensurate with the investment the County has placed in its water system 
infrastructure and meets the long-term demands of the Comstock and surrounding areas far into the future. 

DEDICATION RATES 

Outside of the provisions for the division of lands within Chapter 16 of the Storey County Code, the County 
does not maintain a minimum water rights dedication for single unit residential development served by the 
County Water System. Farr West recommends a water right budget or allocation be applied to each existing 
connection or lot within the service area and for these values to be maintained on a digital ledger kept by 
either the Public Works or Planning Department. This will allow the County to accurately budget and 
manage water rights contracted from the Marlette Water System and provide the County the ability to justify 
water use factors and rates in future planning studies and communication with the NSE. Developing a 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
25 January 2023

dedication rate would allow the County to include factors such as drought protection, unanticipated public 
uses, and system loss into allocations per connection. Benefits from representative dedication rates include 
maximizing volumes put to beneficial use, a correct assessment of water right needs related to future 
development, better land use planning and more accurate utility planning resulting in properly phased and 
sized infrastructure improvement projects. 

WATER CONSERVATION PLAN 

Water conservation planning is an important component to improving system sustainability well into the 
future. In fact, per chapter 540.121 of the NRS, each supplier of water must adopt a plan of water 
conservation which is in accordance with the requirements of NRS 540.141 and these plans should be 
updated at least every five years. These plans are typically geared to increase public awareness of the limited 
water resources which supply their region, and the impact conservation can have on the quality and quantity 
of water which is available long term. Additionally, these plans typically set near and long-term water use 
goals, present contingency plans for when water supplies are compromised and recommend water 
efficiency standards for new development. Another component of these plans is the evaluation of installing 
meters on all connections and the development of a tiered rate structure which encourages conservation. It 
is important to note that any modification to the rate structure should be included as part of a formal rate 
study which evaluates how changes to the rate structure impacts future water system revenues and expenses, 
including estimating a reduction in water use. The County is currently in the process of updating their Water 
Conservation Plan in 2021. 

WATER SYSTEM FACILITY PLAN 

The purpose of a water utility facility plan is to assess current and future system deficiencies and develop 
a capital improvement program to identify the projects needed to keep the system operating and in 
compliance. Once this program is defined the utility can identify future funding sources and associate the 
costs of the improvements to capacity replacement and capacity expansion. The most recent facility plan 
was completed in 2011 and it is recommended that the County pursue completing a plan by 2024. 

WATER SYSTEM RATE AND CONNECTION FEE STUDY 

Over the past 10 years, Storey County has evaluated the water utility user rates multiple times in the form 
of a formal rate study or as a rate analysis. One item which has not been updated as part of these studies is 
the connection fee for the County Water System. Currently, the County collects a hook-up fee based on the 
cost of providing the water meter and the physical connection to the water system, however this fee does 
not include any consideration for “buying in” to the available capacity of the system nor does it include a 
“water availability” charge. It is recommended that once the capital improvement program is defined as 
part of the facility plan that a formal rate and connection fee study be performed to recommend a 
representative fee for all future development. 

WATER RESOURCE PLANNING 

Per chapter 278.0228 of the NRS, all governing bodies shall develop and maintain a Water Resource Plan 
which: 

� Evaluates all known sources of water,

� Quantifies current and future water demands,

� Analyzes the sufficiency of water sources in terms of quality and quantity, and

� Provides a plan for obtaining additional water of sufficient quality and quantity.

This plan must be updated at least once every ten years and shall be submitted to NDWR to be kept on file. 
Upon completion, this plan will satisfy this requirement and should be formally adopted by the Storey 
County Board of County Commissioners prior to being submitted to the NDWR.  It is also recommended 



Water Resource Plan Source Water Reliability 

FINAL Storey County
26 January 2023

that the County update this plan at least once every seven years as conditions can change over time and the 
information presented in a WRP is critical to ensuring the sustainability of a water utility.  As a comparison 
the Truckee Meadows Water Authority updates its WRP on a five-year cycle. 



Water Resource Plan Future Demand and Water Management

FINAL Storey County
27 January 2023

CHAPTER 3: MANAGEMENT OF WATER RESOURCES 

1.0 PURPOSE 

This chapter is based on the findings from the third technical memorandum in a series of three which 
documented the analysis and findings of the 2021 Storey County Water Resource Plan (Plan). The specific 
purpose of this chapter is to estimate potential buildout demands as a result of future development within 
the Plan Area. This chapter will also identify the impacts to the Storey County Water System at the buildout 
condition which includes improvements to existing infrastructure and water right holdings. Future utility 
and water resource planning efforts will also be discussed. 

2.0 FUTURE DEMANDS 

Future demands for the Plan Area were generated from applying water demand factors against parcel size 
(i.e., acreage) or unit count. This analysis used the designated land use16, as of December 2020, for vacant 
parcels and applied a water demand factor as listed in Table 18. The Plan Area was broken up into the same 
four separate areas as used in Chapters 1 and 2 and shown on Figure 2. These areas are referred to as:  

� The Comstock,

� VC Highlands,

� Mark Twain, and

� American Flat.

Additionally, Farr West held a workshop with Storey County staff on December 9, 2020, which detailed 
the methodology used for generating these future demands and presented preliminary results for future 
connect ions and improvement project alternatives. 

Table 18: Water Demand Factors 

Land Use Demand Factor Notes 

Single-Family Residential 0.3 AFA/connection 
Includes rural residential and forestry 
connections 

Multi-Family Residential 0.9 AFA/connection Assumes 3 units per parcel 

Commercial 1.50 AFA/acre Assumes 3 commercial connections per acre 

Industrial 1.12 AFA/acre Based on 1,000 gallons per day 

Special Planning Zone 0.3 AFA/connection 
Average connection demand determined from 
Chapter1 

. 

VACANT PARCELS AND LAND USE 

Vacant parcel land use determinations were primarily pulled from County GIS data, however land use 
determinations for all areas were updated per the 2016 Storey County Master Plan. Due to the rural nature 
of the County, there were a large number of vacant parcels outside of the Plan Area that were not considered 
as a part of this analysis due to their distance from current water system infrastructure and a high barrier of 
cost to reach these areas through additional infrastructure. It should be noted that a vacant parcel analysis 
was not performed for Silver City, as it lies in Lyon County and future land uses are not under the 

16 Vacant parcel land use determinations were primarily pulled from County GIS data, however land use 
determinations for all areas were updated per the 2016 Storey County Master Plan. 



Water Resource Plan Future Demand and Water Management

FINAL Storey County
28 January 2023

responsibility of Storey County. Future demands for Silver City were limited to the remaining system 
capacity of 105.3 acre-feet per annum (AFA) determined in chapter 2 of this Plan. 

The vacant parcels in the Comstock area can be found in Figure 5. Vacant land uses within the Comstock 
include single-family residential, multi-family residential, commercial, industrial, forestry, and special 
planning zones. The special planning zone parcels are limited to railroad and mining uses. However, both 
designations were considered as potential future water users and assigned a single EDU per parcel as a 
worst-case scenario for buildout demands.  

The vacant parcels in VC Highlands are comprised of entirely residential parcels, ranging in area from 1 
acre to 40 acres. No matter the parcel size, all vacant parcels within the loop consisting of HWY 341, 
Lousetown Road, and Cartwright Road were included in this analysis and were counted as one EDU per 
parcel. There are 269, 10-acre parcels surrounding this looped area that are reasonable to include in future 
planning efforts but were excluded from this plan due to the diminishing cost-benefit relationship in adding 
this small number of connections. Figure 6 shows the parcels considered for the analysis as well as 
surrounding parcels. 

The analysis of the Mark Twain area included land uses which reflect future changes as outlined in the 2016 
Master Plan (see Appendix A). The area consists of single-family residential, rural residential, forestry, and 
industrial. Figure 7 shows the vacant parcels and zoning in the study area that was considered for this 
analysis.  

The American Flat area southwest of Gold Hill currently has no existing development beyond a mining 
operation and two single family residences. However, future development potential was identified in the 
2016 Master Plan. The land uses identified in the 2016 Master Plan were used for this area as shown in 
Figure 8. The area is primarily forestry with 252 acres of industrial. Similar to the Mark Twain area, the 
240 acres of BLM forestry lands were removed from this analysis. For residential and special planning zone 
parcels, individual parcels were counted as possible future water service connections for this analysis. For 
rural residential parcels, a factor of 40 acres per future connection was used. Commercial and industrial 
parcels were counted as total acreage for the analysis and a water usage per acre demand factor listed in 
Table 18 was applied to the parcel area. Forestry parcel connections were assigned the same EDU value as 
rural residential parcel connections.  



!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

3QTreatment Plant

P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure5.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 5: Comstock Vacant Parcels 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

Virginia City

Gold Hill

Silver City

Service Layer Credits:
Source: Esri, Maxar,
GeoEye, Earthstar

Legend
Lyon County Parcel

Comstock Vacant Parcel Zones
Commercial (339 Parcels)

Industrial (30 Parcels)

Residential (300 Parcels)

Special Planning Review Zone (74 Parcels)

¯
1 " = 2,000 '

Storey County

Lyon County



P:\Client Projects\Storey County 092\1797 Water Resource Plan\3.0 Studies_Reports\3.4 Dwg_Figs\MAPS\Figure6.mxd, Editor: tbrashler, Printed: 8/25/2021

Figure 6: Highlands Vacant Parcels 5510 Longley Lane
Reno, NV 89511
(775) 851-4788

www.farrwestengineering.com

  The data contained herein does
  not represent survey delineation
  and should not be construed as a
  replacement for the authoritative
  source.  No liability is assumed
  by Farr West Engineering
  as to the sufficiency or
  accuracy of the data.

Service Layer Credits:
Source: Esri, Maxar,
GeoEye, Earthstar

Legend
Highlands Study Area

Highlands Vacant Parcel Zones
Residential (607 Parcels)

¯
1 " = 2,000 '

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y
W

as
ho

e 
C

ou
nt

y



So
ur

ce
: E

sr
i, 

M
ax

ar
, G

eo
Ey

e,
 E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S,

 U
S

D
A,

 U
S

G
S,

 A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\C

lie
nt

 P
ro

je
ct

s\
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y 

09
2\

17
97

 W
at

er
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

Pl
an

\3
.0

 S
tu

di
es

_R
ep

or
ts

\3
.4

 D
w

g_
Fi

gs
\M

AP
S\

Fi
gu

re
7.

m
xd

, E
di

to
r: 

tb
ra

sh
le

r, 
Pr

in
te

d:
 8

/2
5/

20
21

1 
" =

 4
,0

00
 'Figure 7: Mark Twain Vacant Parcels

  T
he

 d
at

a 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 d

oe
s

  n
ot

 re
pr

es
en

t s
ur

ve
y d

el
in

ea
tio

n
  a

nd
 sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
ns

tru
ed

 a
s a

  r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t f
or

 th
e 

au
th

or
ita

tiv
e

  s
ou

rc
e.

  N
o 

lia
bi

lit
y i

s a
ss

um
ed

  b
y F

ar
r W

es
t E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
  a

s t
o 

th
e 

su
ffi

cie
nc

y o
r

  a
cc

ur
ac

y o
f t

he
 d

at
a.

55
10

 L
on

gl
ey

 L
an

e
Re

no
, N

V 
89

51
1

(7
75

) 8
51

-4
78

8
w

w
w.

fa
rr

we
st

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

¯
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y

Ly
on

 C
ou

nt
y

Le
ge

nd M
ar

k 
Tw

ai
n 

St
ud

y 
Ar

ea

M
ar

k 
Tw

ai
n 

Va
ca

nt
 P

ar
ce

l Z
on

es
R

es
id

en
tia

l (
45

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

In
du

st
ria

l (
22

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

In
du

st
ria

l-P
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l  
(5

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

Pu
bl

ic
 F

ac
ilit

ie
s 

(1
 P

ar
ce

ls
)

R
es

ou
rc

e 
(1

6 
Pa

rc
el

s)

R
ur

al
 R

es
id

en
tia

l (
9 

Pa
rc

el
s)



!

!

So
ur

ce
: E

sr
i, 

M
ax

ar
, G

eo
Ey

e,
 E

ar
th

st
ar

 G
eo

gr
ap

hi
cs

, C
N

ES
/A

irb
us

 D
S,

 U
S

D
A,

 U
S

G
S,

 A
er

oG
R

ID
, I

G
N

, a
nd

 th
e 

G
IS

 U
se

r C
om

m
un

ity

P:
\C

lie
nt

 P
ro

je
ct

s\
St

or
ey

 C
ou

nt
y 

09
2\

17
97

 W
at

er
 R

es
ou

rc
e 

Pl
an

\3
.0

 S
tu

di
es

_R
ep

or
ts

\3
.4

 D
w

g_
Fi

gs
\M

AP
S\

Fi
gu

re
8.

m
xd

, E
di

to
r: 

tb
ra

sh
le

r, 
Pr

in
te

d:
 8

/2
5/

20
21

1 
" =

 1
,5

00
 'Figure 8: American Flat Vacant Parcels

  T
he

 d
at

a 
co

nt
ai

ne
d 

he
re

in
 d

oe
s

  n
ot

 re
pr

es
en

t s
ur

ve
y d

el
in

ea
tio

n
  a

nd
 sh

ou
ld

 n
ot

 b
e 

co
ns

tru
ed

 a
s a

  r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t f
or

 th
e 

au
th

or
ita

tiv
e

  s
ou

rc
e.

  N
o 

lia
bi

lit
y i

s a
ss

um
ed

  b
y F

ar
r W

es
t E

ng
in

ee
rin

g
  a

s t
o 

th
e 

su
ffi

cie
nc

y o
r

  a
cc

ur
ac

y o
f t

he
 d

at
a.

55
10

 L
on

gl
ey

 L
an

e
Re

no
, N

V 
89

51
1

(7
75

) 8
51

-4
78

8
w

w
w.

fa
rr

we
st

en
gi

ne
er

in
g.

co
m

¯

Storey County
Washoe County

St
or

ey
 C

ou
nt

y

Ly
on

 C
ou

nt
y

Le
ge

nd Am
er

ic
an

 F
la

t S
tu

dy
 A

re
a

A
m

er
ic

an
 F

la
t V

ac
an

t P
ar

ce
l Z

on
es

In
du

st
ria

l  
(1

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

R
es

ou
rc

e 
(6

 P
ar

ce
ls

)

G
ol

d 
H

ill



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
33 January 2023

Table 19: Vacant Parcel Land Use 

Comstock Highlands Mark Twain American 
Flat Total 

Single-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs)
293 607 74 - 974 

Multi-Family 
Residential 

(ERUs) 
21 - - - 21 

Commercial 
(Acres) 132 - - - 132 

Industrial  
(Acres) 19 - 4,327 252 4,598 

Forestry    
(ERUs) 11 - 23 31 65 

Special Planning 
Zone       

(parcels) 
74 - - - 74 

DEMAND FACTORS AND TOTAL BUILDOUT DEMANDS 

Demand17 factors were applied to the vacant parcels in each area according to their land use. Although the 
average water usage per residential customer was determined to be 0.17 AFA per connection in Chapter 1, 
the projected unit water demand for residential uses or EDUs was adjusted to 0.3 AFA for this Plan. Multi-
family residential assumes three units per parcel. Customer meter data also showed that commercial 
customers used 0.33 AFA on average. This volume was scaled up to 0.5 AF per commercial connection or 
1.5 AF per acre for all vacant parcels zoned commercial for future water demand projections.  

Industrial water usage was calculated on a per acre basis. The industrial demand factor was selected based 
on an analysis of Tahoe Reno Industrial Center, south Washoe County, and Douglas County water usages. 
Demand factors were then applied to all vacant parcels within the plan area. Table 20 below shows the 
existing demand, additional demand based on land use, and buildout demand. 

Table 20: Plan Area Water Demands 

Area 
Existing Demand 

(AFA) 
Additional Demand 

(AFA) 
Buildout Demand 

(AFA) 
Comstock 221 456i 677i 

Highlands  176ii 182 358

Mark Twain 100ii 4,875 4,975

American Flat 4.5 291 296 

Total 502 5,804 6,306

i - Includes 105.3 AFA for Silver City 
ii – Existing demand was calculated by allocating 0.3 AF per existing residential connection. 

17 All demands or demand factors in this chapter are average day demands unless noted otherwise. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
34 January 2023

3.0 BUILDOUT IMPACTS 

To supply the volume of water that will be required to meet maximum day demands of the entire Plan Area 
at buildout, the County will need to have sufficient conveyance capacity in their water system infrastructure 
as well as have the volume of water rights needed to provide over 6,000 acre-feet of water on an annual 
basis. For further context, this volume of water corelates to a maximum day demand flow rate of 7,802 gpm 
or require transmission (i.e., siphon) and water treatment facilities (WTP) designed to deliver more than 11 
million gallons per day (MGD). Due to the large disparity between the makeup of the current system and a 
system capable of providing more than 11 MGD to its customers, this Plan will only propose future 
improvement projects which eliminate current system deficiencies or will interconnect no more than one 
satellite area per any given development scenario or alternative. 

INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS 

Farr West developed improvement project(s) for each water system need in the future to provide a picture 
for what the connection or development of specific areas will have on the current system. These project 
alternatives were discussed and workshopped with County staff on December 9, 2020. All project cost 
estimates were prepared according to Class 5 methodology according to AACE International using 
conceptual or planning level engineering criteria to size significant project components.  

3.1.1 County Water System 

The County Water System consists of the water treatment plant, five storage tanks and distribution mains 
throughout Virginia City, Gold Hill, and Silver City. Overall, the system has aging infrastructure, areas 
with inadequate fire flow and static pressures in excess of 190 psi. Through previous master planning and 
recent hydraulic modeling analysis four projects were identified which would resolve current deficiencies18. 
These projects are: 

� B St. & Union St. Water Main Replacement Project

� Divide Water Main Upsizing Project

� Silver City Transmission Main Replacement Project

After all these projects are completed, the County Water System will be able to meet or exceed all standard 
performance criteria/requirements as set forth by the Nevada Administrative Code 445A (NAC 445A) and 
enforced by the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection – Bureau of Safe Drinking Water (BSDW). 
Complete opinions of probable cost totaling approximately $6.0 million dollars can be found in Appendix 
C. 

If the Comstock area were to buildout per the current land use designations, Average Day Demand (ADD) 
and Maximum Day Demand (MDD) would increase to 413 and 825 gpm, respectively. System demands 
on this order would exceed current siphon capacity and would reduce WTP excess capacity to only four 
percent of total rated capacity. For this reason, the two additional recommended improvement projects 
would be: 

� 12-inch diameter Parallel Siphon (from US 580 to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 1.5 MGD)

The estimated total cost of all improvements required to meet the buildout condition for the existing 
Comstock service area is just more than $18 million dollars with $12.4 million being attributed to the Siphon 
and WTP projects. 

18 The Silver City distribution system has been previously identified as deficient and in need of replacement in the 
2011 Master Plan. An engineering design has been completed for these improvements and the Lyon County Utilities 
Department has assumed the role as sponsor for the construction of this project. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
35 January 2023

3.1.2 American Flat 

The proposed development of the American Flat area as shown on Figure 8 would increase system demands 
by approximately 291 acre-feet annually or an additional 367 gpm during MDD. Water service would be 
supplied to the area via 3,100 linear feet (lf) of 12-inch diameter transmission main in addition to 750,000 
gallons in above ground storage. In total these supply and storage improvements would cost approximately 
$3.9 million dollars19.  

This area would be supplied water through the Gold Hill pressure zone from the County Water System and 
would require the following additional improvements: 

� 12-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 2.2 MGD)

The estimated total cost of these additional County Water System improvements is approximately $27.7 
million dollars with $6.3 million being associated with the pipeline installed between Lakeview Tanks and 
US 580 (i.e., Marlette Water System ROW). 

3.1.3 Mark Twain 

As stated in chapter 1, there are 333 existing connections in the Mark Twain area which would increase 
system demands by 100 acre-feet annually or an additional 124 gpm (0.2 MGD) during MDD. In order to 
supply water to serve the existing residential uses in the Mark Twain area via the existing County Water 
System, a 5.2-mile, 12-inch diameter transmission main would need to be constructed in 6-Mile Canyon 
Dr. along with a 500,000-gallon terminal tank. Additionally, an 8-inch diameter distribution system would 
also need to be installed to provide water service to the existing residences. The estimated cost of the 
improvements needed to supply potable water to the 333 connections is approximately $30 million dollars. 

Upgrades to the transmission siphon and WTP would also be required to meet NRS supply capacity 
requirements. These improvements would be: 

� 12-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 2.2 MGD)

The estimated cost of these additional County Water System improvements is just more than $53 million 
dollars with $6.3 million being installed between Lakeview Tanks and US 580 (i.e., Marlette Water System 
ROW). 

3.1.4 VC Highlands 

The area known as VC Highlands is home to approximately 588 residential structures which receive potable 
water service from individual domestic wells. If these existing residences were to be connected to the 
County Water System, it is estimated that system demands would increase by 176 acre-feet annually or an 
additional 219 gpm (0.3 MGD) during MDD. The infrastructure needed to supply water to the existing 
residents of the Highlands is: 

� 5.5 mile, 12-inch diameter transmission main between Virginia City and the top of Geiger Grade

� A 100 hp booster pump station located at the north end of the current County Water System

� 30 miles of 8 and 12-inch distribution main as shown on Figure 9

� 588 water meters and service lines

� 650,000-gallon water storage tank

19 The cost to install the distribution system in the American Flat area is not included in this total. It is assumed that 
the cost of these improvements would be borne by the developer/development. 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
36 January 2023

In total, it is estimated that the cost of these improvements would exceed $70 million dollars, with the 
transmission and storage portion totaling $15.8 million. Due to the increase in system demands, upgrades 
to the transmission siphon and WTP would also be required to meet NRS supply capacity requirements. 
These improvements would be: 

� 14-inch diameter Siphon replacement (from Lakeview Tanks to Top of Siphon)

� WTP Capacity Improvement Project (1.26 MGD to 1.6 MGD)

These additional water supply improvements would increase total project costs by $25 million dollars and 
bring project totals to approximately $95 million dollars. If the County were to size all infrastructure 
detailed in this section to accommodate complete buildout of the Highlands area the total cost of 
improvements increases from $95 million to $126 million dollars. 





Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
38 January 2023

3.1.5 Siphon Upgrades 

In review, the transmission siphon between Lakeview Tanks and the Top of Siphon does not have the 
conveyance capacity to supply enough water to meet the buildout condition for any of the scenarios 
evaluated in this Plan. At a minimum, a new 12-inch pipeline would need to be installed parallel to the 
existing main between US 580 and the Top of Siphon in order to meet buildout demands for the current 
service area. For all other scenarios, the entire line would need to be replaced between the Lakeview Tanks 
and the Top of Siphon with a 12, 14, or 16-inch diameter pipeline. Since different portions of the pipeline 
are owned and maintained by different parties (i.e., Marlette Water System and Storey County), it is 
reasonable to assume that each party would contribute funding for their portion of the improvements. The 
approximate split of ownership based on pipeline length is 61 percent for Storey County and 39 percent for 
the Marlette Water System. 

3.1.6 Water Treatment Plant Upgrades 

Like the upgrades to the siphon transmission main, the 1.26 MGD Water Treatment Plant will also need to 
be expanded to supply the volume of water needed at buildout for all development scenarios or alternatives 
studied in this Plan. Table 21 below details the additional capacity needed at the Water Treatment Plant to 
meet each development scenario.  

Table 21: Water Treatment Plant Capacity Upgrade Needs 

Development Scenario 
Increase in Treatment Capacity 

(MGD) 
Comstock Service Area Buildout 0.3 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout 1.0 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain (Ex.) 1.0 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands (Ex.) 0.6 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout 1.0 

3.1.7 Project Summary 

Per the findings of this Plan, the County will need to invest between $6.0 and $126 million dollars in water 
system improvement projects to maintain system compliance and supply water to new areas (e.g., 
Highlands, American Flat, Mark Twain). Table ES-4 lists a probable cost for each project that the County 
can reference for future long-term capital planning applications. These opinions of probable cost were 
developed using conceptual designs and cost data and should be refined as part of a preliminary engineering 
process prior to securing financing or allocating funds for their design and construction. 

Table 22: Water System Projects 

Project Probable Costi 
Existing System Deficiencies $6.0 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout $12.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + American Flat Buildout $27.7 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Mark Twain Ex. Residents Only $53.4 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Ex. Residents Only $95 M 

Comstock Service Area Buildout + Highlands Buildout $126 M 

i – All costs are presented in 2022 dollars and are Class 5 per AACEI 



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
39 January 2023

WATER RIGHTS 

In addition to constructing the infrastructure necessary to provide water service at buildout, the County will 
need to maintain or acquire a sufficient volume of water rights to be able to serve the number of connections 
projected at buildout. The calculations provided below estimate what the minimum volume of water rights 
will need to be held in the interest of the County according to the land uses studied in Section 2.0. 

Existing number of Residential Connections (County Water System) ................................. 596 

Existing number of Commercial Connections (County Water System) ................................ 207 

Existing number of EDUs ..................................................................................................... 998 
Volume of water rights dedicated for existing development ........................................ 1,118 AF 
(assumes 1.12 ac-ft per EDU) 

Future EDUs (Highlands Ex. Domestic Wells) ..................................................................... 588 

Future EDUs (Mark Twain Domestic Wells) ........................................................................ 333 

Future EDUs (American Flat Domestic Wells) ....................................................................... 15 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Single and Multi-Family Residential) ............................................. 995 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Commercial + Industrial)20 ......................................................... 10,694 

Future EDUs (Vacant - Other: Forestry + Special Planning)2 ............................................... 139 

Total Future EDUs ........................................................................................................... 12,764 

Water rights needed for all future development +  
conversion of existing domestic well owners to County Water System 
(assessed at 1.12 ac-ft per EDU) .................................................................................. 8,783 AF 

Estimated Domestic Well Credits (assessed at 2 acre-ft per DW) ............................ (1,872 AF) 

Total Water Rights Needed 6,911 AF 

Per the 2002 contract, Storey County has reserved up to 495.6 acre-feet of water from the Marlette Water 
System in 202121. This total is only slightly more than half of the volume that would typically be dedicated 
to support the existing 803 connections of the Storey County Water System. Considering the conversion of 
existing domestic well owners to the Storey County Water System and the absolute development of all 
vacant parcels according to approved land uses, Storey County may need to acquire right to upwards of 
6,911 acre-feet of water to support permitting of the proposed developments. 

Since Storey County does not maintain a ledger tracking historic water right dedications, this study assumes 
a dedication rate of 1.12 acre-feet per EDU22 for all calculations being presented in this section. This value 
has been commonly used across the state in the past to support the permitting of one residential unit with 

20 EDU counts for non-residential uses were calculated by dividing the projected average annual demand from Section 
2 by a value of 0.3 AF/EDU. 
21 Projecting out the annual increases in water made available to Storey County for the next 20 years results in an 
estimate of 653.6 acre-feet from the Marlette Water System in 2041.  
22 This is a high estimate. Dedication rates of 1.12 AF/EDU have created large volumes of unexercised commitments 
of water rights throughout the state and the NSE’s office has supported reduced dedication requirements over the past 
10-20 years when there is adequate data to support a reduced rate.



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
40 January 2023

the Nevada State Engineer’s (NSE) office. If the County would like to have this unit volume reduced for 
future dedications it is recommended that the County prepare a more specific document summarizing their 
water use profile and proposed dedication rates and engage the NSE’s office prior to passing new ordinance. 

4.0 FUTURE MANAGEMENT 

As shown in Section 3.2, the County will need to acquire or be dedicated almost 14 times the amount of 
water they have currently secured via contract with the Marlette Water System to meet buildout demands 
in all four areas studied as part of this Plan. If the County were to only provide water service to the Comstock 
area this volume gets reduced to approximately 4 times the currently contracted volume for a total of 2,178 
acre-feet. In either scenario it will be necessary for the County to secure additional water in addition to 
modifying how the system is operated based on the number of customers and size of the service area in the 
future.  

FUTURE WATER SOURCES 

Chapter 2 found that the only viable water source for the County Water System is the Marlette Water 
System, and all future volumes of water should be acquired from this source. Additionally, chapter 2 also 
found that the current conveyance capacity of the siphon transmission main was limited to 738 gallons per 
minute (gpm) or 1,190 acre-feet annually. This stated capacity will be able to provide nearly all the future 
water needs of the Comstock area, however the addition of either the Highlands or Mark Twain areas will 
present the need for additional transmission mains to be constructed. 

Another water source potentially available to the County could be the Carson River or groundwater rights 
in hydrographic basins 103, 104 or 105. To receive water supplies from these sources the County Water 
System would need to be interconnected with the Dayton and/or Mound House Water System(s), owned 
and operated by the Lyon County Utilities Department (LCUD). The connection to these systems can occur 
via a transmission main along 6-Mile Canyon Road and/or State Highway 341. Depending on the volume 
of water which will be supplied by these new connections, additional infrastructure in the LCUD or Carson 
City water systems may need to be installed prior to entering into any operating agreement with the 
associated utilities. An array of future utility management and operational strategies exist depending on 
how the new water source would be used and should be studied further prior to pursuing and water rights 
acquisitions or construction of any infrastructure improvements related to these water sources. These 
strategies include, but are not limited to: emergency backup supply, primary water supply for portion of 
water system, seasonal supply for greater water system, and an active wholesale connection between 
utilities. 

Chapter 2 also found that the ability for existing groundwater sources to meet existing domestic uses has 
become more and more limited over the past 20 years and are not viable to support proposed development 
in the future. However, if the County were to pursue the interconnection of the County Water System to the 
Highlands or Mark Twain areas there is some merit to constructing a new community well which can be 
used seasonally (as conditions allow) and in emergencies. Additional water rights for this proposed water 
source should also not necessary since the conversion of domestic wells to the County Water System should 
provide domestic well credits which could be used to support permitting of the new community well. 

REGIONALIZATION 

If Storey County were to pursue interconnection of the County Water System with the Dayton/Mound 
House System, it would present the significant benefit of regionalizing water supplies for both the 
Comstock and surrounding areas. Regionalization of water supplies provides redundancy during periods of 
severe drought, during water system infrastructure failure, or when the quality or quantity of a water supply 
has diminished.  



Water Resource Plan Management of Water Resources

FINAL Storey County
41 January 2023

5.0 FUTURE WATER MANAGEMENT PLANNING 

By implementing a proactive approach to water management planning, Storey County will ensure a reliable 
and resilient water utility well into the future. To do this the County needs to complete and update a variety 
of different planning efforts over a five to seven fiscal year (FY) cycle. While the intent and findings of 
each study is different, proper planning builds off the information developed in one plan to another and 
provides recommendations which improve the overall sustainability of the water system. An example of 
this would be developing a representative capital improvement program (CIP) as part of a water system 
master plan update. This CIP would subsequently ensure that accurate user and connection fees were being 
collected so that future capital funding needs were being met. Additionally, the rate study would also 
develop a user fee structure which promotes conservation and improves source water sustainability. This 
section summarizes key planning efforts required in the future and offers a recommendation for when these 
documents should be completed. 

Table 23: Water System Planning 

Plan Year Completed Recommended Update  
County Strategic Plan 2020 2030 

Water Resource Plan 2022 2027 

Water System Master Plan 2011 2023 

Rate Study 2011, 2020 2025 

Water Conservation Plan - 2022 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

This chapter has found that the development of all vacant parcels according to current land uses within the 
current service area boundary will nearly triple current average water use and require significant 
improvements to County Water System infrastructure. Beyond a projected cost of $18.4M for these 
improvements, the County will also need to secure approximately 2,000 acre-feet of water from the Marlette 
Water System (or other) to support permitting of the proposed development(s). Additionally, if the County 
was to pursue connecting additional areas into the current service area improvement project costs may 
exceed $100M and the need for additional water triples to more than 6,500 acre-feet beyond the volume the 
County has currently reserved with the Marlette Water System. 

Completion of this Water Resource Plan is a significant step for the County towards improving water 
system sustainability. The findings of this Plan can be used to: 

� support the acquisition of additional water resources,

� properly evaluate future land development proposals,

� improve capital planning exercises including the identification of future funding sources, and

� maintain regulatory compliance with NDEP the Nevada State Engineer’s Office.



Water Resource Plan References

FINAL Storey County
42 January 2023

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

Affirmation of the Second Judicial District's Franktown Creek Decree, 4386 (Nevada Supreme Court April 
24, 1963). 

Demographer, N. S. (2020). Certified Population Estimates of Nevada's Counties, Cities and Towns 2000 
to 2019. Nevada: Nevada Department of Taxation. 

Franktown Creek Irrigation Company v. Marlette Lake Company, 4386 (Supreme Court of Nevada 
September 27, 1961). 

Smith, D. W. (2020, April 14). Evaluation of water-level decline and aquifer properties in the Virginia City 
Highlands and Highland Ranches Volcanic Rock aquifer system, Storey County, Nevada. Retrieved
from USGS: https://www.usgs.gov/centers/nv-water/science/evaluation-water-level-decline-and-
aquifer-properties-virginia-city?qt-science_center_objects=0#qt-science_center_objects 

Storey County. (2016). Storey County Master Plan. Storey County.

Supply Contract. (2002, October 23). Contract bewtween the State of Nevada and Storey County to Supply 
Raw Water from the Marlette Lake Water System. Carson, Nevada.

WRCC. (2020, April 14). Virginia City, Nevada (268761). Retrieved from Western Regional Climate
Center: https://wrcc.dri.edu/cgi-bin/cliMAIN.pl?nv8761 



Water Resource Plan Appendices

FINAL Storey County
January 2023

APPENDIX A 



























































Water Resource Plan Appendices

FINAL Storey County
January 2023

APPENDIX B 



Storey�County�Storage�&�Supply�Calculations
Water�Resource�Plan

Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 803 131 262 524
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout 864 259 518 1,036

Totals 1,667 390 780 1,560

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)
Marlette�Water�System 738

Total�Supply 738
Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�

Capacity�(gal)
Hillside�Tank�#1 500,000
Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000
Divide�Tank 115,000
Silver�City�Tank 160,000

Total�Storage 1,475,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 1,475,000 1,475,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 685,760 �188,480

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 2,160,760 1,286,520
Fire�Storage 432,000 1,728,760 432,000 854,520
Operating�Storage 188,480 1,540,280 188,480 666,040
Emergency�Storage 141,360 1,398,919 141,360 524,680

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 1,475,000 1,475,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) �60,331 �561,525

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 1,414,669 913,475
Fire�Storage 432,000 982,669 432,000 481,475
Operating�Storage 561,525 421,144 561,525 �80,051
Emergency�Storage 421,144 0 421,144 �501,195

*Tank�Values,�Pump�Capacity,�and�Unit�Demands�taken�from�Storey�County�Water�System�Master�Plan

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source

No.�
Connections

Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Storey�County�System�Existing�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source

Table�2.��Storey�County�System�Buildout�Conditions



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 803 137 274 548
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 750 283 566 1,132
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Highlands 0 0 0 0

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 0 0 0 0
Totals 1,553 420 840 1,680

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

Water�Treatment�Plant 1,050 1.51 MGD
Marlette�Water�System���Ex.�Siphon 738

Marlette�Water�System���Add.�Siphon 320
Total�Supply 1,050

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 1,050

Fire�Flow�Demand
Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Hillside�Tank�#1
500,000

Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000
Divide�Tank 115,000

Silver�City�Tank 160,000

Total�Storage 1,475,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 1,475,000 1,475,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 302,441 �1,209,559

Total�Capacity�(Daily)
1,777,441 265,441

Fire�Storage 432,000 1,345,441 0 265,441
Operating�Storage 604,779 740,662 0 265,441
Emergency�Storage 453,585 287,077 0 265,441

Comstock�Only

No.�Connections
Demands�(gpm)

<��12"�transmission�main�from�I�580�to�top�of�siphon

Table�1.��Comstock�System�Buildout�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage 0.394 AFA�per�EDU

0.245 EDU�ADD�(gpm)
Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 803 137 274 548
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 750 283 566 1,132
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 46 190 380 760
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Highlands 0 0 0 0

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 0 0 0 0
Totals 1,599 610 1,220 2,439

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

Water�Treatment�Plant 1,500 2.2 MGD
Marlette�Water�System���Ex.�Siphon 0

Marlette�Water�System���Add.�Siphon 1,500
Total�Supply 1,500

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 1,500

Fire�Flow�Demand
Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Hillside�Tank�#1
500,000

Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000
Divide�Tank 115,000

Silver�City�Tank
160,000

American�Flat�Tank 750,000
Total�Storage 2,225,000

Storage�Type Storage� Storage�Balance� Storage� Storage�Balance�
Total�Storage 2,225,000

Total�Supply�(Production���Demand)
403,598

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 2,628,598
Fire�Storage 432,000 2,196,598
Operating�Storage 878,201 1,318,398
Emergency�Storage 658,651 659,747

Table�1.��Comstock�+�American�Flat�System�Buildout�Conditions

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources
ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source

Comstock�+�American�Flat

No.�EDUs

<��12"�transmission�main�from�Lakeview�Tanks�to�
top�of�siphon

Demands�(gpm)



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage 0.394 AFA�per�EDU

0.245 EDU�ADD�(gpm)
Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 803 137 274 548
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 750 283 566 1,132
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Highlands 1,195 477 955 1,910

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 0 0 0 0
Totals 2,748 897 1,795 3,590

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

Water�Treatment�Plant 2,250 3.2 MGD
Marlette�Water�System���Ex.�Siphon 0

Marlette�Water�System���Add.�Siphon 2,250
Total�Supply 2,250

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 2,250

Fire�Flow�Demand
Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Hillside�Tank�#1
500,000

Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000
Divide�Tank 115,000

Silver�City�Tank
160,000

Highlands�Tank 1,000,000
Total�Storage 2,475,000

Storage�Type Storage� Storage�Balance� Storage� Storage�Balance�
Total�Storage 2,475,000

Total�Supply�(Production���Demand)
655,439

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 3,130,439
Fire�Storage 432,000 2,698,439
Operating�Storage 1,292,280 1,406,159
Emergency�Storage 969,210 436,948

Comstock�+�Highlands

No.�EDUs
Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Comstock�+�Higlands�System�Buildout�Conditions

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources
ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source

<��16"�transmission�main�from�Lakeview�Tanks�to�
Top�of�Siphon



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage 0.394 AFA�per�EDU

0.245 EDU�ADD�(gpm)
Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 803 137 274 548
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 750 283 566 1,132
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�Highlands�(Ex) 588 365 729 1,458

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 0 0 0 0
Totals 2,141 785 1,569 3,138

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

Water�Treatment�Plant 1,950 2.8 MGD
Marlette�Water�System���Ex.�Siphon 0

Marlette�Water�System���Add.�Siphon 1,950
Total�Supply 1,950

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 1,950

Fire�Flow�Demand
Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Hillside�Tank�#1
500,000

Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000
Divide�Tank 115,000

Silver�City�Tank
160,000

Highlands�Tank 1,000,000
Total�Storage 2,475,000

Storage�Type Storage� Storage�Balance� Storage� Storage�Balance�
Total�Storage 2,475,000

Total�Supply�(Production���Demand)
548,576

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 3,023,576
Fire�Storage 432,000 2,591,576
Operating�Storage 1,129,712 1,461,864
Emergency�Storage 847,284 614,580

Table�1.��Comstock�+�American�Flat�System�Buildout�Conditions

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources
ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source

Comstock�+�Highlands�(Ex)

No.�EDUs
Demands�(gpm)

<��14"�transmission�main�from�Lakeview�Tanks�to�
Top�of�Siphon



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage 0.394 AFA�per�EDU

0.245 EDU�ADD�(gpm)
Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 803 137 274 548
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 750 283 566 1,132
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�Highlands�(Ex) 0 0 0 0

Additional�Demands�Mark�Twain�(Ex) 333 206 413 826
Totals 1,886 626 1,253 2,506

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

Water�Treatment�Plant 1,550 2.2 MGD
Marlette�Water�System���Ex.�Siphon 0

Marlette�Water�System���Add.�Siphon 1,550
Total�Supply 1,550

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 1,550

Fire�Flow�Demand
Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Hillside�Tank�#1
500,000

Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000
Divide�Tank 115,000

Silver�City�Tank
160,000

Mark�Twain�Tank 500,000
Total�Storage 1,975,000

Storage�Type Storage� Storage�Balance� Storage� Storage�Balance�
Total�Storage 1,975,000

Total�Supply�(Production���Demand)
427,875

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 2,402,875
Fire�Storage 432,000 1,970,875
Operating�Storage 902,063 1,068,812
Emergency�Storage 676,547 392,265

Comstock�+�Mark�Twain�(Ex)

No.�EDUs
Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Comstock�+�American�Flat�System�Buildout�Conditions

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources
ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source

<��12"�transmission�main�from�Lakeview�Tanks�to�
Top�of�Siphon



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��MDD�w/o�supply
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 46 190 380 760
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Highlands 0 0 0 0

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 0 0 0 0
Totals 46 190 380 760

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

3,100�lf�of�12"�Transmission�Main�(23'�headloss) 1,750

Total�Supply 1,750
Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 2,000 2 240,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

American�Flat�Tank
750,000

Total�Storage
750,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 750,000 750,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 1,973,157 �546,843

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 2,723,157 203,157
Fire�Storage 240,000 2,483,157 240,000 �36,843

Operating�Storage
273,421 2,209,736 273,421 �310,264

Emergency�Storage 205,066 2,004,670 205,066 �515,330

American�Flat�Only

No.�Connections
Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��American�Flat�System�Buildout�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources MDD�(No�Supply)



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��MDD�w/o�supply
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Highlands 1,195 477 955 1,910

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 0 0 0 0
Totals 1,195 477 955 1,910

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

20,250�lf�of�12"�Transmission�Main�(100'�headloss) 1,500

Total�Supply 1,500
Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 1,000 2 120,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Highlands�Tank
1,000,000

Total�Storage
1,000,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 1,000,000 1,000,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 784,998 �687,501

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 1,784,998 312,499
Fire�Storage 120,000 1,664,998 120,000 192,499

Operating�Storage
687,501 977,497 687,501 �495,002

Emergency�Storage 515,626 461,871 515,626 �1,010,628

Highlands�Only���Buildout

No.�Connections
Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Highlands�System�Buildout�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources MDD�(No�Supply)



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��MDD�w/o�supply
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Highlands 0 0 0 0

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 430 3,229 6,457 12,914
Totals 430 3,229 6,457 12,914

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

27,500�lf�of�14"�Transmission�Main�(705�ft�headloss) 6,000

Total�Supply 6,000
Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 2,000 2 240,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Mark�Twain�Tank(s)
9,100,000

Total�Storage
9,100,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 9,100,000 9,100,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) �658,433 �9,298,433

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 8,441,567 �198,433
Fire�Storage 240,000 8,201,567 240,000 �438,433

Operating�Storage
4,649,216 3,552,351 4,649,216 �5,087,649

Emergency�Storage 3,486,912 65,439 3,486,912 �8,574,561

Table�1.��American�Flat�System�Buildout�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources MDD�(No�Supply)

Mark�Twain�Only���Buildout

No.�Connections
Demands�(gpm)



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��MDD�w/o�supply
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 588 365 730 1,460

Totals 588 365 730 1,460

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)
20,250�lf�of�12"�Transmission�Main�(100'�headloss) 1,500

Total�Supply 1,500

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 1,000 2 120,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)
Highlands�Tank�1 650,000

Total�Storage 650,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 650,000 650,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 1,108,800 �525,600

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 1,758,800 124,400

Fire�Storage
120,000 1,638,800 120,000 4,400

Operating�Storage 525,600 1,113,200 525,600 �521,200
Emergency�Storage 394,200 719,000 394,200 �915,400

Table�1.��Highlands�Ex�System�Buildout�Conditions

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources MDD�(No�Supply)

Highlands�Only���Existing

No.�Connections
Demands�(gpm)



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��MDD�w/o�supply
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 333 206 413 826

Totals 333 206 413 826

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)
27,500�lf�of�12"�Transmission�Main 1,500

Total�Supply 1,500

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 1,000 2 120,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)
Mark�Twain�Tank(s) 500,000

Total�Storage 500,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 500,000 500,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 1,565,434 �297,283

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 2,065,434 202,717

Fire�Storage
120,000 1,945,434 120,000 82,717

Operating�Storage 297,283 1,648,150 297,283 �214,566
Emergency�Storage 222,962 1,425,188 222,962 �437,529

Mark�Twain�Only���Existing

No.�Connections
Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Mark�Twain�System�Buildout�Conditions

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�(No�Supply)



Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 803 137 274 548
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Comstock 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���American�Flat 0 0 0 0
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Highlands 0 0 0 0

Additional�Demands�at�Buildout���Mark�Twain 0 0 0 0
Totals 803 137 274 548

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)

Water�Treatment�Plant 1,050 1.26 MGD
Marlette�Water�System���Ex.�Siphon 738

Marlette�Water�System���Add.�Siphon 0
Total�Supply 738

Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 738

Fire�Flow�Demand
Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�Capacity�

(gal)

Hillside�Tank�#1
500,000

Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000
Divide�Tank 115,000

Silver�City�Tank 160,000

Total�Storage 1,475,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 1,475,000 1,475,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 668,128 �394,592

Total�Capacity�(Daily)
2,143,128 1,080,408

Fire�Storage 432,000 1,711,128 0 1,080,408
Operating�Storage 197,296 1,513,832 0 1,080,408
Emergency�Storage 147,972 1,365,860 0 1,080,408

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source

Comstock�Ex�Only

No.�Connections
Demands�(gpm)

<��12"�transmission�main�from�I�580�to�top�of�siphon

Table�1.��Comstock�System�Buildout�Conditions



Storey�County�Storage�Calculations�(Gold�Hill�System)
Water�Resource�Plan

Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 51 8 17 33
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout 710 213 426 852

Totals 761 221 443 885

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)
Supply�from�VC 875

Total�Supply 875
Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 1,500 2 180,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�

Capacity�(gal)
Divide�Tank 115,000

Total�Storage 115,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 115,000 115,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 1,236,059 �11,971

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 1,351,059 103,029
Fire�Storage 180,000 1,171,059 180,000 �76,971
Operating�Storage 11,971 1,159,088 11,971 �88,941

No.�
Connections

Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Gold�Hill�System�Existing�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source



Emergency�Storage 8,978 1,150,110 8,978 �97,919

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 115,000 115,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 622,667 �318,667

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 737,667 �203,667
Fire�Storage 180,000 557,667 180,000 �383,667
Operating�Storage 318,667 239,000 318,667 �702,333
Emergency�Storage 239,000 0 239,000 �941,333

*Tank�Values,�Pump�Capacity,�and�Unit�Demands�taken�from�Storey�County�Water�System�Master�Plan

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source
Table�2.��Gold�Hill�System�Buildout�Conditions



Storey�County�Storage�Calculations�(Silver�City�System)
Water�Resource�Plan

Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 86 14 28 56
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout 220 66 132 264

Totals 306 80 160 320

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)
Supply�from�GH 314

Total�Supply 314
Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 1,500 2 180,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�

Capacity�(gal)
Silver�City�Tank 160,000

Total�Storage 160,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 160,000 160,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 411,788 �20,186

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 571,788 139,814
Fire�Storage 180,000 391,788 180,000 �40,186
Operating�Storage 20,186 371,602 20,186 �60,372

No.�
Connections

Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Silver�City�System�Existing�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source



Emergency�Storage 15,139 356,463 15,139 �75,511

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 160,000 160,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 221,675 �115,243

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 381,675 44,757
Fire�Storage 180,000 201,675 180,000 �135,243
Operating�Storage 115,243 86,432 115,243 �250,485
Emergency�Storage 86,432 0 86,432 �336,917

*Tank�Values,�Pump�Capacity,�and�Unit�Demands�taken�from�Storey�County�Water�System�Master�Plan

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source
Table�2.��Silver�City�System�Buildout�Conditions



Storey�County�Storage�Calculations�(Virginia�City�System)
Water�Resource�Plan

Sizing�Analysis�Scenarios
1.��MDD�+�Fire�Flow�with�all�supply�facilities�operational

a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

2.��ADD�+�Fire�Flow�with�largest�supply�out�of�service
a.��Operating�Storage�=�100%�of�Average�Day�Demand
b.��Emergency�Storage�=�75%�Operating�Storage

Demand�Data

ADD MDD PHD
Existing�Demands 666 109 217 434
Additional�Demands�at�Buildout 768 230 461 922

Totals 1,434 339 678 1,356

Supply�Data

Source
Production�

Capacity�(gpm)
Marlette�Water�System 738

Total�Supply 738
Total�w/�largest�well�out�of�service 0

Fire�Flow�Demand

Demand Flow�(gpm) Duration�(hr) Volume�(gal)

Fire�Flow�Demand 3,600 2 432,000

Existing�Storage�Data

Tank
Storage�

Capacity�(gal)
Hillside�Tank�#1 500,000
Hillside�Tank�#2 500,000
Taylor�Tank 200,000

Total�Storage 1,200,000

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 1,200,000 1,200,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 750,073 �156,324

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 1,950,073 1,043,676

No.�
Connections

Demands�(gpm)

Table�1.��Virginia�City�System�Existing�Conditions
MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source



Fire�Storage 432,000 1,518,073 432,000 611,676
Operating�Storage 156,324 1,361,749 156,324 455,353
Emergency�Storage 117,243 1,244,507 117,243 338,110

Storage�Type
Storage�

Requirement�
(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Storage�
Requirement�

(gal)

Storage�Balance�
(gal)

Total�Storage 1,200,000 1,200,000
Total�Supply�(Production���Demand) 86,336 �488,192

Total�Capacity�(Daily) 1,286,336 711,808
Fire�Storage 432,000 854,336 432,000 279,808
Operating�Storage 488,192 366,144 488,192 �208,384
Emergency�Storage 366,144 0 366,144 �574,528

*Tank�Values,�Pump�Capacity,�and�Unit�Demands�taken�from�Storey�County�Water�System�Master�Plan

MDD�+�Fire�w/all�sources ADD�+�Fire�w/o�largest�source
Table�2.��Virginia�City�System�Buildout�Conditions



Water Resource Plan Appendices

FINAL Storey County
January 2023

APPENDIX C 



Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/13/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 10-inch C900 PVC Water Main 1,500 LF $200.00 $300,000.00 

2 8-inch C900 PVC Water Main 4,600 LF $160.00 $736,000.00 

3 Meters and Services 53 EA $10,000.00 $530,000.00 

4 Traffic Control 1 LS $75,000.00 $75,000.00 

Subtotal: $1,641,000.00

25% Contingency: $410,250.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $410,250.00

Project Total: $2,461,500.00

Estimate by: Alex Stodtmeister

Project No. 1797

Date: 11/30/20

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 12-inch C900 PVC Water Main 2,900 LF $240.00 $696,000.00 

Subtotal: $696,000.00

25% Contingency: $174,000.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $174,000.00

Project Total: $1,044,000.00

Estimate by: Alex Stodtmeister

Project No. 1797

Date: 11/30/20

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 8-inch C900 PVC Water Main 8,200 LF $160.00 $1,312,000.00 

2 8-inch PRV 1 EA $150,000.00 $150,000.00 

Subtotal: $1,462,000.00

25% Contingency: $365,500.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $365,500.00

Project Total: $2,193,000.00

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Silver City Transmission Main

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - B St. & Union St. Water Mains

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Hillside to Divide Transmission

1
7/16/2021



Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/14/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 12-inch Transmission Main 25,700 LF $240.00 $6,168,000.00 

2 6" Air Release Valve Assembly 10 EA $14,000.00 $140,000.00

Subtotal: $6,308,000.00

25% Contingency: $1,577,000.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $1,577,000.00

Project Total: $9,462,000.00

Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/14/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 0.3 MGD Capacity Upgrade 1 LS $1,450,000.00 $1,450,000.00 

Subtotal: $1,450,000.00

25% Contingency: $362,500.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $362,500.00

Project Total: $2,175,000.00

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - WTP Capacity Upgrade (Comstock Buildout Only | 1.5 MGD capacity)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Parallel Siphon (Comstock Buildout Only | 1,086 gpm capacity)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

1
7/16/2021



Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/28/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 12-inch Transmission Main - Storey County ROW 25,700 LF $240.00 $6,170,000.00 

2 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - Storey County ROW 10 EA $14,000.00 $140,000.00 

3 12-inch Transmission Main - MWS ROW 16,100 LF $240.00 $3,870,000.00 

4 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - MWS ROW 0 EA $14,000.00 $0.00 

Subtotal: $10,180,000.00

25% Contingency: $2,545,000.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $2,545,000.00

Project Total: $15,270,000.00

Storey Co. Total: $9,465,000.00

Marlette Water System Total: $5,805,000.00

Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/14/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 1.0 MGD Capacity Upgrade 1 LS $4,830,000.00 $4,830,000.00 

Subtotal: $4,830,000.00

25% Contingency: $1,207,500.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $1,207,500.00

Project Total: $7,245,000.00

Estimate by: Alex Stodtmeister

Project No. 1797

Date: 11/30/20

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 12-inch Transmission Main 3,100 LF $160.00 $496,000.00 

2 750,000-Gallon Storage Tank 1 EA $1,620,000.00 $1,620,000.00 

3 Land Acquisition and Easements 1 LS $200,000.00 $200,000.00 

Subtotal: $2,316,000.00

25% Contingency: $579,000.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $579,000.00

Project Total: $3,474,000.00

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - WTP Capacity Upgrade (Comstock + American Flat Buildout | 2.2 MGD capacity)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - American Flat Infrastructure

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Replace Siphon (Comstock + AF Buildout | 1,500 gpm capacity)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

1
7/16/2021



Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 05/20/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 12-inch Transmission Main - Storey County ROW 25,700 LF $240.00 $6,170,000.00 

2 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - Storey County ROW 10 EA $14,000.00 $140,000.00 

3 12-inch Transmission Main - MWS ROW 16,100 LF $240.00 $3,870,000.00 

4 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - MWS ROW 0 EA $14,000.00 $0.00 

Subtotal: $10,180,000.00

0.614832536 25% Contingency: $2,545,000.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $2,545,000.00

Project Total: $15,270,000.00

Storey Co. Total: $9,465,000.00

Marlette Water System Total: $5,805,000.00

Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 05/20/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 1.0 MGD Capacity Upgrade 1 LS $4,830,000.00 $4,830,000.00 

Subtotal: $4,830,000.00

25% Contingency: $1,207,500.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $1,207,500.00

Project Total: $7,245,000.00

Estimate by: Alex Stodtmeister

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/28/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 12-inch Transmission Main 27,500 LF $240.00 $6,600,000.00 

2 8-inch Distribution Main 46,000 LF $160.00 $7,360,000.00 

3 Pressure Sustaining Valve 1 EA $150,000.00 $150,000.00 

4 Meters and Services 333 EA $10,000.00 $3,330,000.00 

5 500,000-Gallon Storage Tank 1 EA $1,080,000.00 $1,080,000.00 

6 Land Acquisition and Easements 1 LS $200,000.00 $200,000.00 

Subtotal: $18,720,000.00

25% Contingency: $4,680,000.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $4,680,000.00

Project Total: $28,080,000.00

Transmission Only Total: $11,945,000.00

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Opinion of Cost - Mark Twain Water System (Ex. Residents Only)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Replace Siphon (Comstock + Mark Twain Buildout Only | 1,550 gpm capacity)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - WTP Capacity Upgrade (Comstock + Mark Twain Ex. Residents | 2.2 MGD capacity)

1
7/16/2021



Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 07/14/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 14-inch Transmission Main - Storey County ROW 25,700 LF $280.00 $7,200,000.00 

2 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - Storey County ROW 10 EA $14,000.00 $140,000.00 

3 14-inch Transmission Main - MWS ROW 16,100 LF $280.00 $4,510,000.00 

4 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - MWS ROW 0 EA $14,000.00 $0.00 

Subtotal: $11,850,000.00

25% Contingency: $2,962,500.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $2,962,500.00

Project Total: $17,775,000.00

Storey Co. Total: $11,010,000.00

Marlette Water System Total: $6,765,000.00

Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 07/14/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 1.6 MGD Capacity Upgrade 1 LS $7,720,000.00 $7,720,000.00 

Subtotal: $7,720,000.00

25% Contingency: $1,930,000.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $1,930,000.00

Project Total: $11,580,000.00

Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 11/10/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 10-inch Transmission Main 20,500 LF $200.00 $4,100,000.00 

2 8-inch Distribution Main 100,000 LF $160.00 $16,000,000.00 

3 10-inch Distribution Main 51,600 LF $200.00 $10,319,904.00 

4 8-inch PRV 14 EA $150,000.00 $2,100,000.00 

5 10-inch PRV 10 EA $175,000.00 $1,750,000.00 

6 Meters and Services 588 EA $10,000.00 $5,880,000.00 

7 120 hp Booster Pump Station 1 EA $4,600,000.00 $4,600,000.00 

8 650,000-Gallon Storage Tank 1 EA $1,400,000.00 $1,400,000.00 

9 Land Acquisition and Easements 1 LS $200,000.00 $200,000.00 

Subtotal: $46,349,904.00

25% Contingency: $11,587,476.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $11,587,476.00

Project Total: $69,524,856.00

Transmission Only Total: $15,350,000.00

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Highlands Buildout Infrastructure

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Replace Siphon (Comstock + Highlands Buildout Only | 2,000 gpm capacity)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - WTP Capacity Upgrade (Comstock + Highlands Ex. Residents | 2.8 MGD capacity)

1
11/22/2021



Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/28/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 16-inch Transmission Main - Storey County ROW 25,700 LF $330.00 $8,490,000.00 

2 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - Storey County ROW 10 EA $14,000.00 $140,000.00 

3 16-inch Transmission Main - MWS ROW 16,100 LF $330.00 $5,320,000.00 

4 6" Air Release Valve Assembly - MWS ROW 0 EA $14,000.00 $0.00 

Subtotal: $13,950,000.00

25% Contingency: $3,487,500.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $3,487,500.00

Project Total: $20,925,000.00

Storey Co. Total: $12,945,000.00

Marlette Water System Total: $7,980,000.00

Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 04/28/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 2.0 MGD Capacity Upgrade 1 LS $9,650,000.00 $9,650,000.00 

Subtotal: $9,650,000.00

25% Contingency: $2,412,500.00

25% Engineering & Inspection: $2,412,500.00

Project Total: $14,475,000.00

Estimate by: Lucas Tipton

Project No. 1797

Date: 11/10/21

QC Check by:

Date:

BID SCHEDULE - BASE BID
Bid Item Description Quantity Unit Unit Cost Total Cost

1 10-inch Transmission Main 20,500 LF $240.00 $4,920,000.00 

2 8-inch Distribution Main 150,000 LF $160.00 $24,000,000.00 

3 10-inch Distribution Main 51,600 LF $240.00 $12,383,884.80 

4 8-inch PRV 14 EA $150,000.00 $2,100,000.00 

5 10-inch PRV 10 EA $200,000.00 $2,000,000.00 

6 Meters and Services 1,195 EA $10,000.00 $11,950,000.00 

7 220 hp Booster Pump Station 1 EA $5,400,000.00 $5,400,000.00 

8 650,000-Gallon Storage Tank 1 EA $1,400,000.00 $1,400,000.00 

9 350,000-Gallon Storage Tank 1 EA $800,000.00 $800,000.00 

10 Land Acquisition and Easements 1 LS $200,000.00 $200,000.00 

Subtotal: $65,153,884.80

25% Contingency: $16,288,471.20

25% Engineering & Inspection: $16,288,471.20

Project Total: $97,730,827.20

Transmission Only Total: $18,980,000.00

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Highlands Buildout Infrastructure

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - Replace Siphon (Comstock + Highlands Buildout Only | 2,250 gpm capacity)

Storey County
Water Resource Plan

Project Alternative Cost Estimate - WTP Capacity Upgrade (Comstock + Highlands Buildout Only | 3.2 MGD capacity)

1
11/22/2021



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 30 min.

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: Consideration and possible approval of amendment to rental agreement with Nova
Geotechnical and Inspection Service Northern Nevada, LLC (Nova) for the purpose of
performing geological, geotechnical, environmental (Phase I and Phase II), engineering
and related due diligence studies, analyses, surveys and activities on the site of the
Gooseberry Mine. The amendment is to extend the current rental agreement by
approximately an additional 195 days.

• Recommended motion: I (commissioner), move to approve the amendment of the rental
agreement between the Storey County Treasurer and Nova for a site evaluation at the
location of the Gooseberry mine for approximately an additional period of 195 days and
authorize the Storey County Treasurer to sign.

• Prepared by: Austin Osborne

Department:     Contact Number: 7758470968

• Staff Summary: The Storey County Treasurer presently holds in trust for the State and
County the land on which the Gooseberry Mine is located for the nonpayment of taxes by
Pallas Resources, the previous owner of the site. Pallas Resources declared bankruptcy
and ultimately dissolved.

• NRS 361.605 provides as follows:
• NRS 361.605 Rental of property held in trust; application of rents. While property is held

in trust as provided in this chapter, the county treasurer, or his or her successor in office,
may collect any rents arising from the property during the time the property is subject to
redemption. After the time of redemption has expired, until the property is sold, the
county treasurer, or his or her successor in office, may rent the property, with the
approval of the board of county commissioners, for a price to be fixed in its minutes. The
rents must be paid out by the county treasurer, or his or her successor in office, for
payments of any taxes, penalties, interests and costs already assessed and afterward
accruing upon the property.

• Nova is requested and was granted access to the land for the purpose of doing an
assessment of the condition of the site on behalf of its client with an eye towards a
possible purchase of the site by its client for a rental amount of $1,400.00.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

      28



• Fiscal Impact:

• Legal review required: TRUE

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued



DRAFT

AMENDMENT #2 TO RENTAL AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT #2 (“Amendment #2”) is made effective as of this ____ day of 
___________________, 2023 (“Amendment Effective Date”), by and between JIM HINDLE, TREASURER 
OF STOREY COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA, AS TRUSTEE (“Storey County”), and Nova Geotechnical 
and Inspection Service Northern Nevada, LLC (“Licensee”).

RECITALS

A. On or about December 16, 2022, Storey County and Licensee entered into that certain Rental
Agreement (the “Agreement”).

B. Storey County and Licensee desire to amend the terms and conditions of the Agreement as set
forth herein, while leaving all other aspects of the Agreement unchanged.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the 
parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Term.  The Parties hereby amend and restate Section 2 of the Agreement in its entirety as follows:

“Licensee’s right to use the Property shall commence on the Effective Date and
shall continue for five hundred and sixty (560) calendar days following the
Effective Date, unless sooner terminated pursuant to this Agreement (the “Rental
Period”). If Licensee fails to cease operations upon termination or expiration of
this Agreement, Storey County shall be entitled to injunctive relief and the cost
of obtaining such relief, including attorneys’ fees, shall be paid by Licensee, and
such possession shall not constitute a renewal or extension of the Rental Period.”

2. No Other Changes.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Amendment #2 shall have the
meanings ascribed to them in the Agreement.  Except as expressly set forth in this Amendment #2 to the contrary, 
the Agreement shall in all other respects remain unchanged and in full force and effect.



A-2 Rental Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Storey County and Licensee have executed this Amendment #2 as of the 
Amendment Effective Date.

STOREY COUNTY:

JIM HINDLE, TREASURER OF STOREY 
COUNTY, STATE OF NEVADA

By:
Name:
Its:

Notice address:

____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________

Nova Geotechnical and Inspection Service Northern 
Nevada, LLC:

By:
Name:
Its:

Notice address:

____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________
____________________________________



Board of Storey County Commissioners
Agenda Action Report

Meeting date: 12/5/2023 10:00 AM - 
BOCC Meeting

Estimate of Time Required: 0-5

Agenda Item Type: Discussion/Possible Action

• Title: For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings:
• A. Gray Construction Inc.  – Contractor / 10 Quality St. ~ Lexington, KY
• B. JJ’s Chuckwagon LLC – Food Truck / 1005 Ruby Avenue ~ Silver Springs, NV
• C. The Bug Guy Pest Control – 1706 Harvest Creek Way ~ Fernley, NV
• D. XVIIsions Productions – Home Based – 29 S. B St #3 ~ Virginia City, NV

• Recommended motion: Approval.

• Prepared by: Ashley Mead

Department:     Contact Number: 775-847-0966

• Staff Summary: Second readings of submitted business license applications are
normally approved unless, for various reasons, requested to be continued to the next
meeting. A follow-up letter noting those to be continued or approved will be submitted
prior to the Commission Meeting. The business licenses are then printed and mailed to
the new business license holder.

• Supporting Materials: See attached

• Fiscal Impact: None

• Legal review required: False

• Reviewed by:

____  Department Head Department Name:

____  County Manager Other Agency Review: 

• Board Action:

[ ] Approved [ ] Approved with Modification
[ ] Denied [ ] Continued

     29



Storey County Community Development 

110 Toll Road ~ Gold Hill Divide (775) 847-0966  ~  Fax (775) 847-0935
P O Box 526  ~  Virginia City NV 89440 CommunityDevelopment@storeycounty.org 

To: Jim Hindle, Clerk’s office November 27, 2023 

Austin Osborne, County Manager Via Email 

Fr: Ashley Mead 

Please add the following item(s) to the December 05, 2023 COMMISSIONERS Consent Agenda: 

SECOND READINGS: 

A. Gray Construction Inc.  – Contractor / 10 Quality St. ~ Lexington, KY

B. JJ’s Chuckwagon LLC – Food Truck / 1005 Ruby Avenue ~ Silver Springs, NV

C. The Bug Guy Pest Control – 1706 Harvest Creek Way ~ Fernley, NV

D. XVIIsions Productions – Home Based – 29 S. B St #3 ~ Virginia City, NV

Ec: Community Development Planning Department Sheriff’s Office 

       Commissioner’s Office Comptroller’s Office  


	Consideration and possible approval of the agenda for the December 5, 2023, meeting.
	Consideration and possible approval of the minutes from the September 19, 2023, meeting.
	Business License First Readings -- Approval
	Approval of claims in the amount of $4,958,759.95.
	Consideration and possible approval of Resolution No. 23-715 recognizing and commending a Storey County employee who has served 15 - 20 years of service to the county.
	Presentation of commendation to Fire Captain Daniel St. Clair, Firefighter Derek Giurlani, Firefighter Michael Leland, and Firefighter Jonathon Petersen for their actions on August 13th, 2023.
	Presentation, consideration and possible action to adopt the Area Drainage Master Plan for Virginia City and Six Mile Canyon.  A presentation of the plan will be provided by Lumos and Associates, in conjunction with JE Fuller and the Carson
	Public Hearing for the Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on public zoning distr
	Second Reading of Bill 136, Ordinance 23-324, an ordinance amending provisions of Storey County Code Title 17 to allow for changeable copy or variable message signs to be installed on public zoning district land and providing
	Public Hearing on proposed Resolutions 23-707, and 23-708 and 23-709 as described: RESOLUTION 23-707, which proposes identification of Old Stagecoach; Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 segments; commonly known as Old Stageco
	Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-707, which proposes identification of  Storey County Road Number 920390 (2 Segments), commonly known as Old Stagecoach (Segment 1), road segment length 5,793 feet (1.1 Miles
	Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-708 which proposes the identification of Storey County Road Number 910405, commonly known as Unnamed, road segment length 9,668 feet (1.83 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed
	Consideration and possible adoption of Resolution 23-709 which proposes the identification of Storey County Road Number 910395, commonly known as Unnamed, road segment length 1,541 feet (0.29 Miles), Overall Average Disturbed
	Report of the Public Works Department regarding roads and highways in Storey County.
	For consideration and possible approval of the First reading for On-Sale/Off-Sale Liquor License. Applicant is Carol Maley, Silverland Inn & Suites located at 100 North E Street, Virginia City, NV 89440.
	Review and possible approval of second reading of Bill No. 137, Ordinance No. 23.325, an ordinance amending Storey County Code Chapter 2 Administration and Personnel, Section 2.22.060 Qualifications of Appraisers, to revise Subsection 2.22.060(F) allowing
	Consideration of letter of interest for the Appointment of a board member to the Board of Directors of the Carson Water Subconservancy District representing Storey County to serve a four year term, expiring December 31, 2027, with possible re-appointment
	Consideration and possible approval to adopt the 2023 Storey County Water Resources Plan for south and central Storey County including Comstock (Virginia City, Gold Hill, Silver City, and American Flat), Highlands, and Mark Twain. This item is being consi
	Consideration and possible approval of amendment to rental agreement with Nova Geotechnical and Inspection Service Northern Nevada, LLC (Nova) for the purpose of performing geological, geotechnical, environmental (Phase I and Phase II), engineering and re
	For consideration and possible approval of business license second readings.



